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Thursday, July 5, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting today on the matter of an application by Upper Canada Transmission Inc. operating at NextBridge Infrastructure.  NextBridge applied under section 92 of the OEB Act for leave to construct a 230 kV transmission line running between Wawa and Thunder Bay, referred to as the East-West Tie line.  The application was filed on July 31st, 2017 subsequent to NextBridge being designated by the OEB in August 2013 to complete the development work for the East-West Tie line.  The OEB file number for NextBridge leave-to-construct application is EB-2017-0182.

The OEB has scheduled this oral hearing to review NextBridge development costs related to the East-West Tie line project.  The scope of the hearing will be the prudence of NextBridge development costs up to the date of filing its leave-to-construct application on July 31st, 2017.

My name is Christine Long, and I will be presiding today.  Along with me are my fellow Board members, Michael Janigan and Allison Duff.

May I please have appearances.
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Good morning.  Fred Cass for NextBridge.  With me is Brian Murphy, who is an attorney with NextEra.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for Hydro One Networks Inc.

MS. LONG:  Good morning, Mr. Warren.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Garner for Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition, or VECC.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Good morning.  Etienne Esquega, counsel to Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishnaabek.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Esquega.

MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, Panel.  Lawren Murray, counsel to OEB Staff, and with me from OEB Staff I have Zora Crnojacki, Michael Lesychyn, and Salah Lavaee.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.

Before we begin are there any preliminary matters?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I have one preliminary matter that actually leads into the evidence.  I could address it after the witnesses have been affirmed or I could address it now.  It's a correction, actually, that we noticed as we were preparing for today.  So --


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Why don't we swear your witnesses first and then we'll deal with it.  If you would like to introduce your panel.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  So the witness panel starting with the witness closest to me, he is Aziz Brott, who is project engineering lead with NextEra.  Next to Mr. Brott is Dan Mayers.  He is director, transmission, engineering, and construction with NextEra.  Then we have Jennifer Tidmarsh, who is project director for NextBridge infrastructure.  Beside Jennifer is Becky Walding.  She is senior director, business management with NextEra.  And finally, Erin Whillans, who is a lands and right-of-way specialist with Enbridge.  They're all are ready to be affirmed, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
NEXTBRIDGE - PANEL 1

Aziz Brott,

Dan Mayers,
Jennifer Tidmarsh,
Becky Walding,

Erin Whillans; Affirmed

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, the correction that I alluded to relates to the response to Undertaking JT1.1.  At page 2 of that response there is a fairly large table, and as I mentioned, in preparing for today there were two things that were noticed.  First, if we could see the top of the table just so we can see the column headings.  There is a column heading about four columns in, monthly project cost.  One can drop down that column, and around line 24 there's a number for July 2015 of something over 8 million dollars.  It's my understanding that that number should be less by about 3 million dollars.  So that's one correction that needs to be made.

Second, I believe this table was calculated on the basis of an average monthly balance, and it should have been an opening balance, and that's a second correction that needs to be made.  So if we could see the bottom of the table; yes, thank you.


So about the fifth column in from the right-hand side is the total calculation of carrying costs in the deferral account that are included in development costs.  That's about 854,000.  So that number will actually come down slightly, approximately 80,000 dollars.  It's going to be a smaller number.  Now, we're getting this redone as quickly as we can, and we'll provide it as soon as it's been redone.  Again, we just noticed this in preparation.  The number will be smaller.  It's a relatively slight change in the scheme of things, but I thought it was important to get that on the record before the witnesses actually adopt the evidence.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  So having said that, I'll turn now to examination-in-chief, including the adoption of the evidence.

Ms. Tidmarsh, if I could direct the questions to you for the adoption of the evidence on behalf of the panel.  Can you confirm that the evidence in this proceeding with respect to development costs, including answers to interrogatories and technical-conference evidence, was prepared by or under the direction and control of the members of your panel?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can confirm.

MR. CASS:  And subject to the correction that I just talked about and that will be filed as soon as possible, can you confirm that the evidence is accurate to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can confirm.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you.  And do you adopt that evidence on behalf of the panel as the evidence on development costs for this proceeding?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

So with that, Madam Chair, there's a short examination-in-chief that I will proceed into if that's acceptable.

MS. LONG:  Yes, please do.

MR. CASS:  Ms. Tidmarsh, back to you then.  Can you please explain what the development costs are?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Cass.  So the development costs in this proceeding are the costs that NextBridge has conferred -- I'm sorry, incurred in developing the East-West Tie project beginning in August of 2013 and up until our date of filing our leave to construct in July of 2017.  And so for clarity, what's not included are any of the costs that were incurred prior to our designation, so any of the hours -- I believe it was about one and a half million dollars' worth of costs that were put into the actual designation filing -- those are not included.  And then any costs after July 2017, our filing on the 31st, are included in our construction costs.  And then if we are actually awarded a leave to construct, any of the operations and maintenance costs are also not included in our development costs.

MR. CASS:  And has NextBridge provided a breakdown of the development costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we have.  So if I could have the Panel turn to on the screen here our leave-to-construct application, so it would be Exhibit B, tab 9, schedule 1, page 5.  You can see in Table 4 that we had our development costs at designation were at 22.398, and for the rest of this hearing I'll be calling it 22.4.  And then our current costs that were filed at our leave-to-construct application in July of 2017 is forty-two-ten, and I'll be calling it 40.2 million dollars.

MR. CASS:  The amount of 22.4 million dollars that you referred to, how was that determined?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Certainly.  So in the Phase 2 decision -- let's just bring that up -- on August 7th of 2013 the Board had determined that NextBridge's budget for the development phase supported reasonable costs for the development of the East-West Tie line, was 22.4 million.  So specifically on page 41 of the order, found at the top, NextBridge's budget development costs, you can see here is 22.1 -- so that's in 2012 dollars -- was found to be reasonable, and we were to establish a deferral account under UCT to record those costs.

MR. CASS:  Can you provide a breakdown of the 22.4 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can.  So the original -- in the designation proceeding, there is what's called IR 26 had categorize in which we broke down the designation costs.  We've done this again using the same categories when we gave our additional evidence, or updated evidence on March 14th of 2018 of this year.  It's in Exhibit B, tab 16 schedule 1, attachment 11 -- further down in attachment 11.  Right here.

So we've used the same categories that we used in Staff IR during our designation, and we also included -- this is our breakdown of our budgeting, or our costs.  So the first column here were the Board-approved costs that were part of our designation in 2013.  There's another column that talks about an incremental costs, and I'll be speaking to that later.

Then what we actually expended during the development period is in column B, and our total development cost spend is those two columns at the end.  And you can see that in the bottom right-hand corner, that amounts to 40.2 million dollars.

MR. CASS:  What is the status of the 22.4 million dollars insofar as prudence is concerned?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely.  So NextBridge's position that it was clear in the Board's decision, Phase 2 decision -- which we'll pull up now -- that the 22.4 was approved.  You can see on page 30 and 31, the Board concluded that -- I'll just wait one second.  Right there.  By designating one of the applicants, the Board will be approving the development costs up to the budgeted amount for recovery.  It also talked about the recovery being conditioned.

So on -- I won't go to it, but on page 4, the Board discussed that the development cost recovery could be rescinded if the designated transmitter had failed to meet any of the performance milestones, or any of the reporting requirements.

Also in this order here, you can see on page 42 -- we won't go there, at 42 and 43, it set forth the reporting requirements and the framework for the milestones.

MR. CASS:  And has NextBridge met the performance milestones and reporting requirements?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, NextBridge has met the performance milestones and the reporting requirements.  So in our January 25th response for undertaking -- sorry for interrogatories, SEC number 2, all our monthly and quarterly reports were brought into this proceeding, and you can see that they're included.

Also any of the -- those reports explain the process of meeting the milestones at the back of each of those reports.  And then you can also see in JT1.7 from our technical conference, that if we scroll down, you can see that we actually here record all of the milestones that we've completed and their associated costs.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  What are the additional development costs that you've spoken of?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So during our course of our development of the East-West Tie and on September 30 of 2014, the Ontario Power Authority, which is now the IESO, had sent a letter to the Board stating that the in-service date for the project would be moved from early 2018 to late 2020.

A follow-up letter was sent by -- at the OEB's direction for an October 29 of 2014, recognizing the move of the in-service date from early 2018 to late 2020.  So this letter also can requested that NextBridge work with the OPA to develop -- to put together a revised development schedule.

And then again on January 22 of 2015, NextBridge was asked to consider the impact on development costs for extending this in-service date.  So NextBridge on May 15, 2015, based on this extension, re-budgeted the project and determined that it would need an additional 20.3 million dollars to reach in-service date, to reach our filing of leave to construct for the development phase.

So if we could go to the Board's November 19, 2015, order, page 1 of 3, the decision that the Board had given was that the Board reiterated that the Phase 2 order for the 22.4 million dollars in development cost was approved to be recoverable from ratepayers.

It also explained that the expectation that the leave to construct would have been filed in early 2015.  So on page 6 of this order, you can see there's an overview of the additional extended development period.  We talk -- you can see the extension; we broke down the extension costs, the budgets, variance scope, phase shift and contingency costs.

So this development, the extra 20.3 million dollars, was developed by our project team and all the individual team leads.  These were asked to use specific project experience to come up with the 20.3 and this number was put -- was put forward in our May 15th filing.

So also you can see on this November 2019 -- sorry, the November 19, 2015 order.  On page 6, the Board explained that the extended development period costs were not the same as the 22.4 million dollars in Board-approved costs, and there would be a recovery of the extended development period and would be subject to a prudence review.  It did, however, approve our schedule and our milestones that we had put forward.

And so this -- if we go back to Exhibit B, tab 16 schedule 1, attachment 11, that column I referred to before that had the 2015, these are the incremental costs.  You can see the incremental costs are to the right of column A.  So those are the numbers that we put forward and they amount to again, as I mentioned, 20.3 million dollars.

MR. CASS:  What did NextBridge do as a result of the OPA's recommendation that the in-service date be extended to 2020?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in the fall of 2014, after the letter from the OPA was given to the OEB and to NextBridge, NextBridge began to -- NextBridge had actually been on track to file its leave to construct in January of 2015, as well as its environmental assessment in January '15.  However, with that letter, we the -- pardon me.  With the OPA's letter and the delay of the in-service date, NextBridge slowed down its spending considerably in order to conserve the funding that was allotted to it of 22.4 million dollars.

MR. CASS:  How did this impact the 22.4 million dollars of development costs originally approved by the Board?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You can see here, again in this same -- in the same exhibit, but on the next page, there's a graph thank you that talks about -- that shows the spending and how the spending began to drop after the letter was received by OPA.

MR. CASS:  When does the 22.4 million dollars of original development cost end, and when does the additional amount of development cost begin?

MS. TIDMARSH:   So as we were tracking towards spending the 22.4 million dollars, you can see in our updated reports that in the fall of 2016, NextBridge completed the spending of the 22.4 million dollars.  So that is a full 18 months passed when NextBridge had originally planned to file its leave to construct.

So at that point in time is where we believe that the 22.4 ended and the new development spend began.  And so there's significant evidence in our project -- about our project management controls that we use to extend the 22.4 over that period of time.  The original development phase had only been 18 months, and the new development phase was over 50 months, an extension of 35 months.  And so the additional costs that we are asking for are 13.3 million dollars above the 22.4.

And we can see this in the additional evidence tab, Exhibit B-16, schedule 1, pages 7 to 11.  Again, I won't walk through them, but it shows the amount of work that we had done, and all the activities that were done passed the -- from the fall of 2016 to the 2017 filing.

MR. CASS:  What are the categories of costs associated with the 13.3 million dollars that you've just referred to?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll go back to my favourite exhibit, so that again is our additional evidence, Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 11.  So you can see the list of the categories and the summation of the 13.333, so 13.3 million dollars is there.

So during our -- during all of our interrogatories and our undertakings and from our technical conference you can see evidence on the associated work products that we have done in our extended development time frame.  So for example -- I won't go there as well, but in our additional evidence we talk about our transmission design work and how we extended that out and completed that during the extended development phase as well.

MR. CASS:  The exhibit that we're looking at here has a line specifically for contingency.  Why is contingency specifically referred to there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so in our May 15th, 2015 filing NextBridge on page 12 discusses our contingency.  And originally our contingency amount had just been for our environmental -- sorry, our engineering and construction group.  So we added an additional half million dollars in our contingency to include not only our engineering and construction but the entire project as a whole.

So you can see here -- and I'll just read it out: NextBridge has not limited contingency -- sorry, Stephanie, scooch up a bit.  Thank you.

"NextBridge has not limited contingency to engineering and design.  Contingency will be allocated to each work stream as required by circumstances during the balance of the development period."

And so we, for the purposes of the extended development period, NextBridge was actually under budget from what we had budgeted in our May 15th, 2015 filing.  However, from a cost recovery standpoint NextBridge views the 1.5 million dollars in contingency as approved -- that was approved designation -- has actually been expended.

MR. CASS:  Now, you've pointed out the difference between the 13.3 million dollars of additional costs that were in the budgeted category and as well the costs that were in the unbudgeted category, and, yes, we can see it on the exhibit that's now on the screen.

Can you please explain why the unbudgeted development costs are appropriate for recovery?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So there are four categories here for unbudgeted costs.  You can see them below the line of the 13.3.  And so they are also described in Staff IR number 22 as well.  We've talked about those as well.  So the four recoveries are carrying costs, IDC.  So we also speak of Aboriginal land acquisition, Aboriginal participation, and the Pic River appeal costs.

And so I can speak about the carrying costs.  So in our designation application NextBridge proposed a cash return instead of IDC CWIP.  So NextBridge stated it would be open to accrued IDC in lieu of receiving a cash return on CWIP, and it was preferable to the -- if it was preferable to the OEB, and the OEB included in the direction the accounting order.

So while the carrying charges were disclosed they were not included in the designation amount in keeping with the proposed cash return on CWIP.  So that's why we did not include them.  They are in the unbudgeted amount.

As for Aboriginal First Nations and Métis participation and First Nations and Métis land acquisition, NextBridge has stated in its designation that the list of 18 communities that were given to it as part of the duty to consult by the Crown, that it wanted to have conversations and consult with these communities first before it could figure out the extent at which communities were looking for economic participation in the line.  And so without having these conversations first NextBridge decided that it was an unbudgeted cost at this time.

And then I will turn to the Pic River appeal costs, so the -- as you know, Pic River, now Biigtigong Nishnaabeg, appealed the decision for the designation, and so during that time NextBridge incurred costs that related to appealing, to that appeal.  It was -- eventually it was closed on -- in April 2014.  So no costs were incurred after that date.

MR. CASS:  What did NextBridge do to apply cost management controls to the 13.3 million dollars of extended development period costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, I will turn to our Undertaking JT1.10.  We also discuss it in Staff 23 and then also in our additional evidence.

So we discuss -- in this undertaking we discuss all of the work in part 3 that the team has done during the development phase, including our variance analyses.  You can see those.  They're attached in some of the Board decks that we talk about that.

We also discuss how we work on other projects in our respective organizations, and so there is no full-time employees.  We have -- partner companies have their own cost management processes, so Enbridge, NextEra, and OMERS, each one of those has cost management, so triple-checking on all of our cost management is what happens.

And everything -- all the time expenses and invoices flow through myself and are recorded in our project management group, and they're checked, and we have biweekly meetings with the team leads, and most of these are all articulated here.  Again, I won't go through them all.

MR. CASS:  Was there anything different about the extended development period as compared to the original period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, as I mentioned earlier, the -- in the original development period that began in 2013 and was to end in January of 2015 with the filing of the leave to construct was interrupted by the extension of the in-service date.  And so as NextBridge was progressing towards those, that goal of filing its leave to construct and its environmental assessment, it then had to do a start-stop recalibrate and slow down.

And so that's one of the things that usually in project management you have a beginning and end.  We had -- you've seen the graph -- a little bit of a stop-start, more of a roller coaster, when it comes to the project development phase.

And so one of the things that we -- some of the things that we did during that time to slow down is we began to slow down our field studies.  We slowed down our -- some of our work in having land agents in the field.  We slowed down discussions with communities, although in some cases we deemed it critical to continue with those conversations, and so again, all of that was done, but still NextBridge was able to ramp up all those activities again and to meet its 2020 in-service date.

MS. DUFF:  I just have one question --

MR. CASS:  Yes, certainly --

MS. DUFF:  -- given how critical attachment 11 is, rather than update all of your evidence, if you could update that one page, given the change in carrying cost --

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- I think that would be efficient --

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  -- not an undertaking.  I think it's just part of your evidence.

MR. CASS:  Yes, we'll do that as quickly as possible.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  And that completes the examination-in-chief of the panel, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Just before we move on to cross I would like to ask Ms. Tidmarsh a question.  The exhibit that you've been referring to quite frequently, I'm wondering if we can get that up.  I would just like to understand how -- I guess there's ten categories of costs there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  I would like to understand how that maps back to the four categories of costs in the November 2015 decision, if it does in any way.  I mean, those -- I was on that decision, so I guess I'm familiar with that.  So the four categories were extension costs, budget variance, scope change costs, phase shifts cost, and contingency, which seems to be a direct mapping.  But for those other ones, do they -- have you categorized them still in those headings?  Are you able to do that for me, what you would consider each one to be as it relates to that decision, or is that not accurate any longer?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That exercise was done for the 2015 filing to show how we -- the incremental costs, the extended development period costs.

However, since going forward, we've then -- we haven't bucketed those costs the same way.  We've had a stream of development since then, and so we can no longer really put them into those types of buckets.  They weren't categorized that way, or they weren't -- sorry, tracked that way.  They were tracked in this format towards IR 26.

MS. LONG:  And why were they tracked that way?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They were tracked that way just so that -- so that for this actual hearing, so that we could be able to compare from designation to our eventual completion of the development phase, so that we can compare those two together.

Under each one of these headings, you'll see activities in there.  So we could pull out activities, for example, the review of the environmental assessment, or field studies, or for example, First Nations Métis consultation, we can pull out things like capacity funding agreements, how much was spent.

So we can pull those types of items out, but they were tracked in this way, the same way we were doing them in our reports.

MS. LONG:  I'm sure others will ask you questions. I mean, obviously I'm interested in scope change and I'm interested in variance costs, which I guess was the second budget, budget variance scope change cost number 2 in the original -- in the 2015 decision.

But I'll leave it to others.  I just wondered if there was an easy answer, and there never is.  So that's fine.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps, before we get going, we can just mark -- I believe Ms. Duff wanted an undertaking to provide an updated attachment 11.

 So I'll just mark that as an undertaking, just so it's complete, so that will be JD1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JD1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED ATTACHMENT 11


MS. LONG:  Yes, let's mark it so we don't lose it.

MR. MURRAY:  And with that ...

MS. LONG:  With that, I believe you're first up to bat, Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much.

MS. WALDING:  I would just like to add real quickly that that was the accounting -- these categories were established from the accounting order that we received from the Board.  So that's the way that we tracked it is what we received from the Board in those categories.

MS. LONG:  My question was not to say that it wasn't tracked properly.  It was if you did a mapping back to which one of those categories fell under the four that, I guess, we had contemplated in the November 2015 decision, whether that was easy to do.  And I'm hearing it's not, so thanks.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Good morning, panel.  Once again my name is Lawren Murray, and I am counsel to OEB Staff.  I see a lot of familiar faces from the technical conference.

We're handing out a copy of a compendium I'm going to use when asking questions this morning.  I was hoping that could be marked as an exhibit, Exhibit KD1.1.  It essentially includes kind of answers to undertakings, excerpts from the technical conference, a copy of the designation decision, and the November decision that's already been referred to.  But I think for our discussion here today, it would be helpful to have it all in one place.
EXHIBIT NO. KD1.1:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


In terms of my discussion, I would like to start today back in 2011, and make sure I have kind of the foundation principles right.

As I understand it, back in 2011 the OEB commenced a designation process to select ultimately a transmitter to complete the designation work for the East-West Tie line project; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The development work, yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  My understanding is it there were six parties that applied to receive that designation, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check, yes, I believe so.

MR. MURRAY:  And the OEB developed a common set of criteria for all six to be judged based upon, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  From my understanding, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And one of those criteria was costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And part of that cost including development costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And as part of that process, NextBridge proposed development costs, or budgeted development costs of 22.4 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  If memory serves me correct, it actually received top marks on its cost proposal.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe so, subject to check.

MR. MURRAY:  So the development costs that you proposed in that, that was part of the reason you were ultimately selected as the designated proponent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I would assume so, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  You talked about this earlier, but moving forward a year, so in September 2015, the OPA recommended a delay of the in-service date from 2018 to 2020; that's right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And as a result of that, NextBridge took steps to kind of change the way it implemented costs.  It started to slow down certain cost kind of criteria where possible?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And as a result of this, some of the environmental field studies that you proposed you actually delayed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And also you kind of put on hold your leave-to-construct application at an early stage?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can ask us then to fast forward to January 2015, and for this if I can ask you to go to the compendium, and to tab 1 of the compendium, this is a copy of the report that NextBridge filed in January 2015.  So this is right around the 18-month mark, when you were originally supposed to file your leave-to-construct application.

I wanted to go here because I think this provides a somewhat effective snapshot of where costs were at this point in time.

If you can ask you to turn to the table found at page 6, if I understand this correctly, these were the actual --at least the actual so they were filed from actual -- those reflect the actual costs that NextBridge had incurred in the various categories as of January 2015?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look, for example, at permitting and licensing, or other consultation, or at project management, you're already over budget, correct?  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  If you also look at two other categories, environmental and regulatory approvals, 95.8 percent and regulatory 93.4 percent, you're pretty much at the budget for those matters, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And that's even without having done those extra field studies and without essentially most of the work with the leave-to-construct application.  Is that accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's accurate.

MR. MURRAY:  So would it be fair to say that even if this application had been filed on time at the 18-month period, you would have been likely over-budget on these five categories of costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think that I understand your line of questioning and where we are on the budget.  I believe in those categories, we may have in fact been over budget.

However, in the budget envelope of the 22.4 million dollars, you can see as we track into the bottom line, there's -- we haven't yet spent that amount of money because we were slowing things down.  And some of the activities that we were doing in those other categories were stopped and were no longer continued as we started in the fall of 2014.

MR. MURRAY:  But in those five categories, you would have been over-budget.  Is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  According to this, correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So it would be fair to say -- and I've seen an undertaking where -- I forget which undertaking it is, but there was one undertaking which attributed all 13 million dollars of the increase to the delay.

But it's fair to say that even if there hadn't been a delay, there would have been an increase in cost above potentially the 22 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I don't believe that's correct.  I believe that NextBridge was continuing towards its milestones and its schedule to file -- to finish its leave to construct and some environmental assessment in January of 2015.

And so we managed the budget as a whole, based on the milestones and the things we needed to do for designation.  So line by line, I agree with your analysis.  However, on a budget as a whole, I don't believe -- but again, I cannot speculate where we would have been considering the letter that we received to move the in-service date in 2014 -- the letter received in 2014 to move the in-service date.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps now we can move on to the spring of 2015.  And you have referenced the letter earlier, but my understanding is in May of 2015, NextBridge wrote to the Board and provided an updated schedule and kind of costs associated with that schedule.  Is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  schedule and milestones?  We did, correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  And that schedule and milestones was revised further in June, after it became clear that NextBridge's preference to go through the Pukaskwa National Park was not feasible.  And so in June 2015, you then filed a further revised version of those milestones and costs.  Is that accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  What I would like to do now is take you to that letter from June, which is found as tab 2 of Staff's compendium.

And so if you see this line, NextBridge sets out its revised budget it was seeking.  And this includes what's been talked about earlier, the 20.3 million dollars in additional development costs above and above the 22.4 million dollars.


Just to confirm that, 20.3 million dollars, that was not based upon leave to construct in July 2017, was it?  I believe it was based upon kind of the work to be done to a later date?


MS. TIDMARSH:  It was based on a December 2017 leave-to-construct application.  So NextBridge actually delivered its leave-to-construct application sooner than had originally put into these milestones.


MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  And I would like to focus on -- dealing with this letter, I'd like to focus on the information that's set out at schedule C.  My understanding is schedule C, what you do is it sets out sort of the four buckets of categories you were talking about earlier that have -- that make up the 20.4 million dollar increase.


And just to take a step back, I want to make sure I understand this correctly.  I believe the chart at schedule C, so tabs 1 through 19, sort of set out the additional costs that NextBridge associates with the actual delay.  So the actual costs are incremental costs that it thinks are going to arise as a result of the delay.  That's what's recorded in tabs 1 to 19.  Is that -- do I have that right?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I'm trying to find in your -- in tabs or as part of the 2015 -- so not your tabs but the actual evidence here?  The schedules here?  So pages 1 through 8 of revised schedule C?


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.


MS. TIDMARSH:  In the order?


MR. MURRAY:  And so I'm looking at, like, tabs 1 through 19, which talk about -- most of them talk about extended development period.  I think these are essentially project delay costs; is that -- do I have that right?


MS. TIDMARSH:  I think just the wording in what was printed does not match the tabs.  I think -- we've got revised schedule C of the 2015, pages 1 through 8.  Is that what you're looking for in there, in landscape?


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, it's in the landscape.  So we're looking at revised schedule C, pages 1 through 8.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's what I'm saying, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.


MR. MURRAY:  We're talking about the same thing.  So, like, items 1 through 19 appear to, at least by my understanding, they relate to what's called essentially project delay, costs which you associate with the extension of the in-service-day period?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And tabs 20 through 24 relate to what NextBridge considers to be scope changes.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And tabs 25 to 40 relate to additional activities that were contemplated in the development phase, but these relate to categories that were actually considered and budgeted for in the 22.4 million dollars, so these aren't necessarily new things, they're just exceedances, essentially, of other, earlier costs that were budgeted?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, according to the explanations that are on the far right, the -- why the budget was -- was -- there was a budget variance.  You're correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And then the last two items, items 41 and 22, relate to activities that I understand were originally contemplated in the construction phase but that are now being brought forward to the designation phase?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And I believe we've argued this on record earlier, but just to confirm, items 1 through 42, these aren't actual amounts spent, these are just estimates.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, this is the budget that we had put together when -- in January of 2015 when the OEB had asked us if we were going to expend more than the 22.4 over the extended development period, the extra 35 months, and so NextBridge put together this budget of 20.3.


MR. MURRAY:  And I gather there is nowhere in the evidence that actually records what was actually spent on each of these 42 categories?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So we can -- under each one of the disciplines that you can see in my favourite attachment 11, each one of those has the activities underneath it, and so -- however, they're not bucketed into scope change, budget variance, the way they're bucketed here.


MR. MURRAY:  And is it possible for NextBridge to do that or has that ship sailed in terms of the accounting?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So the way that NextBridge records its costs are again by discipline under an -- as an activity basis.  And so in some cases you could see that there would be costs that span over a few different work streams.
So --just one moment.


So for example, in the first one, the May 2015 submission and review submission costs, those are more than one discipline.  So those are -- those would be under land.  They also reviewed it, engineering and construction, environmental.  That's possible -- that's over multi-disciplines that are -- and not as a single bucketed item.


MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess the question I have is, for example, like, let's take the example of indigenous costs related to consultation and perhaps legal fees.  Is there a way to isolate how much was spent during -- of the original 22.4 million and how much was spent in the additional 20 million?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's possible.


MR. MURRAY:  So is it possible to actually get -- if you can do that are you able to --


MS. TIDMARSH:  We could potentially go in and parse out some of these buckets.  However, I would need to, as I review them -- I believe that's possible to do.


MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess the concern I have, and we'll talk about it in a minute, is my reading of the November 2015 decision is the Board was essentially saying the costs in the original 22.4 million dollars and the costs in the additional 20 million may not be treated the same in terms of the evidence and may be different.  And so to the extent we can't kind of untangle those two sets of costs, it may be -- it may have an impact on the Board, its ability to kind of assess the costs if you can't kind of separate those two buckets, so to speak.


MS. TIDMARSH:  To assess the prudency then really of the 13.3 million dollars that we talk about in -- from additional on the 22.4.  So I guess then what you're asking for is that 13.3 million dollars in addition to the 22.4, could we then break that down into categories similar to what we did in the May 2015 filing.


MR. MURRAY:  I guess, taking a step back, maybe we'll get to this further in my questions.  But is there a way to kind of -- items 1 to 42, you have an estimated cost.  Is there some way to actually say how much each of these costs at the end?  And I'll take you through a few examples later, but the concern I have is, it seems that the estimate in a number of cases is far different from the reality where I can isolate it, and so, for example, you may have estimated a certain cost, but for the numbers I can isolate in the evidence it appears that the actual amount spent was -- varies greatly from the estimate.


So is it possible to, for those 42 items, to accurately reflect how much was actually spent during the development period on each one of those?


MS. TIDMARSH:  We can take an undertaking to determine if it's possible to put those into -- to take the 13.3 additional incremental costs above the 22.4 and parse them out into the same categories that were done in the May 2015, if that's what you're asking for --


MR. MURRAY:  Well, it's not -- I'm not focusing on 13.3.  Right now I'm focusing on what I call the 20.  So there's the 20 million in this June letter where you break it out into 20.  That 20 million, what I would like to know is how much was actually -- where the 13 million fit within that 20 million.  So how -- for example, item 42, you spent -- the budget was 460,000.  Was 400,000 spent, was 350,000 spent, the actual amount for each one of these 42 items.  Is it possible for NextBridge to tell us how much for each one of these 42 items was spent?


MS. TIDMARSH:  We will go back and look and do -- try to map from this to what was spent.  I believe it's possible, but again, I would need to check.


MR. MURRAY:  So that will be an undertaking.  JD1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. JD1.2:  TO MAP ACTUAL SPENT FOR EACH OF THE 42 ITEMS LISTED.


MR. MURRAY:  So I would like to start by focusing on items 1 through 19, which I understand to be kind of like the project delay costs.  And if I understand correctly, the total amount you had attributed to this was 8.8 million, so the total for 1 through 19 is 8.8 million.  Do I have that right?


MS. TIDMARSH:  You do, yes.


MR. MURRAY:  And once again, these are estimated amounts, and these are also incremental amounts, so these aren't the total -- for example, number 3, when you talk about Aboriginal capacity funding expenditures, 1.26 million, that's not total, that's incremental above and beyond what would have been spent in the first 18 months?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  As I mentioned earlier, the concern I have is that it appears in a number of places that these don't accurately reflect the actual number, and I would like to give you an example.

If you can turn to numbers 14 and 15, item 14 is the preparation of revised EWT project schedule and budget, and 15 is essentially submitting the same for regulatory approval.  And if you a add those two numbers up, 14 and 15, the total is approximately 1.2 million dollars, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  I must confess that when I saw the number, I saw 1.2 million dollars to do a revised budget and submit it for approval, that struck me as a little high, so I did a little bit more digging.

And if you can ask you to pull up the additional evidence that's found at tab 5 of my compendium, and in particular attachment 7, and I'm going to focus in particular on category activity 5, so the bottom one.

On left-hand side, it says project delay.  And under project delay, for description --


MS. TIDMARSH:  If you could go a little slower, the tabs are hard to read.  So we're on tab 5?

MR. MURRAY:  Tab 5, so this is the additional evidence.  And if you go to attachment 7 and look to the bottom, item 5, project delay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Under the description, the first bullet you have -- that appears is:  "Internal time to undertake rescheduling and re-budgeting activity in preparing and support proposals for regulatory approvals."


So that sounds like what's described in items 14 and 15.  Do I have that right?  Does that sound...


MS. TIDMARSH:  Not completely.  I think I mentioned before those activities are multi-disciplinary.  So you're looking at attachment 7, which is only for regulatory, the regulatory team.  Those are activities undertaken by the regulatory team.

However, to re-do the schedule and the budget, it was multi-disciplinary approach.  So environment would also have to have reviewed the budget and the schedule.  So would First Nations and Métis consultation, all the other disciplines, project management.

So this was only -- this regulatory piece is only one part of that budget.

MR. MURRAY:  Would it be fair to say the regulatory piece was probably the largest piece, because it was involved in kind of all the other disciplines?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't say without looking through the other tabs and adding all those sections up.  But I think that to redo the schedule is also quite a large -- would also be a large piece when it came to engineering and construction and environment.  So they would need to ensure the development schedule and all the things that needed to get done to meet a 2020 in-service date, they would have to do a lot of rescheduling for that, very precise.  Same with environment, to ensure that we did all the permitting and the field studies in order to get our environmental assessment.

So those would be large amounts as well, but I haven't had time to go through and pull out each one of those.  But I wouldn't say regulatory would be the highest.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there any reason to believe that those other additional incremental costs would be over 800,000 dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Without review, I don't know.

MR. MURRAY:  So it would be fair to say we have no idea how much was spent on re-budgeting and submitting that for approval?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do; it's in actually each one of those attachments.  So the one you were looking at was for regulatory.  You can see that there is also, in attachment 5, First Nations and Métis consultation.  On line number 5 there, project delay.  Again, it's the same category, the same activities, but that's what the First Nations and Métis consultation group spent on it.

So we could add up all of those number 5s for each one of the disciplines, and you could correlate that with the amount you mentioned earlier.

MR. MURRAY:  That brings me to my next point.  When we a talk about project delay in these charts, can you tell me exactly what costs are recorded in the project delay item in the various charts here?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You can see again, A and B, it would be internal time.  So it's a re-budgeting and rescheduling effort, and then -- each one of them is different for each of the disciplines.  So again, I'm just looking at the First Nations and Métis consultation section.  And so one of the activities, for example, would be of the 18 communities that were identified as to be consulted with, those communities were informed about the project delay.

There was meetings, there was discussions about how the project was progressing, and so internal time and time with those communities is booked into this.

MR. MURRAY:  Going back to the original budget or estimate for these project delays was 8.8 million, and I notice there's a number of project delays in kind of these charts.

If we were to add up all those numbers, is that the actual amounts that were spent by NextBridge related to the project delay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  So the 8.8 million, if we go back to what you mentioned before, I think you had said the 1 million dollars in project delay costs about them, you were trying to find -- to dig into the one point -- if we can go back to it in the 2015, the project delay section -- I believe it was in your other tab.

So you were asking -- so line item numbers 1 through 19 is 8.8 million dollars.  From what I understand, you were asking about items number 14 and 15.  And together, I believe you mentioned the cost of that would have been 1.2 million dollars.  And so these items here, these two items, are what then rolls up to when we go back to the other one, that project delay number 5 line item for each one of those disciplines.

So these project delay costs wouldn't add up to 8.8 million dollars.  They would probably -- again, I have not added them up, they would probably come up to the close to the 1.2 million dollars that you identified in that earlier section on pages 14, or the two line items of 14 and 15.

MR. MURRAY:  So if I understand correctly, what you're saying is that the project delay kind of line item, and the additional evidence that's been filed where that appears in the various charts, that only accounts for items 14 and 15 in the June 2015 letter?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those two -- so from these individual budgets, yes.  So when I mentioned before about trying to pull out the categories about budget variance, and scope change and project delay, those items, these cumulatively come up to the 13.3.  But those line items you're talking about, the booking of time for project delay, relate to items 14 and 15 in the 2015 filing.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess the question I have -- if we can turn to attachment 6, which is other consultation, if you look at, like for example, project delay there, if you look at line item D, it talks about additional stakeholder engagement which would perhaps include open houses and other things, it strikes me as going beyond just 14 and 15 and preparing additional reports.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So no, it was additional stakeholder engagement by monitoring on comments due to the delay.  So when the project was delayed, NextBridge thought it was important and prudent to go out and speak to landowners and communities about the project delay and what was happening with the project and the update.  So that was specifically related to the delay from the OPA's push back of the date.

MR. MURRAY:  But wouldn't those costs -- if we can go back to the June -- I know we're getting a little bit in the weeds here, but I want to make sure I understand correctly.

If we can go back to the June schedule, schedule C in June, and look at item -- I believe it's item 2 or item 3, there's a discussion of additional open houses.  Is that something once again different, or is that...


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's different.  So those open houses during the extended development phase, the extra 35 months, NextBridge thought it was important to not go radio silent over the extended development period of 35 months, and thought it was important during that time to add another round of open houses.

So those were the large open houses were the multi-time members and those were in each -- they were in communities from Thunder Bay to Wawa, so those were a large undertaking.  That's why we added an additional round of open houses there.

MR. MURRAY:  But that's not included in the additional stakeholder engagement in the project delay?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Back to then, to schedule 6, the part about project delay, no, that was additional engagement and monitoring.  That's not the open houses.  That was the discussions that we had again, sending letters and newsletters and updates specifically about project delay.

MR. WARREN:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I apologize.  I'm having a very hard time following the references to tabs and to schedules.  I don't know whether the witness is referring to tabs in Mr. Murray's compendium or schedules or tabs in your evidence.  I wonder if there is a way we can find a uniform set of references so that we can follow what's being referred to.  I may be the only one in the room who can't do it, but I'm having a difficult time following exchanges.

MS. LONG:  I think you were referring to the compendium.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am, so I'm using --


MS. LONG:  So --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- the compendium that Mr. Murray had provided.  And so we are going back and forth between the 2015 filing that NextBridge had put in about the extended development phase.  Both of these tabs are landscape, not portrait.  And so in the extended development phase Mr. Murray was talking about the project extension, for example, open houses.  That would be something that would be under other consultation.

And so when you flip forward to our additional evidence and you can see in other consultation, Mr. Murray was asking if the project delay, the stakeholder engagement there was the same as the extra open houses, and I was saying that it was not, that the project delay costs were something specifically related to informing stakeholders about the project delay as opposed to an additional round of open houses that we did during the extended development phase.

MS. LONG:  So perhaps to the extent that you're going to speak to anything outside of what's in this compendium you can just highlight it for us and we will assume that if you're talking about a tab or a schedule you're talking about Mr. Murray's compendium.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That --


MS. LONG:  And Mr. Warren, if you have any questions, let us know.

MS. DUFF:  I can make one suggestion.  The heading of the column is activity, right --


MS. LONG:  Right.

MS. DUFF:  -- so actually, I think it started with Mr. Murray calling them tabs.  So these are activities, and I think the word "activity" is common to both the additional evidence filed on March 2018, and "activity" is also the word used to describe 1 to 42 in the June 24th, 2015.  So -


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  -- let's go forward with that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, activity.

MR. MURRAY:  In terms of the items 1 to 19 would you agree with me that in some circumstances the amounts -- or the estimates there don't necessarily reflect what's been spent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in project extension section, so items 1 through -- activities, items 1 through 19 -- I'm sorry, you're asking if it's not reflective of what was actually spent --


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, can we agree that in some cases they won't accurately reflect -- the activity in the estimated cost won't necessarily accurately reflect what was actually spent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So this was a budget that was put together for the extra 20.3 million dollars over the extended period.  And so the activities in here are things that NextBridge did, and we can map a budget to -- map the actuals to the -- we said we would try and match the budget to the actuals, but I don't think I agree with you that they wouldn't match up.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps if I can ask you then to focus on activity 5, the Aboriginal Advisory Board.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Okay.  The Aboriginal Advisory Board.

MR. MURRAY:  Where the extended development period incremental cost is 90,000 dollars.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, which line item activity number is this?

MR. MURRAY:  Activity 5.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's in -- yes.

MR. MURRAY:  90,000 dollars, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to then turn to the -- and I don't have the reference right away, but if we could then turn to compendium tab 5, and then attachment -- attachment 5.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And I would like to focus on activity number 4 --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  -- where it says Aboriginal Advisory Board.  And it indicates that the total, so not just for the extended period, but the total for the entire 48 months was only 14,800 dollars.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So you would agree with me that the 90,000 dollar incremental estimate does not accurately reflect the amount that was actually spent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Because it was an estimate for a budget on what we thought we would spend, and what was actually spent was much less than that, and so I would agree that those two line items don't add up.

I can explain the Aboriginal Advisory Board --


MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess I --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- why they don't line up.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess -- I have a number of these -- I don't want to get bogged down on them, but I -- the Aboriginal Advisory Board isn't the only number I have.  There's other numbers within this first 19.  I don't want to take up all the time by going through them, but it seems like a number of these numbers don't line up.  So the Aboriginal Advisory Board is one.  The capacity funding one.  Item 3 is another -- the PBR, item 6 --


MS. LONG:  One at a time, please.  One at a time.

MR. CASS:  I'm not sure if we're at cross-purposes or what is happening here.  There was a budget presented.  It's clear that the actual costs on an aggregate basis are less than the budget.  So one can't take the budget numbers individually and line them up.  The actual spending was less than budget overall, so --


MS. LONG:  Well, I think Mr. --


MR. CASS:  -- when he talks about lining them up
I'm -- we're not sure whether -- is he talking about lining up activities?  Ms. Tidmarsh has addressed that, but lining up the numbers, it's comparing a budget to an actual.  They're not going to be the same.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess the concern I have, and the question I meant to put to Ms. Tidmarsh earlier, and maybe -- perhaps I misphrased it, is I was just asking her to confirm that the 1 through 19 items are estimates, and in many cases they may not actually reflect what has been spent.  And my understanding is Ms. Tidmarsh didn't agree with that statement.

All I'm essentially saying is that these 1 through 19 and the estimates can't be relied upon for what was actually spent in these numbers.  That's what I want to establish, and if we're in agreement on that then I can move forward.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm in agreement that a budget and an actual wouldn't line up, and so in some cases you mentioned they're under, in some cases they're over.  But the actual amount that was -- that NextBridge is putting forward for recovery is actually under budget of what we had mentioned -- what we had put forward in May of 2015, and so what we're doing is spending less than that.

MS. LONG:  Well, let's be clear.  The amount that was put forward as a budget in 2015 was not approved.  So we need to know what these costs are.  And I think what you have agreed to do is undertake to provide us with what the actual was -- spent as compared to what the budget amount is.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the actual -- yes, agreed --


MS. LONG:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- yes --


MS. LONG:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- the actuals spent are in our March 2018, but I think we're trying to say to map to extended development, scope change, those different categories, so that's what we have taken an undertaking for.  But the actuals of what was actually spent in each line item is in our -- in the attachments of our March 2014 filings.  So those are our actuals.

MS. LONG:  So Mr. Murray, are you moving on?

MR. MURRAY:  I'm moving -- I'm moving -- I'm moving forward slowly.  I'm moving forward to item 21, and I just have a few questions about this item.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize again, Madam Chair.  I thought --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry.

MR. WARREN:  -- there was an undertaking which you asked for, Madam Chair, which was to map the four categories in the Board's decision to the categories in the exhibit that's just been referred to, the 1 through 19 or 1 through 42.  That's one.  But I thought that my friend Mr. Murray had asked for a second undertaking, which was to look at the budget items on items 1 through 42 and give us the actuals in each of those categories.  Have I --


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, I would like the actual -- what you actually spent in each one -- you said you estimated a certain amount.  I would like to -- if it's possible, I think it would be helpful for the Board if you could identify for each of those 42 categories what you actually spent during the development period.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So mapping those to our actuals that came in our March 2018 filing, changing --


MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess the issue with March 2018 filing is you give the global 40 million dollar amount, but we can't identify how much of that is related to this extended period.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  So NextBridge talks about activities -- so maybe if I can try a different tack here.  NextBridge talks about the 22.4 million dollars and how we expended that over the entire development until the fall of 2016.  So from the fall of 2016 to July of 2017 is incremental above the 22.4 million dollars, so that's the 13.3 million dollars.

And so NextBridge has tracked those costs, and you can say that some of the large pieces in there, what we were doing during that incremental -- that incremental time would have been our draft environmental assessment review we submitted putting together our environmental assessment, again our leave to construct and putting together all of our leave to construct time as well, our RFP -- sorry, Mr. Murray, am I...


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, no.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our RFP for our engineering and construction group were also during that time as well.  So if we're looking for the activities that we did above the 22.4, I can talk about the activities that we did when we finally reached the end of the 22.4 million until we filed our leave to construct in July of 2017.

MR. MURRAY:  I don't want to further complicate things, but I think the -- unless the undertaking earlier wasn't clear, I think we'll just stick with the undertaking which is for all those 42 line items, you included an amount an estimated you would spend.  It would be helpful, I think, for the Board to actually know how much was actually spent on each of those categories ultimately.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And we've taken that undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  So I think that's helpful and I think we can move forward.

If we can move forward and talk a little bit about item 21, which is 2.2 million dollars for incremental field studies -- sorry, item 21.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We were talking about 2015 our 2015 filing under tab 2, item number 21, on page 4 of 8.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, activity 21.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We're there, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  My understanding is there was 2.2 million dollars spent here.  And during the technical conference, you were asked to provide some further details and I would like to take you to that.  And the answer to that is JT1.23, which is found at tab 3 of the compendium.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I'm there.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to focus on the first of the 4 or the 5 of costs, the 1.4 million dollars.  Was this additional work -- was this additional work requested or required by the Ministry of the Environment?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, I just wanted to review it.  So yes, this was incremental because of the new route around Pukaskwa Park.  And so when NextBridge had finally confirmed with Parks Canada it was not allowed to go through Pukaskwa Park, it went around Pukaskwa Park and had to do geotechnical -- another geotechnical program for the route around there, as well as field studies for that new route.

They also had to do land optioning as well for around the route -- around the park.

MR. MURRAY:  I think we're at the same place.  So the 1.4 million was required for the EA, these had to be done?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It had to be done because the environmental assessment was for a route that went around Pukaskwa Park, so the environmental assessment needed to include that amount.

MR. MURRAY:  In terms of the original 3.6 million dollars budget for EA work, did it contemplate going through the park or around the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  By the original budget, do you mean in the 2013 designation?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, the 3.6 million dollars that was originally set aside for environmental assessment work.  Did that contemplate going through the park, or around the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It would have contemplated going through the park.

MR. MURRAY:  Would there have been a cost associated with going through the park that you were no longer required to undertake, given that you were now going around the park?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, could you rephrase that?

MR. MURRAY:  If you're going through the park, I assume you would have had to do studies on that part through the park.  You would have had to do some studies, some field work in order to satisfy the EA with respect to that area, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  So there would have been a cost associated with those?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And those costs would have been embedded in the 3.6 million dollar original budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And so has that been netted out of the additional 2.2 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, so this is additional to that.  The route that would go through the park, what NextBridge did in 2014 just for context -- so in 2014, NextBridge went to Parks Canada with a proposal to go through Pukaskwa Park.  And that proposal was to take the existing right of way, the existing corridor that was there and to expand it, to try to keep as close to linear infrastructure that was there as possible and to go through the park.

So that was a shorter span than going around the park.  So when we were unable to go around the park, this route went around the park and there were -- we did keep to linear infrastructure.  However, it's a longer route.  We've mentioned before it's an extra 40 or so kilometres to go around the park, and it was through greenfield, an area that had not yet been studied.  So it was incremental to going through the park.

MR. MURRAY:  If we can move on to talk about -- I would like to go back once again to compendium tab 2, the schedule C, activity 26, the archeological stage two study.  As I understand, the budget variance is 1.27 million.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you describe briefly why there was an increase of 1.2 million dollars for this?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can.  So the increase for the archeological study, so in consultation and in working with Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport, who is in charge archeological studies, we did a phase one.  It's called Arche 1, an archeological 1 study, which is a desktop study, to determine potential for doing Phase 2 archeological work.  So that desktop study and in conversations with MTCS, as well as also Aboriginal communities in the area, and the MNRF had asked to us do a more thorough review stage two.  It also included more than just the route.  It included more access roads potential that NextBridge would be working, lay down areas, et cetera.

So the scope of the archeological 2 assessment was increased based on conversations with Aboriginal communities, with MTCS, and with MNRF.

MR. MURRAY:  So if I understand correctly, stage two was always going to happen; it just cost more because the scope expanded?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And the 1.27, that's the incremental cost above and beyond what was already anticipated?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  I know there's an undertaking, there's the global undertaking to provide an actual number in terms of what was actually spent on items 1 through 42 and with respect to this, I have one further question and that relates to when -- could you perhaps, either now or by undertaking when you get that number, advise as to how much of that archeological study was done during the development period?

And the reason why I ask that is because I believe in one of the undertakings to Hydro One, there was an indication that this work took place between June and September 2017, or most of it did.  So it appears that some of these costs may have been inside the period and some of the costs may be outside the period.

So when -- either in that undertaking or as additional undertaking when you provide the number in terms of development cost expended for the archeological work, if you can identify exactly how much was done up to July 2017?

MS. TIDMARSH:  If I could, this again -- the activities here are budgeted.  So this 1.7 million dollars -- sorry 1.27 million dollars was a budget.  So we had assumed that our archeological work would be -- as part of this budget, would be finished before our putting in our leave-to-construct application in July 2017.

So the archeological work, you're correct, did continue post July 2017; in fact, actually some of it is still being done now.  But that is now part of our construction costs.

So the archeological work and if I can turn you to -- I believe we actually itemized that in our March 2018, if I could turn -- if you could just give me a moment -- to our environment work here.

So it would be part of our work that we did in our environmental and regulatory approvals work, but again --here we go.  So in tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 3, page 1 of 2 in your compendium -- sorry, in your compendium tab 3 and it's our 2018 updated.  The actual filing is Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 3, page 1 of 2.  And the environmental surveys and studies is the second category here, and you can see that it includes work, archeological assessment, stage 1, 2, and 3.  And so it includes all the work that happened during the development phase before the filing of our July 2017 leave to construct, so that includes all that work, and the archeological 1, 2, and 3 studies are part of that work.

MR. MURRAY:  Just going back, I guess the question I have is just, when you provide the actual amount that was spent on the archeological stage 2 study, if you could -- either that undertaking or as a separate undertaking -- advise as to how much of that was actually done during the period.  I appreciate you have this global number in terms of that, but when you provide the amount in terms of this item in the undertaking response if you could just confirm whether or not that's within the period or outside?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So just for clarity then, so the undertaking would be the calculation of the archeological work that has taken place up until the filing of the July 2017 leave to construct and then any archeological work on stage 2 that happened post-July 2017?

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps I'll rephrase.  So NextBridge is going to provide an undertaking for those 1 -- item -- for activities 1 through 42 about the actual amount that was spent on each of those.  And one of those items, item 26, is the stage 2 archeological study.  And so either when you provide the answer to that undertaking or separately if you could advise as to how much of that stage 2 work was done during this period that we're considering right now, because my understanding is some of that work was done in the construction period, and I don't want that --


MS. TIDMARSH:  And it wouldn't --


MR. MURRAY:  -- mixed in.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Or we -- I can -- we will make that clear --


MR. MURRAY:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- but everything that happened after July -- the filing of our leave to construct in July 2017 is in the construction phase, and everything is in the development phase before that, and so none of that would be included in this budget.  We will make that clear.

MS. LONG:  Well, in the budget and in the undertaking that you're providing as to what was spent.  So you're asking about one category, Mr. Murray.  But what I'm hearing the witness say is that none of those categories will contain any costs that go beyond the date of the filing of the leave-to-construct application.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sure.

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I think that alleviates any problem or concern there.

If we can then once again go back to the June 2015 letter, revised schedule C, activity 34, which is land access and optioning activities.  This is page 6 of 8.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I've got that.

MR. MURRAY:  The total cost is 1.14 million dollars.  And I was wondering if you could provide -- I've read the explanation and the description, and I'm still at a bit of a loss.  Can you expand or perhaps clarify exactly what the money was spent on?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So first I'll clarify that this was a budget for 1.4 million dollars for land access and optioning.  So this is the budget page.  If we're discussing what was actually spent, that would be in our March 2018.  I will pass it over to Erin Whillans, my colleague, to discuss what the land optioning activity entails.

But if we were to go to the actual costs that were spent, that would be in your tab -- tab 4 --


MS. LONG:  Sorry, are you asking what money was spent or are you asking for an explanation as to what this category includes?

MR. MURRAY:  I'm asking for an explanation as to -- there was an estimate of spending 1.14 million dollars on these activities.  I'm not clear as to what these activities were intended to be.

MS. LONG:  So you're asking for more of a description of what --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  -- activities are, as opposed to the costs that were spent.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We can do that.  I'll pass that over to Erin.  So -- but just for clarity, you mentioned what the money was spent on, and that was the budget that you were talking about.  So Erin, if you could continue.

MS. WHILLANS:  Yes, just give me a moment here.

So just to provide some clarity on what the land access arrangement and agreements would be, so where it says, where the specific route for acquisition cannot be confirmed early in the development phase, so this would be where multiple consents and access would have been required to be able to develop and review the route refinements that were undertaken during this time, in consultation with the communities and engaging landowners and being able to review all those different alternatives and able to assess and come to a definitive route refinement.

So in order to undertake that, multiple consents and agreements would have been signed for areas where optioning wasn't necessarily undertaken.

Does that help to clarify?

MR. MURRAY:  So do I have it correctly that these were amounts that were essentially paid to certain landowners to do surveying but ultimately didn't become part of the route; is that right?

MS. WHILLANS:  Essentially.  So we would have -- I believe there were 36 routes, alternatives, that were explored during this time.  So in order to be able to come to a determination that certain routes would or would not have worked, we had to be able to definitely confirm that and go in and actually undertake the access and consents to do so.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And if I may, sorry, Erin, one of the reasons that there were so many alternate routes was at the behest of the MNRF and the MOECC.  They had asked for alternate route assessments done, and so as part of that activity not only did it affect the environmental assessment but it was also engineering construction and again land optionings as well.

MR. MURRAY:  And were these alternatives that were associated with this 1.14 million, are those related to kind of the going around or through the park, or is this for the whole 400-kilometre route?

MS. WHILLANS:  This would have been for the whole route.  So it would have been completed in consultation with the communities, and they provided feedback which ultimately determined the preferred -- or the route that was included in the leave-to-construct application.

MR. MURRAY:  Wouldn't the -- one more question.  If I have this correctly, I understand that these kind of optioning activities, they were contemplated in the original budget.  It's just, they appear to have gone over by about 1.14 million; is that right?

MS. WHILLANS:  So that would be my understanding, but when we were consulting with the communities we found that there were considerable more feedback on the routes and route alternatives than was likely originally estimated, and as a result we explored those alternatives in order to refine the route, if that makes sense.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for clarity, though, you mentioned going over 1.1 million dollars.  What we're referring to here is the budget.  So that's the budgets.  It's not actually that they would have gone over 1.1 million dollars.  When we do our undertaking we can show you the amounts that it may or may not have gone over.  And so the actuals are in our March 2018 of how much those activities cost.  And so the 1.1 over is an estimate based on the need for the alternate assessments that MNRF and MOECC asked NextBridge to do.

MR. WARREN:  Could I just -- I apologize for interjecting, but you asked a point of clarification.  In your Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 11, where you've got the actual expenditures under land rights, you've got 2.58 million dollars.  Is there any relationship between the forecast amount of 1.14 million dollars and the 2.58 million dollars?  I apologize for asking, but I'll lose sight of it in four hours' time.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.

MS. WHILLANS:  I'm sorry, could you just repeat the question?

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Murray has been directing you to activity number 34, which is the 1.14 million dollars.
When I look at your Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 11, page 1 of 11, you've got a category of the actual development costs in the incremental period, and there are two figures, 2.58 million and 3.8 million.

I'm wondering is there any relationship between those actual numbers and Mr. Murray's 1.14 million dollars.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Perhaps maybe I can clarify, since this is not about the activity itself; it's about the correlation between the 1.1.

So that 1.1 that Mr. Murray was speaking of is actually for land optioning.  This entire land category here includes more things than just land optioning.  There are other matters in there.  And as well this is -- this table shows actual costs.

So there is more than just the land optioning of the 1.1 budgeted.  This one shows actuals in the actual budget.  Budgeted is the 2.58.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that and I thank you for that.  But are the optioning costs -- whatever the real number is, the actual number is for 1.14, because that's Just the budget.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Budget, that's a budget.

MR. WARREN:  You're going to produce an actual number for that, and I'm wondering will the actual number be subsumed in the land rights number on the other exhibit?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It will.  It will be part of the 2.58.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.

MR. MURRAY:  If we can move on to item 38, I only have a couple of small questions -- sorry, activity 38 of the June letter.

The only reason I ask a question about this is I see reference in the explanation to additional security measures.  I read somewhere else in the evidence that -- well, at least I recall reading somewhere else in the evidence that after the first round of open houses, there was actually reduced security measures because, I guess, there weren't any problems.

I just didn't understand what's meant by security measures in this item in terms of additional cost or additional anticipated cost.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we budgeted in this section 358,000 dollars for all the stakeholder relations activities.  We had budgeted for security.

However, in our actuals, we used less security.  So you're correct; we did mention that we -- security was not needed as much as we thought originally.  So this 350 included more security than we needed, but we actually did not spend that.

MR. MURRAY:  Moving on to items 41 and 42, I appreciate there is an undertaking out in terms of actual cost.  But I was just wondering if there is anywhere in the evidence to date that actually explains how much was spent on items 41 and 42.

MS. TIDMARSH:  There is an undertaking.  We can be more specific in the undertaking, but the environmental assessment review and participation again would be part of the 40 million dollars that was spent; same with the incremental land optioning negotiations would be part of the 40 million dollars that was spent in the development phase.  And so because we pulled these activities into the development phase, because we thought it was prudent to do so, instead of the construction phase, that actual pull forward -- those activities will be contained as part of all the work that the land group did and the environmental assessment group did.

And in fact, for example, the environmental assessment review and participation is more than just the environmental group.  It's a multi-disciplinary undertaking, so it would also be all the rest of the team leads that provided information into the environmental assessment.  So that's where we're going to have a little bit of difficulty trying to map the two together because there were so many different people involved.

But there is an undertaking out and we will endeavour to explain.

MR. MURRAY:  In terms of item 42, you mentioned prudency and NextBridge's view it was prudent to bring those costs forward to the development phase.  Could you expand on that with respect to item 42, which is the incremental land optioning negotiations?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Definitely.  In the extensive project experience both NextEra and Enbridge have, it is much more cost effective to be able to come to an optioning agreement than it would be to come to an expropriation.

And so to continue that land work over the course of the extra 35 months in order to reach as many agreements as possible with landowners to negotiate those agreements instead of -- and trying to reduce the number of expropriations.  We believed it be prudent to continue to do that work.

MR. MAYERS:  I'd like to also add that it helps us to lock down the route, too.  As far as from an engineering construction standpoint, it's really critical for us to know exactly where it is we can and where we will be able to build this line.  So in lieu of additional cost increases, to have your route tied down is extremely important at this stage of the game.

MR. MURRAY:  Madam Chair, looking at the time, I don't know if this is a good time to break.

MS. LONG:  I think this is an appropriate time.  Let's break for 15 minutes, so we'll be back at 11:25.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:14 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:33 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  I would like to now move forward and talk a little bit about the additional evidence that was -- been filed by NextBridge in this matter.  And that additional evidence can be found at compendium tab 5.  And I would like to ask you to go to the last attachment, so attachment 11 of that document.

And I think we've seen this chart before.  This is a chart which sets out the costs that NextBridge has incurred and compared them to various cost estimates for the period.  And what I would like to do is I'd like to focus on two columns in particular:  the left-hand column, Board-approved costs, and the far right-hand column, total extended development period costs.

As I understand it, the left-hand column, the Board-approved costs, these are the amounts that were actually included in the application for designation that NextBridge filed and were the costs that they proposed as part of the designation process; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And the far right-hand-side column, total extended development period costs, are the actual costs that were incurred by NextBridge up to the end of July 2017, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And for the date of reference what I've done is I've taken those two sets of numbers and I've reproduced a chart that's found at tab 6 of Staff's compendium.  In the first column we have the amounts approved at designation.  In the second column we have the actual costs, so those are the costs that were incurred up to July 2017.  And then two additional columns.  The first column shows the variance or difference between the two and then the fourth column shows the variance expressed in percentage terms.

And if you look at this table you find that there's two categories of costs that are under budget.  There's engineering costs and there's also the interconnection studies, and those are both under budget.  Do I have that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  According to this table, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  For the record, does NextBridge take -- I don't think we're in disagreement, but does NextBridge take any issue with the numbers on this table in terms of accurately recording what's in the evidence?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have seen this table, and so we would add back in the contingency line that was removed as part of this table.  So the contingency, as I mentioned in my opening, was actually spent during the development phase.  And so that would be included.  So I believe that would change your percentage numbers.

So we also believe that, although the Board did not approve our 2015 amounts, that we were working under our own budgeting assumptions on the extra 35 months of development phase.  And so a more apt comparison would be to the budget that we were using and that we had presented to the Board, and that was in our filings, and comparing those to what we actually spent.

However, I can see that from your table those numbers are correct, and they do map to the attachment number 11.

MS. WALDING:  To further that point, that OEB-approved designation was not 20.9, as shown in the bottom of your table in column A, it was 22.4, which included the contingency.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  And I hadn't clued into this, but it came up around the discussion.  My understanding is the contingency -- is that only related to -- that was originally provided for engineering; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was originally provided for the engineering and construction discipline.  But then in 2015, in our May filing in 2015, we expanded our contingency by an extra 500,000 dollars to include all of the disciplines as part of our contingency.  And that we actually did go ahead and spend our contingency amount as part of the 22.4 million dollars that got us to the fall of 2016.

MR. MURRAY:  Did the Board approve the expansion of the contingency to include all items?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The Board costs were not approved, but as prudent project management we needed a budget to work to.  And so that's the budget that we put in front of the Board.

MR. MURRAY:  And you mentioned that in terms of the percentage terms that would change based upon the inclusion of the contingency.  That would be the total variance percentage term would change, but in terms of the individual items, in terms of, like, engineering, minus 2.75 percent, none of those numbers would change?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those numbers do actually change in a minor amount, but if you're looking to have a conversation about the items that were under budget, that doesn't actually change, and you are correct that engineering, design, and procurement was under budget and interconnection studies was also under budget from the original assessment.

MR. MURRAY:  And so if you look at the other seven category of items, excluding the contingency, it's fair to say that all of them were over budget as compared to the original designation amount?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So those numbers from the original designation amount that did not include the extra 35 months of development phase, and the change in the routing around Pukaskwa Park, those two factors would have increased the budget, as we mentioned, in 2015.  But they are over budget from what was put forth in 2013 in our designation.

MR. MURRAY:  And they're over budget by -- for all seven amounts by substantial amount by my look it seems on the low end permitting and licensing to variances an additional 80 percent and on the high end project management the variances an additional 282-1 -- 282 percent.  Do I have that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In this table, but it does not include the extenuating circumstances of an extra 35 months of development phase.

MR. MURRAY:  Are you able to provide an explanation as to why in terms of the engineering you were able to stay on budget or under budget but for the other seven categories you were not?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can, yes.  So engineering and construction phase -- or, sorry, the engineering and construction discipline, all of the other categories feed into the engineering and construction discipline.  The main function for engineering and construction is to design the lines.

And so as we ended up with an extra 35 months of development phase and more work was done to feed into the design.  So it's not like we had to tower test a different type of tower.  We were still doing those types of tower testing, but environment was supporting refining the route, as well as land was supporting refining the route, same with Aboriginal consultation.

And so engineering and construction came in under budget from what we had originally obviously budgeted in both 2013 and in 2015, but all the support functions for engineering, engineering's purpose is to come up with a route and to put out an RFP for the general contractor.  And so that's why it actually came in under budget while the other ones increased.

MR. MURRAY:  Wouldn't the same sort of issues apply, for example, regulatory, you only have to file one leave-to-construct application, so if you filed it today or you filed it 18 months from now, shouldn't the cost be the same, give or take?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The regulatory discipline actually included a lot more support work than just the filing of the leave to construct.  And I won't keep pulling everybody back and forth to tabs, but in our evidence it talks about what was also included in the regulatory budget, which includes, we did some work on privacy, there is a privacy commissioner, we had to do a discussion, there was also the GAAP accounting, we had to do filings on the GAAP accounting, there were the filings that were put together for this project delay.  So you can see there was a lot of filings that went back and forth when the project was delayed.  And so that was also included in regulatory.

MR. MURRAY:  I won't go through all of them, but just to give you one more example, environmental and regulatory approvals.  Once again this is about filing and getting a successful environmental assessment completed.  Whether it was filed today or two or three years from now, wouldn't the cost, give or take, be the same?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The environmental assessment; we actually have articulated some of the reasons for the increase in costs in the environmental assessment.  A lot of that work I mentioned -- as I mentioned before our break about the alternatives assessment, for example, and how the MOECC and the MNRF -- sorry Ministry of Environment and Climate Change and Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry had asked us to do additional work and additional field studies.

So those field studies and that work goes into the environmental assessment.  So the increase in budget for the environmental assessment was based on external factors from the regulators.

MR. MURRAY:  But for example, like the environmental assessment, it's not because of the project delay per se.  It's because essentially the work was under scoped?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Based on -- the work was scoped based on our estimate in 2013, and so as we had conversations with regulators and the increase in scope.  And I believe we articulated that in our 2015 filing as well.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we can move on to the actual schedules that we've been talking about, where you've recorded the costs.

If we can start by looking at -- well, once again, our compendium tab 5, attachment number 2.  And I appreciate these numbers aren't the largest amounts at issue, but the concern I have here is sort of a concern that stuff has throughout, in terms of the evidence.

So as I understand it, the original amount that was budgeted for permitting and licensing was $47,000.  I don't think we have to pull up the other document, but its $47,000, and the actual amount that was expended was $84,781.  Do I have those numbers right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You do, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  In order to justify or explain the $84,000 number, there's two line items on this attachment.  And the first one reads:  "External consultant services assisting permitting applications, total cost $72,027."


Can you tell us where in the evidence NextBridge has explained why these costs were needed and what exactly was done?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The permitting and licensing function, as you can guess, the 450 kilometres of line requires quite a few permits from many regulatory bodies, the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry, the Ministry of Transport, et cetera, et cetera, and a coordination function of one person to house the work to go ahead and speak to all these regulators, to keep track of all these permits.  So in fact, the $72,000 actually ended -- abruptly ended, when we ended up getting a delay notice from the OPA, we actually let the external consultant go and did not continue to pursue the coordination of all those permits as rapidly.

So as we started to ramp back up on the project, that permitting function has now been shifted into the construction phase as we've moved that forward.

So that's what those two costs relate to.  And the other one, the project delay piece, we discussed earlier about how that consultant was working with us to help redo our schedule based on their knowledge about permitting.

MR. MURRAY:  I guess to take a step back once again, NextBridge budgeted it would cost $47,000 to do these functions.  It ended up costing over $84,000.

Why did it cost more?  What does the Board have before it to establish that those incremental expenditures above what you budgeted were prudent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Could I ask the 47,000, that's in attachment 11?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes, that was the 20 -- the $47,000 comes from the 22.4 million, so it's part of the overall budget that was found to be reasonable by the Board at designation.

So that's what was originally budgeted was $47,000.  That's what NextBridge said they could do it for, but you spent more.  Where does the OEB look to find those incremental expenditures above $47,000?

Those were appropriate, those were prudent.  Where can the Board look to find that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  When we went the original designation amount of $47,000, we ended up adding an additional $30,000 dollars because of -- because of all the reroutes and the alternates that we needed to do.

And I believe, if I may have a moment, I would like to check the evidence to discuss that permitting and licensing function, if that's possible.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  But before you do that, I want to address one point.  You said it was necessary to with reroutes and that.  But the one thing I pause to say is  I believe all these costs were incurred before the determination was about whether or not to go around Pukaskwa or through Pukaskwa.  I think al these expenses were actually incurred before January 2015.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I misspoke.  Reroute in my mind is what we use internally as vernacular, the alternate assessment.  All the other alternates we needed to explore as part of the direction we received from MOECC and NNRF, this permitting coordinator went ahead and tried to correlate those permits to the alternates assessment.  And so...


MR. MURRAY:  Weren't alternative assessments, wasn't that included in the original $47,000 dollars? And if not, why not?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The alternates assessment was not part of the original $47,000.  I think when we articulated in our 2015 budget, we talked about the incremental costs in scope, the increase in scope from the NNRF and the MOECC asking us to do an alternate assessment.  So that was not part of the original $47,000.

MR. BROTT:  My colleague, Dan, alluded to it earlier, and with the land and the alternatives assessment, our original route was paralleling the existing east-west tie and we had one route.  When we had to go back through and look at all these alternatives, when you do that and open up many alternatives, you have many more landowners, you have many more studies that need to be done.  There is just a lot more work that has to go into those, which is one reason why we kept the land going, because the quicker you can come to that conclusion and get to your final route, the less of these alternatives and additional landowners and studies need to be done.

So hopefully that clarifies on the alternatives assessment and why there was more work because we had to undertake these multiple alternatives.

MR. MURRAY:  It does and doesn't.  I guess the question I have is what permits would be required?  I understand the need to perhaps consider alternatives and do field studies, right now we're talking about permits and licensing.  What permits were required in order to consider these alternatives?

MR. BROTT:  I guess one example would be if we went through the park, there's different permits to Parks Canada, whereas the reroute around the park goes through the municipality of White River than here would be if you went through the park.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you point to anything in the evidence that actually shows what different permits were required and the incremental cost of those?  Is that anywhere in the evidence?

MR. BROTT: I can't, no.  Although the alternative assessments are in the evidence.  It's IR 25.  And they are from the environmental assessment, as part of the environmental assessment.

MR. MURRAY:  Once again, I think we're getting -- I feel like the alternative, as least from the way it's been  described, fits more appropriately to put it into land rights or into environmental assessment.

But right now I'm focusing on the first line item, which is relatively small permits.  I'm not sure where the incremental expenditures would have been made, and where in the evidence we can point to to show they were prudent.  Is there anything else you can help us with in terms of pointing to actual evidence in the record to show that these were what were spent, and this is why it was prudent?


MR. BROTT:  I think my point is it takes additional work if there's more alternatives open.  So would had initially planned to do one route, which was parallel to the existing east-west tie, and ended up doing many routes which took more work and therefore more cost.

MS. TIDMARSH:  If I may -- sorry.  Just one minute.  You're asking us to look in the record, and if I may just look for one moment, and then I can explain a bit further.

So I would go back to your tab 2 and our 2015 budget estimate that we put together.  And you can see on page 4 of 8 in the revised schedule C, so you can see budget variance and scope change, and so line items -- line item number 22.  And so those -- that permitting function, that person that consulted that was doing external consultant services for the permitting and licensing function was actually supporting the incremental environmental permits that were part of this scope change budget.


And so we have said that the additional costs for permitting and acquisition, this was coordinated by this person, and that incremental environmental permits were needed because of the incremental field studies and access route assessments, the alternative assessment as well above that in line item 20.


And so this permitting coordinator helps those three, 20, 21, and 22, to support that.  And so you can see that we spent 72,000 dollars helping to support those three functions, and as I mentioned, when we received the slowdown in the project that we ended up ceasing this function.  So the amount of spend on those, the permitting and licensing, ceased, and was picked up later on in the construction phase, which is after the filing of our 2017 leave to construct.


MR. MURRAY:  But those 21, 22, and 23, are those supposed to be for activities that are going to take place in the future?  My understanding is that the activities 1 to 42 are with respect to amounts that are going to be expended at some future date; is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  No, so items 1 to 42 in the 2015 budget that we put together was a budget for the development phase.  So the development phase that ended on -- in July of 2017.  And so the permitting function -- I think perhaps the confusion is were we -- was this person actually obtaining permits?  No, they were coordinating the function of which permits were needed as we moved through the field studies, as we moved through any of our alternate assessments.  And so their function -- we did spend on them.  We are no longer spending on them.  But it was spent prior to July of 2017.  And it was to support those three activities that occurred during the development phase.


MR. MURRAY:  If we could now go on to talk about the environmental assessment and regulatory-related costs.  Now, the original estimate, as I understand, was approximately 3.6 million dollars and the actual spend was a little over 7.8 million dollars, which is more than doubling of the budget.  Do I have those numbers accurate?


MS. TIDMARSH:  From your table that talks about the original designation versus what was actually spent?  Those are the numbers --


MR. MURRAY:  Yes.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Those are the numbers, not including the extended development phase budget in the middle.


MR. MURRAY:  And I want to confirm, the 7.8 million dollar amount that's been spent to July 2017, that isn't the end.  There's still more environmental costs that have been incurred since July.


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.  If we can pull up attachment 11, sorry, so we can see the numbers in front of us.  Great, thank you.  Much appreciated.


So, yes, the original budget of the Board-approved budget of 3.4 million dollars and our eventual spend was 7.8 by the time we filed our leave to construct 35 months longer than what we had originally intended to file our environmental assessment on.


MR. MURRAY:  Just to correct the record, I think you said 3.4, but I think you meant 3.6 in terms of the --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.  I under-budgeted for us.  I appreciate the extra 200,000.


MR. MURRAY:  But the 7.8 doesn't include all environmental assessment costs.  They are ongoing.


MS. TIDMARSH:  They are, correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And if I could ask you to turn up JT1.12, which is found at tab 8 of Staff's compendium.  Now, just for the record, these are -- NextBridge was asked to provide some costs in terms of the costs incurred since July 2017 up to the end of April 2017.  I appreciate these amounts themselves are outside of the scope of this hearing, but I'm bringing them up in this discussion because I feel there's some -- more instructive in terms of the environmental costs and how they've been managed by NextBridge.


And if you can look at the August to December 2017 period, it looks like NextBridge budgeted environmental and regulatory costs of 32,000 dollars for that six-month period.  And the actual amounts that have been incurred in terms of environmental and regulatory -- environmental costs are 1.663 million.  Am I reading the table correctly?


MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  And then if you go over to the next page, if you actually then go over to page 3 of that document, you'll see the actual spends of NextBridge on the various cost categories from January 1 to April 30th, 2018.  And under environmental and regulatory, if I'm reading the table correctly, it's 360,000 was the budget, and 1.235 million was the actual spend; is that correct?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MURRAY:  Would we be able to agree that the environmental costs continue to exceed by a large amount the budgeted amounts of NextBridge?  Is that a fair statement?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So the budget that was done as part of this exercise after development, so the team leads had done a budget post filing of the leave to construct in our construction phase.  And so these costs did not include a few other things that have happened since then.  So since the filing of our leave to construct in 2017 additional field studies were asked for by MNRF, so Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry asked for additional field studies to be done on fisheries for water body crossings, for example, and so those extenuating circumstances has increased -- have increased the budget.


Also, we were asked to amend our environmental assessment to include more information that's usually found in a permitting phase for MNRF.  And so those costs were not included in this budget.


MR. MURRAY:  What I'm hearing is there's additional studies, there's more additional studies, there's more additional field work.  I guess the question I have is why wasn't these additional items -- why weren't they contemplated and included in the original 22.4 million dollar budget that was put forward by NextBridge to the Board as part of its application for designation?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So in NextBridge's collective experience, so NextBridge and NextEra and the projects we've worked on in North America, we used that extensive experience to put together the budget for the 22.4 million dollars that included the environmental budget.

And so once we began developing the project and having conversations with Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry and other regulatory bodies, the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, more and more asks outside of what our experience has been were included.  And this is a very large linear infrastructure project in Northern Ontario and one of those has not been undertaken in quite some time.  So there was a lot of extra work that the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry and the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change had asked for.

And so in our collective experience as NextBridge, both NextBridge and NextEra, we had not seen such a large ask for this amount of permitting to be done prior to permitting in the construction phase -- these amount of field studies, sorry, to be done prior to the construction phase.

MR. MURRAY:  All these additional studies, did they relate to the new route around the park or did some of these original route, some of these additional studies and additional materials you were asked to do?

MS. TIDMARSH:  These additional studies were for the route around the park.  They were also for some of the other rerouting that we did around Dorian at the behest of the residents of Dorian.  And they were also for the route itself, for our reference route as well.

So again, it's more than what we had anticipated when we put together the development budget back in 2013.

MR. MURRAY:  But whether the new route or the old route -- the route changed by about 50 kilometres.  Would it be fair to say that a number of these studies related to parts that were part of the original route?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's fair to say.

MR. MURRAY:  Could I ask you to turn to the additional evidence compendium, the Staff's compendium, tab 5, attachment number 3?

As I understand it, attachment 3 sets out in a number of broad categories the 7.5 million dollars or 7.8 million dollars that NextBridge is claiming with respect to environmental and associated regulatory approvals.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  If we look through the line items, the first line item is internal labour, 1.14 million, various environmental studies 2.89 million.  2.18 million for regulatory applications.  115,000 dollars for environmental protection and compensation plans.  Consultation support, 231,000.  External project management services, 1.1 million.  Project, delay 90,000.  And Pukaskwa National Park, 82,000.

Those are the numbers that are there in broad categories.  But given that the original was, once again, 3.6 million and you're asking for an additional more than 4 million dollars, are you able to point us to anywhere in the evidence that shows NextBridge's costs, and in particular those costs over and above originally budgeted, were prudent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I could point to a number of ours.  But overall, before I go there, I would like to say that from the original designation budget to what was eventually spent by NextBridge on the project, the 7.8, there were, in our re-budgeting that we did in 2015 which outlined a lot of changes that were needed in the extended development period, the extra 35 months and all the work that was done, so I can point to those and we've discussed were part of the 2015 filing.

But I can also point to Staff IR number 21 -- and I'll wait a moment to see if Stephanie can pick that up for me.

I believe that's similar to the question that you're asking now, why was NextBridge unable to anticipate additional expenditure in the application and the additional expenditure.  And so if we could scroll down to the table, and here you can see from the budget that we put together in 2015 we start to itemize the things that had changed.  And that -- I'll pull for example, sorry, line item number 22, and hope everyone can see it.

So, for example, we have itemized the incremental field studies that were needed for the route assessment at the request of the MNRF, and how that is again an extra 2.2 million dollars.  Some of these things -- and it was asking the rationale why they were unable to anticipate, because we had consultations with the MNRF.

So in the evidence, when you ask why did we go ahead and continue with spending in a prudent manner, we did so to move forward to get to our environmental assessment and this itemizes some of the things that we did.

If you talk in generalities about our cost prudency and what we did, we can also point to our JT 10 in our undertakings, and we can talk more about how we did RFPs, so request for proposals for this work, and how we had multiple bids from multiple different environmental firms.  And we can talk about our variance analysis as we proceed through the project, and the costs and how -- if there was ever any cost increases, how those reported to the Board and how we addressed them.

Same thing that goes with expenditures and labour time; those were always given to me on a monthly basis and we looked through those and spent prudently to meet the budget we had set out in 2015 for the 40 million dollars.

So we did those kind of prudent measures to ensure that we were meeting our budget of 40 million dollars.

MR. MURRAY:  What I hear you say is you took these measures to ensure you met the 40 million dollars, but -- I don't think I'll ask the question.  I think I'll move on.

If I can ask you to turn to JT -- sorry, if I could ask you to turn a few pages earlier, back to the additional evidence that's found at tab 5, and if I could ask you to go to the written portion, page 2 of 11.  And in the paragraph under the heading "development activities and corresponding costs", it reads, "at a high level, the work completed during the extended development period included...", and then there's a series of bullets.


I want to focus in particular on the third bullet and the fourth bullet, because those are the ones that appear to relate to environmental work.

The third bullet talks about developing and obtaining ministerial approval for terms of reference for the environmental assessment, and the fourth bullet completing field study activities, socio-economic data collection, and alternatives assessment related to the project and completing analysis in preparation of an environmental assessment.

 Those sound like things you were doing in the extended period, but those were all part of the original milestones, the 3.6 million dollar cost, were they not?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So yes, they were.  However, if I may, so the terms of reference for the environmental assessment, so we had submitted the terms of reference for the environmental assessment for a class environmental assessment to the MOECC.

So upon discussions and consultations with the MOECC, it was then determined that we needed to do individual assessments instead.  These were the types of extenuating additional things that happened during the development phase that caused the increase in the budget that we explained in 2015.

The same goes for the one below.  We talked about field study, socio and economic data collection.  So those were also things that we had anticipated that we would need to do, but the additional work for these two items were directed to us by the MNRF and the MOECC, and then an alternate assessment was something that was not contemplated at all, and having conversations with MNRF and MOECC, we were asked to do an alternate assessment as well.  And so these activities were contemplated in the original budget.  However, additional scope from the regulators have increased the cost.

MR. MURRAY:  If I could ask you to turn to compendium tab 7.  Now, at tab 7 there's a -- this is an undertaking response that was provided by NextBridge at the -- from an undertaking that was given at the technical conference.  And at the technical conference you were asked to provide a comparison of the original milestones to the milestones that were completed as of July 31st, 2017.  This undertaking is that response.

And I would like to focus on the attachment at page 3.  And I would like to focus on the bottom table, which relates to the environmental assessment cost.  And before I get into the numbers, I notice on the left-hand side there's a reference to 3.64 million, which I understand is supposed to be the budgeted amount, or the original budget amount designation.  Why is that not 3.598 million?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm sorry, I would need to check that.

MR. MURRAY:  I don't think it's necessary.  I just noticed there's a few places in the chart where the numbers don't appear to line up to the earlier -- Aboriginal is number one.  I just -- I don't think we need to for this purpose, but I just -- if there was an easy answer I'd perhaps be interested, but if not I think we can just move on.

What I understand is on the left side of this table you sort of provide the original milestones, and while it's off by a bit, essentially the initial budget that was approved by the Board in the 2013 designation process.  Is that accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And on the right-hand side it provides those -- an updated set of milestones to the end -- or what was done to the end of July 2017 along with the new budget number or the new actual spend amount, which I gather is 7.9 million, which is a little bit higher than the number we've seen other places, but I think generally consistent; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look at the left-hand side of the budget, by the time that -- by January 2015 you had already completed items 20 through 24.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  But you hadn't completed -- you hadn't either completed your environmental assessment consultation report, nor had you submitted your environmental assessment to the Ministry.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And I don't think we need to go back to the document, but before I put to you a table that had been filed in January 2015 showing the actual spend on the various categories up until this point in terms of spending, and at this point the environmentals bucket had already reached 95.8 percent of the total spend.

So would it be fair to say that if there hadn't been a slowdown in this process the environmental assessment costs would have been over budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can't opine on what could have happened without -- I mean, as I mentioned before, when we received the information from the OPA about the slowdown or about the extended in-service date we slowed down all of our activities.  And so these two final pieces, I am not aware of the intricacies of what was ready to happen when we were going to be filing at 95 percent of our budget.  I know that we had intended to file our environmental assessment in January 2015, and I know that that was interrupted by the slowdown.  So I can't surmise on where we would have been in the budget at that point in time, because we had gone ahead and slowed everything right down.

MR. MURRAY:  If we can then go to the right-hand side of this table.  And so there's the first five items, which relate to items 20 through 24, which have all been completed.  And then I want to focus on the following items:  item QQ, field studies resumed, status completed.  Would those field studies not have been part of the original budget and the original milestones?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think I remember in some of the evidence we discussed -- or we mentioned that we stopped doing the field studies that were part of the original budget, and so then we then resumed them again at an appropriate time after our slowdown.  And so that would -- this line item relates to that, and so those field studies would have been done as part -- that went towards the environmental assessment.  However, those field studies are not the incremental field studies or not the extent of the incremental field studies that have happened over the extended development period of 35 months.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you tell me why the field studies weren't included on the left-hand side but they're on the right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We included this line item on field studies resumed because, as it says in the evidence, we actually stopped doing those field studies, and we wanted to show that we keep costs below, we wanted to resume to show that we had resumed them in order to make our environmental assessment submittal date and the 2020 in-service date.

MR. MURRAY:  But it's fair to say that -- like, on the left-hand side you're contemplating filing an environmental assessment as one of the original milestones?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And in order to file an environmental assessment you have to complete the field studies?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Focusing then on items RR, SS, and TT, I gather these relate to essentially submitting a draft environmental assessment, receiving back public comments, and then incorporating those comments.

Can you tell me if there is anywhere in the evidence that actually identifies how much was spent on those three line items?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in our evidence that we filed in March 2018 this year, which I believe is in your tab 5, in Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 3, on the second page of that one you can see regulatory applications.  And so in there is the draft environmental assessment, the assessing the information requests of round one of the draft environmental assessment comments, and the final environmental assessment in there.  So those items relate to what you mentioned on the previous pages on how those relate to our milestones, so those relate to those three milestones you had pointed out.

MR. MURRAY:  I appreciate the costs are embedded in the larger global 7.8 million dollar number, but is there somewhere where the Board can look to and say this is how much it costs to do RR, SS, and TT?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So --


MR. MURRAY:  Those specific numbers by themselves, not in the global number.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it's no not in the global number, it's actually 2.175 million dollars, so the global number of 7.8 is below, but in regulatory applications, so that draft EA, the EA comment, the final EA, and you can see the permitting support that goes into our environmental assessment, all of those numbers, so those three milestones are captured in the 2.175 million dollars.  So we've broken that out of the 7.8 global amount.

MR. MURRAY:  But if the Board wants to isolate, for purposes of analysis, how much was spent on that, they can't do that is that.  Is that what you're saying?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I'm saying it has been.  It's here in the regulatory applications.  So the three milestones --this maps to those three milestones of the draft environmental assessment, the review of the draft environmental assessment, and the filing of the environmental assessment is here in the 2.175.

MR. MURRAY:  Maybe I'll give you an example.  I'm not saying this is what the Board is going to do, but if the Board somehow decided RR, SS, TT, they should have been included in the original budget, so they're going to disallow the cost.  How do they figure out how much to disallow?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think that when we talk about the incremental spend on disallowance -- so if I might step back a little bit.

The environmental assessment, along with a lot of the other activities we've been doing, begin in 2013 and go all the way through to the filing of 2017.  So the number, the 2.175 million dollars that's in there, is for the entire span of project development.

So we were spending to that project to that amount and when we reached the 22.4 million dollars in the fall of 2016 and continued do so above and beyond that time period.  So to be able to parse out, I guess, a disallowance of filing of our environmental assessment, or the disallowance of filing our draft environmental assessment, I would assume those numbers are included here. But it's an ongoing activity from the beginning of the project to the end of the filing of the development phase.

So to parse out, I think that this one is difficult to do because the environmental assessment had always needed to be submitted as part of the project in order to move it forward.

So NextBridge continued to spend, as I mentioned before about the prudency and the cost management and our budget that we had submitted in 2015 to adhering to our budget as we moved forward. Although not Board approved, for project management purposes we did need a budget.  So I think that's where we are now.  The project did submit its environmental assessment, its draft one as well.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you take a look at the left hand side of the table and the right hand side of the table, as far as I can tell the only differences in terms of milestones that were accomplished are RR, SS and TT.  So in terms of what was actually done for the incremental amount of 4 million dollars, those are the only additional milestones that I see actually being accomplished for the additional spend.

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I don't believe that's fair to say.  I think that although these line items be completed, there was additional above and beyond -- the milestones do not indicate the only things that were happening during the development phase.  The milestones are just the key things that needed to happen on the project.

So the additional spend were for things like alternates assessment we discussed before, the incremental field studies, those were also included in there.  But these milestones were just things that helped to track our progress to the OEB.

MR. MURRAY:  But in terms of pushing this project forward, you kind of developed a certain set of milestones and if you compare the milestones in the original and the new, the only ones in terms of substance that seem to be different are RR, SS and TT.  Is that accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those are the three that we did add, correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And the difference in cost between the original and the current is over 40 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.  But we itemized all of the work that we did for the environmental discipline in our additional evidence in 2018.  So these three items, as I mentioned, are only 2.175 of the budget that was spent.  And so you can see the other work that was done as part of that work.

MR. MURRAY:  Is there anywhere else in the evidence currently -- I understand there's an undertaking that's being taken.  But in terms of these additional items that you say were done, is there anywhere in the evidence currently which shows how much was spent on these additional items, actual amounts spent not estimates?.

MS. TIDMARSH:  There's an undertaking.  So as you mentioned, we had a budget that showed there was incremental amounts that needed to be spent.  There's an undertaking that we've taken to try and map the amounts of what was actually spent because of some of the additional work.

But as I've mentioned before, for example there would be field studies that would be done and those field studies weren't done the entire length of the development period as a continuum, as things that were done from 2013 all the way until 2017.  So to parse out when they were incremental above the 22.4 million dollars, as I mentioned, when we used the 22 -- we used up the 22.4 million dollars in the fall of 2016 and incremental time period from then until when we filed our environmental assessment in July 2017, that's when we did that extra work.  We've continued to do field studies during that extra time period; we continued to move the environmental assessment forward during that time period.

So to parse these pieces out, we are taking an undertaking to attempt to do so.

MR. MURRAY:  If we then can move on, I want to talk about the land rights.  And for this, if we could pull up attachment 4 of the additional evidence, which is found at tab 5 of Staff's compendium.

Taking a step back once again, the original estimate for this cost category at designation was 1.99 million.  And if you look at the table at attachment 4, the actual amount that NextBridge had spent up to the filing of leave to construct was 5.8 million dollars.  Do I have those numbers correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You do, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you look at this table, it sets out in the various broad cost drivers that were incurred in this category: internal labour, 495,000, 4.8 million dollars for external consultant services, external legal support 81,000, payments to land owners of 350,000 and project delay of 49,000 dollars.

Are you able to direct us to where in the evidence NextBridge explains how the quantum of these costs is prudent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass that over to Ms. Whillans to discuss the activities that were done during the development phase in land rights and how we decided it was continued to be prudent to spend and our cost containment measures for that.

MS. WHILLANS:  So as it's been mentioned here, we continued to have field support and engagement with landowners during the extended development period to continue engagement rather than cease all interactions with landowners altogether, in order to further the project and continue with the optioning agreements and signings as well, as my colleagues here mentioned, in order to refine the route and secure the route in order to have that confirmation going into the application filing.

I believe it is stated in the evidence as well with respect to continuing these activities with optioning agreements with landowners in order to successfully negotiate voluntary agreements with landowners, in order to avoid a higher number of expropriations as well ahead of construction.

MR. MURRAY:  The question I'm still left with is originally there was 1.99 million dollar budget for this category.  The spend is now 5.8 million dollars.

So the Board's going to be left with the position where they have to assess the prudency not of the 1.99 but the 5.8.  Can you show me where in the evidence that's actually filed to date it explains that this incremental expenditure of millions of dollars, it was prudent, it was appropriate in the circumstances, and the amount that was spent was also prudent?

MS. WHILLANS:  Just give me one moment to confer with my colleagues.

So within the table that is currently pulled up here, it does lay out all the activities which we do consider to be prudent, to which we continue to do so, and it also shows the cost associated with this each in terms of what we continue to do.

And I would emphasize as well that we're continuing to be in the communities, and that many of the route refinements were driven by the communities that we were engaging with, so that's why we would consider them to be prudent in this case.

MR. MURRAY:  In terms of route refinements, if I have it correctly, I believe there's only -- there's two major route refinements that were made.  One was to go around Dorion and the other one was to go around the park.  Were there other refinements that I'm missing here, in terms of major route refinements that were done?

MS. WHILLANS:  So my understanding -- I'll just be clear.  I wasn't actually working on the project at this time; I've taken over from my colleague, who has since gone on maternity leave, but my understanding is there were 36 route alternatives that had to be explored which were driven by the community engagement that we had been involved in.

So to this, we had to explore each one of them in order to find out which ones could be completed and which ones couldn't.  So the major ones that I'm aware of, there would actually be about four.  So there would be the Loon Lake reroute, the Dorion reroute, Pukaskwa Park, and there's around the Barrett Gold mining development area as well.

MR. BROTT:  Can I add to what my colleague Ms. Whillans is saying?  We actually have a route change request process, and it includes all the team leads, and whenever there is some issue that pops up like a land issue or an environment issue someone will file one of these route change requests, and then, you know, the land team lead will look at it, how it impacts landowners, the environment team will look at how impactful it is, how it's going to impact the environment or how it would impact our environmental assessment.  Engineering looks at it to see if it's feasible.  At this point we have over 90 of these route change requests.  I think we just filed 90 last week.  So there has been a number of route change requests.

And I would like to point out when we originally contemplated this project there was one route that was parallel to the Hydro One line, and that's what we contemplated to build.  And from our experience we thought the class EA would be sufficient to get that one route, and there was -- all the evidence pointed that that route was going to be able to be built.  But as we got into consultation that turned out to be different.

MS. LONG:  Can you explain to me the difference between a route change that you're speaking of, the 90 changes and the 36 refinements that you're speaking to?  How are those the same or different?

MR. BROTT:  I'm not sure what the 36 refinements may be.  That's a number from a while back.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe that the number is 36 prior to the filing of the leave to construct.

MR. BROTT:  Perhaps.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Today we're at 90.  And so just to be clear, it's not 36 major route refinements, it's -- as we have conversations with landowners, with indigenous communities, and so we do this route change request process.  Ultimately the project director then approves this route change request.  Also, we ask how much is this additional work, how much more would this cost, so...

MS. LONG:  Could one landowner trigger a route change request?

MR. BROTT:  Yes, ma'am.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they could.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. BROTT:  These could be as small as five-metre shifts or they could be as big as the Pukaskwa Park reroute.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  I just have another question on that, sorry.  I thought the 36, that number, you think the 36 is the subset of the 90?  I thought the 36 -- I'm just asking you to confirm -- was due to Ministry request to look at alternatives.  So I'm trying to find the source.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I see.

MS. DUFF:  Can you distinguish that for me?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I see.  So when we do -- and I have to check, subject to check -- that the alternates assessment itself had 36 route refinements as part of it, and then is what you're referring to is the 36 from the alternates assessment?

MS. WHILLANS:  So my understanding is that the 36 was driven by landowner engagement, but that may have been part of the route -- the alternates assessment, yeah, which would have potentially included the, what the ministry directed us to do as well.

MS. TIDMARSH:  But they would be a subset of the 90.  So we would have included in our route change requests some of the ones that were part of the alternates assessment requested to us by MOECC and MNRF.

MS. LONG:  So perhaps over the lunch break you can have a discussion and come back and clarify that question for Member Duff, please.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  And it's a little off-topic, but I have a further question.  So I understand there's 90 that have been refinements, 36 during the period -- by my math that means there's been 54 refinements since the filing of the leave to construct?  Is that accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We're about to clarify that over the lunch break.  So 36 we know that there were -- 36 were part of our MOECC alternates assessment, and then we're clarifying which additional ones -- we're trying to parse them out, and we'll do that over the lunch break.

MR. MURRAY:  And I guess the other question I have, to the extent that there's all these refinements, are these things they're going to require about filing a revised leave-to-construct application, or...

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, that's part of our assessment when we go through our route change request process.  The -- as Aziz had mentioned, some of these were five metres or smaller, so they don't -- they affect the footprint -- for example, some of them have to do with -- nominally, sorry.  Then they don't -- they don't require the moving of a tower or they wouldn't require major engineering work.

MR. MURRAY:  And another question I have:  When you originally budgeted 1.99 million did you contemplate any changes to the route as part of that budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So when we were originally asked to put in our bids in our designation phase with the other six bidders, one of the ways that we were to benchmark would be that we were to assume the use of the reference route.  And so along with the other six to be able to compare apples to apples we used -- we originally were asked by the OEB to use the reference route which is going -- paralleling the existing route that's there.

MR. MURRAY:  But did the 1.99 million dollar budget, did that contemplate any changes, for example, five metres this way or five metres that way?  Did it contemplate any of those changes over the 400-kilometre route?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It did not include the magnitude of changes going around Pukaskwa Park, it did not include the changes for Dorion and Barrick and the other ones that Ms. Whillans had mentioned.

MS. LONG:  What about any minor changes?  So you couldn't get approval from landowners.  I think you're talking of major changes, and I think that was the scope of the designation process, but did you factor in the fact that 10 percent of landowners might -- you know, you might have to go a different way, any type of flux in there?

MS. WHILLANS:  Sorry, just to clarify, the access change request process that my colleague Mr. Brott had referred to is typical on the projects that I worked on.  So it would have been included for these minor changes, would be my understanding, but as he had mentioned, some of them didn't necessarily result in an actual change to the route.  So it would have just been internal time to review and consider whether or not the magnitude of the change would have caused a higher cost or risk to some of the other disciplines and whether or not it was necessary to proceed with that change.

MS. LONG:  Just doing a time check here, Mr. Murray.  So you've got 20 minutes left.

MR. MURRAY:  Twenty minutes?  Oh.  Better get moving then.

If I could ask you to turn to JTI1.7, which is found at compendium tab 7.

MR. WARREN:  Chair, if it helps Mr. Murray, I had forecast 90 minutes and I will not be anywhere near that.  So if Mr. Murray needs to poach some of my time, he is more than welcome to -- a half an hour or more of it, if he wants.

MS. LONG:  We'll see if we're going to allow trading in time today.

MR. MURRAY:  To the extent that the Panel would grant that indulgence, I think it would be helpful.  But I'll do my best to speed things up in any event.

If you can turn to JTI1.7 -- and once again, we've looked at this table earlier.  This is the table that NextBridge provided comparing the original milestones and then the milestones that were achieved as of the July 2017 filing.

And on this one, if I can ask you to turn to page 2 of the attachment, on the left hand side you'll see the original milestones in the 1.99 million dollar budget, and on the right hand side, you'll see the new milestones and the 7.3 million dollar expenditure -- although I don't think the 7.3 million matches the 5.8, so I think there might be something there.

But in any event, I would like to focus in particular on the new items that are included on the right hand side.  Starting with item S, confirmation of authorization to study Pukaskwa National Park, and it says completed.

Is there somewhere in the evidence the Board can point to which details the actual costs for just this number, not where it's included as part of a larger number, but just this line of expenditure, the costs associated with that?  Is there somewhere in the evidence that the Board can look to to find out how much costs were incurred for this number and what was done for that amount?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe there is, give me a moment.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  If I could, I've found the amount.  So it would be back in our 2018 evidence, Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 3, page 2 of 2.  This would be in tab 5 of the Staff compendium.

So you can see specifically, for this example here, this is for the environment and regulatory approvals.  You can see there's an activity number 8 here.  So in each one of the disciplines -- not all, but in most -- there is a line item called Pukaskwa Park.  So although the milestone is associated with the right of way and talks about right of way, it doesn't necessarily mean that that land owns that milestone itself.

It's -- you can see the title of the milestone table talks about the right of way.  So each one of the project disciplines went to -- spent time and effort to determine if it was possible to go through Pukaskwa Park.  Those activities began in 2013 and 2014 when we had filed our construction plan with Parks Canada just to expand the existing right of way and go through Pukaskwa Park.  And those costs were incurred up until -- you can see in our June filing of 2015 where the confirmation was finally made by Parks Canada that we were unable to go through Pukaskwa Park.

So the costs associated with confirming the route that we could not go through Pukaskwa Park are associated with these items.  And you can see them in environmental and again, I would draw your attention to attachment 5.  There is one in here for First Nations and Métis consultation; activity number 6 is in there as well.  But again, there's a few of them in this section.

MR. MURRAY:  Moving on to item or activity T, update landowner, community and municipal council consultation plan.  If the Board wants to isolate just those costs, just the incremental costs associated with that, is there somewhere in the evidence they can look to?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  So the updating of that plan is part of other consultation.  So although the milestone includes the word "land", there's other activities included or other disciplines that combine to go into these milestones, and one of them is our community and municipal council -- sorry, community and municipal consultation comes under other consultation.

So this would be found in Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 6, page 1 of 1.  And you can see there that we discuss -- this is the discipline that would have updated that plan.

MR. MURRAY:  But nowhere in that chart do we actually have a line item which indicates the costs associated with updating landowner, community and municipal consultation plan.  If the Board wants to see how much was spent on that number, they have no ability to -- there is nowhere where it identifies or parses out that cost by itself?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That plan itself has many components -- to update that plan had many components to it.  So to update that plan would have been additional input and feedback from communities, and so those costs are included in there.  Internal time to draft and change that plan.  There would be pieces in here about consulting with -- that we got information from open houses.

So to actually parse out that activity as an amount is not possible.  I think I understand some of the trying to associate the milestone with an exact dollar amount and categorize the two together.  And as part of our designation, we were asked to start tracking our costs on the basis of what was in IR 26.  And so we tracked our cost per discipline as opposed to activity.

And so each discipline had its own internal time.  Each discipline has its own consulting services and to kind of pull out an exact dollar figure for an activity is quite difficult.

MR. MURRAY:  Would the same go for item U, item W, item X, item Y, and item BB?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  In some cases, it's not homogeneous that all of those are under land budget.  They would -- so for example, establish community advisory board; we did not do that as part of V because that was exclusively related to the park.  However, some of the other ones -- you know, the Crown land, for example AA, Crown land disposition application filed.  So a lot of work would have gone in from the land group to ensure that we had the information for that application, internal time, consultant time.

But, for example, the regulatory team would have also been using regulatory counsel to opine on the application and to put the application together.  So as I mentioned, you're correct.  We don't do it by activity.  We don't track by activity.  We track by project discipline, which is what we were asked to do so that we could track from IR 26 in the designation application.

MR. MURRAY:  IR 26 asks you to track costs, but it didn't preclude you from tracking costs in a different way, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It did not.  However, by an activity basis is a different way of tracking costs that would be bringing in multiple disciplines, is what I'm trying to say, and much different than the original way we were asked to track costs, and so that's why we're having a difficult time, I think, pulling out price tags on activities.

MR. MURRAY:  I would like to now turn and talk about Indigenous consultation, and for this if I could ask you to pull up compendium tab 5, attachment 5 of the additional evidence.  And just for context, my understanding is the original budget for Indigenous consultation was 1.7 million dollars and then the actual spend of NextBridge up to the date of filing was 3.254 million dollars.  Do those numbers sound right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to looking on the schedule 11, I believe so.

MR. MURRAY:  And I don't propose to through all the land lists, but similar to the other ones, there's the 3 million dollars broken down into half a dozen or maybe a few more broad cost categories.

Beyond those broad cost categories listed here are you able to direct us to somewhere else in the evidence where NextBridge explains how the quantum of those costs is prudent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I believe what you're looking for then is how we're -- how is this 3.5 million dollars spent prudently?

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I guess the question I have is initially as part of the development phase NextBridge said they could do the consultation for 1.7 million.  It's now spent almost double that, 3.3 million.  So is there an explanation somewhere in the evidence currently that explains why that incremental additional 1.5 million dollar cost was necessary --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, there is.

MR. MURRAY:  -- and prudent?  And -- sorry.  Go ahead.

MS. TIDMARSH:  In our May 2015 filing where we discussed -- we discussed the project slowdown, and one of the key things that we deemed was critical and vital for the project was to continue doing Indigenous consultation over the extended development period.  And so there is a section in there -- I'm not sure if you wish me to turn it up, but we discuss how it is important for a duty to consult to meet the duty to consult given to -- delegated to NextBridge that we would continue to over those extra 35 months' development period continue to discuss and consult with those communities on the project and that stopping that consultation was not appropriate.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps if we can pull up compendium tab 7, which is JT1.7.  And if I could ask you to turn to page 3 of 4.  We've talked about this document before, so I won't do much of an introduction.  Once again, on the left-hand side was the original milestones in the budget and on the right-hand side is the actual amount spent and the additional incremental milestones that were achieve above and beyond the original list of milestones.

And if you look at the right-hand side of the table, it adds two additional items, II and JJ.  II is to establish an Aboriginal community advisory board.  And I believe this is referring to the Aboriginal Advisory Board that we were talking about earlier in our discussion which cost 14,000 dollars.  Is that accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it's not.  So the original advisory board that cost 14,000 dollars, that was a board that was put together prior to designation, and that board consisted of four people that were not from any of the 18 communities.  And they were advising NextBridge on our designation application, which, those costs are not included in here.  They were also advising NextBridge on, for example, our consultation plans and our participation plans that were filed in January of 2014, helping us to provide advice on the best way to consult with the 18 communities.  These four or five Indigenous individuals were helping us with that.  And so that's what that 14,000 dollars relates to.

This here, establish the Aboriginal community advisory board, so this was a board that NextEra and NextBridge had contemplated to include members from all 18 communities.  And so NextBridge went about putting together terms of reference for this board of -- for this advisory board from people from the communities.  And we had put out this terms of reference to all 18 communities, seeking members from the 18 communities.  And in the end we received no nominations of anyone wishing to participate in this board.  And so none of these costs were included.  There were some internal time, obviously, and some, you know, discussions that we had with the communities, and so we had attempted to establish it.  I believe when we filed our OEB report -- and off the top of my head, subject to check, I can't remember what the date was on this milestone, but we had included our terms of reference and our activities trying to -- we held a teleconference seeking more information.  We had sent individual letters to communities to see if they would participate, and so some of the feedback that we received were community members were interested; however, were looking for more meaningful participation after we had received our leave to construct and during the construction phase, they felt it was more useful.

And so we attempted to establish but were unable, but the evidence is in our -- for this milestone is in our OEB report.

MR. MURRAY:  If we wanted to just isolate just the cost of this item by itself, excluding everything else, not part of a larger item, just the costs that -- in terms of internal time, in terms of discussions, the costs associated with attempting to establish the Aboriginal community advisory board, is there somewhere currently in the evidence where we can point to which says this is how much it costs us, 100,000 dollars, it costs 500,000 dollars, it costs some amount?  Is there somewhere in the evidence where we can isolate that cost by itself?

MS. TIDMARSH:  To isolate that cost, it's not possible, because it would have been the internal time on the run rate of the person who was the director of Indigenous affairs at the time.  It would have been consultant time to go and speak to the communities individually.  It would have been perhaps some legal time to review the terms of reference.

It's not a large amount, by any means, because the board itself was not established.  But because of those internal -- the way that it was tracked, it was not tracked by the precise amount for this one item.

MR. MURRAY:  I may not need to ask the question here, but would it be fair to say it would have probably been less than 50,000 dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, definitely.

MR. MURRAY:  And in terms of item JJ, develop plan for Aboriginal training and employment, is there somewhere currently in the evidence, not as part of a larger number, by itself, where the actual amount spent on developing a plan for Aboriginal training and employment, where that cost is identified?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So to develop that plan -- again, the answer will be no, but the -- to develop that plan was -- the plan was based on information and consultation with the 18 communities on what was appropriate for Aboriginal training and employment.  It was written by staff internally, sent out to communities for their input.  And so -- and was again filed with the OEB.

It would have been, as you mentioned, definitely -- most definitely under 50,000 dollars, and -- but there is no line item that we can point to for the development of this plan.

MR. MURRAY:  So if I add those two items up together they total at most probably 100,000 dollars, but once again the number has gone from 1.7 million to 3-point -- over 3 million.  Is there somewhere in the evidence that explains where the other money went?


MS. TIDMARSH:  So the increase in costs in the Aboriginal budget, the First Nations and Métis budget, as I mentioned, over the 35 months of extra extended development period, NextBridge continued to consult with communities, continued to provide capacity funding to communities over this extended period of time, continued to have those conversations.


We deemed it prudent and important to keep up our consultation, especially since we were actually directed by the Crown to do so, which we felt was very important because eventually we would be building the project and we needed -- subject to our leave to construct, we deemed it important to continue with consultation.  So we itemize in our additional evidence all the things that we did over the period of time of the extended development period.


So precisely what we did was the same things, just more of it for consultation.  There is the same type of activities, but just on a continuum, there was more consultation, more capacity funding, more discussions, more meetings.


MS. LONG:  Can I just interject here?  And I'll give you your extra five minutes, Mr. Murray.


But if we go back to the page before attachment 11, where you have the further breakdown of the 3.4 million in costs -- you know, maybe it's my simplistic view as I look at this, but when I look at the first two line items which really seem to be internal labour and expense -- so labour costs internally of doing the work and your external legal counsel, that comes to 1.7, which is what you had originally budgeted in this bucket.


So are 3, 4 and 5 things you didn't consider, or am I reading that wrong and you underestimated what you would spend on legal counsel and your own internal expenses to do this work?


Because the way you've set it out here, project delay is actually quite a small portion of what the spend is and I see where you highlighted just now capacity funding and how you continued to do that.  But it seems like 1 and 2 are really taking the lion's share of this amount.  Can you help me with that?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Just for clarity for everybody, Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 10, page 1 of 1.  And so the actual -- what went into the original budget for designation for First Nations and Métis consultation was, as you can see, there was internal labour, external legal counsel, capacity funding.


But because of those, because of the extent that we had to continue these activities, so there was extra labour for 35 months for that person to do the work.  There was extra expenses to attend meetings.  There were extra legal counsel costs for negotiating extra capacity funding agreements for communities.


So we had only budgeted a certain amount of capacity funding because we believed we were filing our leave to construct in January of 2015.  But instead, we continued to provide capacity funding to communities so we could consult with them over the extended development period.


MS. DUFF:  I just want to interject.  Could you please distinguish between attachment 5 and attachment 10?


MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry.  You're right.  So it's tab 5 in the OEB Staff compendium, but I'm looking at it here.


MS. DUFF:  I'm talking about consultation versus participation, those differences.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Oh, okay.  I understand.  Thank you for this.


MS. DUFF:  I think Member Long's question was regarding consultation and they both are like 3.4 million, so I can see where the error is.


MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you for that.  You're right.  It's attachment 5.  Stephanie, could you bring up attachment 5 instead of attachment 10?  Thank you.  That's great, thanks.


So it still stands.  So again, it's the extra 35 months that we continued to have internal labour and employees and additional capacity funding so we could continue to have conversations and work with communities over that 35 months.  Again, the extra legal costs for negotiating those capacity funding agreements and advice on legal matters.


So yes, those items were budgeted originally in designation, but we just did more of them because of the extended development period.


And then so the other piece here, sorry, that you mentioned, Madam Chair, about project delay is quite small.  That would be the piece where we talked about our re-budgeting in 2015.  So in 2015 when we did a reschedule and a re-budget, those are the costs associated with that rescheduling and that re-budget.


MS. LONG:  Am I correct if I understand your evidence to be that the increase up to the 3.2 million dollars is solely because of delay and because of your -- I guess your decision to continue consulting during that time and to continue being out there having discussions.  That's solely -- like there is no other add-ons, there is nothing else. That is it's your evidence that that is the sole reason for the increase to this amount?


MS. TIDMARSH:  There's some additions that Mr. Murray talked about with the two -- the establishing of the advisory board that would be in there, as well as the other one.  So yes, the additional capacity funding and additional labour for this activity would be because of project ...


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MURRAY:  I just want to do a time check.  Probably -- if the Board grants me an indulgence, I probably have another 15 to 20 minutes of questions.  Does it make sense for me to --


MS. LONG:  I think we're going to take a break because the witnesses have been up for a while.  We're going to break until two o'clock.  And what I would like other people to do, given what you've heard this morning, is give Mr. Murray your time estimates of what you think you'll -- what your questioning will take this afternoon and we'll take a look at what the schedule looks like.


So maybe if Staff could send that to me just prior to -- maybe by ten to two, and then we'll make an assessment of what the rest of the afternoon looks like.  Thank you.

--- Lunch break at 1:10 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:03 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  Before the lunch break the witnesses took away a question about routing requests and assessments.  I think they're ready to answer that.  At the same time I think there is also just a brief point of clarification that they can address as well.

MS. LONG:  Very good.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you.

So the question about the alternates assessment and the 36 and the 90 route change requests.  So we went back through the alternates assessment, and there's actually 37 alternate requests were investigated.  So the MOECC and the MNRF had asked us to look up 37 different alternates to the reference route.  And so from those 37 there were some of those in there that we decided to include and incorporate into the route.  And so some of those were included in the 90 route change requests.  So not all 36.  Just some of those after our analysis of all 37 then moved to the route change request process.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And then the other point of clarification is in JT1.7, so Mr. Murray had asked me why some of these numbers in the milestone account don't line up with what was in attachment 11, some of those numbers.  So in those milestones some of those -- the line items from 11 are collapsed into the milestones.  So for example, I could say, if we could turn to JT1.7, so for example, here the engineering milestones, if we just scroll up to the top ones, the first table.  So that budget there includes also the interconnection line item in schedule 11.  So engineering as a whole is the engineering and construction budget plus the interconnection studies budget, and which is also described in the milestones as well, the interconnections are described in the final two, the SIA and the CIA.  That's what interconnection -- that's -- so they were added to it.

So I can go through a couple more, but that's why some of them are collapsed.  So same goes with the next one, the route selection, land, right-of-way, acquisition, community, municipal consultation.  So that's actually the land budget plus the other consultations budget.  So that's why those numbers don't map directly to the -- to the attachment 11.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

We now turn to you, Mr. Murray.  We are prepared to give you until 2:20, so that is not quite 20 minutes.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I would like to -- I just have a few discrete areas I wish to cover before the end of our discussion here today.  The first one I would like to talk a little bit about the project management costs.  And I don't think we have to turn the numbers up, but in the original budget it was 1.3 million, and the actual amount that was spent up until July 2017 was 4.97 million.  Do those numbers sound --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check, without turning them up, I believe that sounds correct.

MR. MURRAY:  And other than the -- and we've been through the additional evidence and the tables that are kind of set out which include the various categories of costs and sub-categories within those in terms of what you've spent the money on.  Other than that, and the relevant attachment is attachment 9 of that evidence, other than the information contained there, is there any other parts in the evidence that NextBridge relies upon to support its prudency with respect to the project management costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I can also point to JT1.10.  So I'll wait for that to come up if possible.

MR. MURRAY:  I believe that's at tab 4 of the compendium.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Staff compendium?  It is, yeah.

So I can talk about project management, the project management discipline.  So again, project management discipline are costs associated with managing the project over the extended development period.  So not only was it the period up until when we were going to file our leave to construct in January 2015 but also all the way -- the extra 35 months that came to our filing for July of 2017.  So those project management functions during the entire course of the development period, similar to how we talked about consultation, it was something that was continued to keep doing.  There was nothing new or outside of the scope.  It was something that we continued to keep going.

So in JT110 you can see the kind of the measures that were implemented for cost control.  And a lot of this work in here -- all of this work in here was managed by the project management office.  So again we continued to file monthly and then quarterly reports.  We continued to have our board meetings on a monthly basis.  We continued to monitor labour expenses -- labour, time, expenses.  We also continued to attend meetings, we did procurements, so project management manages those procurements, managing.  We talked a little before about the route change, project management works on the route change approving that.  So those activities, although contemplated in the original budget, just continued over the 35 -- the extra 35 additional months.

MR. MURRAY:  Just -- just to make sure I'm understanding, when you talk about 35 months, do you mean 35 or 30 months, because I know 35 -- what was budgeted for the additional time in terms of your 42 million dollar estimate, but the actual time, my understanding is, is 48 months from designation decision to leave to construct.  So is it 30 months or 35 months?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's the additional time after the -- when we intended to file the January 2015, so -- and then we filed in July of 2017, so counting those -- that number of months --


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, that's --


MS. TIDMARSH:  -- those are the 30 months, then I am
-- 30 -- then 30 is correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Now, could I ask us to turn up compendium tab 10?  And if I could ask that we turn to attachment 2, page 16.

And if I understand this correctly, this was a financial update that was provided to the NextBridge board of directors, I believe it was in or about August of 2000 and -- I don't know if it's -- 2016.  And I just want to make sure I understood this chart correctly.  It says:

"The PMO was the main variance for the month, budget of 74,000 dollars a month.  Previous months were under budget.  January to August average was 76,000 dollars a month.  One increase in costs embedded related to embedded Enbridge employees."

Going back to the third bullet, "January to August average 76,000 dollars a month", is that what -- is that intended to say that the project management costs on average for those months were 76,000 dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, and incremental extra 2,000 dollars per month.

MR. MURRAY:  And I don't think we can necessarily do this here, but subject to check, I've gone back to the previous slides and added up the actual project management costs from January through August, and I come up with a number of 836,698 dollars, which works out to 104,000 dollars per month.  Subject to check, would you agree that's accurate?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm sorry, without doing that myself I don't know which line items you may have pulled it from or if there was any --


MR. MURRAY:  I pulled it from the line item, project management, so if you flip to the one page before that, there's a project management line item, 145,998 dollars, and I just added that number back for the eight months.

Is project management included in some other line item or is there --


MS. TIDMARSH:  So I'm sorry, Mr. Murray, I don't -- I would like to not have to do math in front of the Board.  I'm not sure if -- where -- if some of these board decks as well, I'm not sure if they're concurrent.  I'm not sure, like, if they were --


MR. MURRAY:  Can you provide an undertaking to advise as to what the project -- whether or not from January to August of 2016 the average project management cost of the Board was 76,000 dollars that's reported on this slide?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can take an undertaking for that.

MS. LONG:  If not, do you want her to confirm what the amount was?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  That will be JD 1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JD1.3:  TO CONFIRM THE AVERAGE PROJECT MANAGEMENT COST FROM JANUARY TO AUGUST OF 2016


MR. MURRAY:  Let's assume -- just to move the process forward, let's assume for a minute it isn't 76,000 dollars.  Was NextBridge's board ever advised that the project management costs that were being incurred on this project were consistently over the 74,000 dollar budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if it was over -- sorry, what NextBridge's board of directors was advised about was what's contained in this slide.  Subject to checking, which we'll do for the undertaking, if there was some sort of variance, I would assume they would have been -- they were notified about this amount.  I haven't seen it in any of the board decks that they were notified about any additional amount above this 76,000 dollars per month.

So I can't say that they were advised about anything more than what's in this slide here.

MR. MURRAY:  Put another way, are you aware of the board ever being advised that consistently month in and month out, the project management costs incurred on this project were consistently, pretty much every month I've seen, over the 74,000 dollars budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  What they were presented was this month over month, this variance analysis.  And so the numbers here showed the project management budget, so they were advised -- they were aware of these costs here.  The discussions that the board may have had, I could not recall orally.  But they were -- what is in this deck is what they were advised of.  And so I'm not ware of a time they were advised of anything more than that.

MR. MURRAY:  If I can ask you to turn to JT1.12, which is compendium tab 8?  Once again, we talked about this document earlier.  I'm not proposing -- I appreciate these costs aren't directly at issue in this Board.  But once again, I think -- I'm bringing them up because I feel they may reflect a certain pattern in terms of project management costs.

What this undertaking shows is that the costs actually incurred, budgeted and incurred by NextBridge between August 2017 and April 2018.  And if you look at the first table, it shows the costs from August 1 to December 31, 2017, and under project management, which is found on page 2, you'll see the budget of the project management costs for those six months was 12,000 dollars, but the actual expenditure for those months was 433,000 dollars.  Do I have that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's what it looks like on this table, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And if you turn over to the next page, you'll see the budgeted and actual NextBridge costs from April -- sorry, from January 1 to April 30, 2018.  And if you look at the project management line again, it's 442,000 dollars budgeted for this period and the actual amount spent was 938,000 dollars.  Am I read the table accurately?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You're reading the table correctly.  I would like to add, though, that this is part of the construction phase.  So our construction budget is different than in these categories, than this development budget.  And at this point in time, I'm not prepared to find out why there was a -- it could be extenuating circumstances.  I would obviously like to be able to inform the Board why it was more, but that's again in the construction phase part of the project.

It does look like there was a footnote or a note at the end of these tables, and you can see at page 2 of 4 there is a part in here that says:
"Overall, there was an increase in spend over most disciplines," so I assume that is also including project management, "due to the unanticipated filing of an amendment to the environmental assessment and another party filing a competing leave to construct."


So these costs would have reflected those extenuating circumstances.  But again, it's part of the construction budget and I can't -- I'm not prepared to --


MR. MURRAY:  I would like to -- if you don't have anything further, I would look like to move on and talk about unbudgeted costs that are included in the development costs that NextBridge seeks recovery.

First, I would like to talk about the Pic River appeal.  For this I would ask you to pull up compendium tab 11, and if you can go to page 2 of that document.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, my last page fell off.  Give me a second.

MS. LONG:  Do you have it, Ms. Tidmarsh?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  In this section under the heading Pic River appeal, essentially in the first sentence, NextBridge explains that a First Nation has filed a Divisional Court appeal of the OEB's designation decision.

And then the second sentence reads:
"The appeal was ordered abandoned in April 2014 on a without-cost basis.  Costs incurred by NextBridge and procedural steps respecting the appeal would be comparable to other regulatory and appellate legal fees."


Is anyone on the panel able to point me to any information that is currently contained in the record that supports NextBridge's position that this 230,000 dollar expenditure, that quantum was a prudent amount?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am.  There is an interrogatory on this or an undertaking I believe on this.  If you give me one moment please.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps if I can help you.  I believe it's tab 12.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's JT -- no, there is more information.  JT1.2.  It's an undertaking.  So you were asking about the fees for the Pic River appeal?

MR. MURRAY:  I'm asking if there is any evidence in the record to support the basis that these were comparable to other legal appellate fees of this type.  I'm aware of the undertaking and in the interests of time, I don't think we have to go through it.  Besides that undertaking, do you have -- NextBridge's position is that 230,000 dollars for a Divisional Court appeal is an appropriate or prudent expense, and this was what other legal fees of this sort and nature would be.  Do you have any evidence that supports that claim?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The collective experience and knowledge of both Enbridge and NextEra as part of our regulatory team, who have been working in jurisdictions in Ontario and as well as throughout North America went and expended these costs and have had experience in these types of appeals before.  They were also using an external law firm as well,  which they've used before and were going through their fees, managing their costs to this -- on this appeal.

And you can see obviously that these law firms were also spending funding as well.  We have all the invoices for these law firms and they were all examined by the regulatory team at both NextEra and Enbridge and our collective experience is that it was appropriate for this amount.

MR. MURRAY:  Does anyone on this panel have any firsthand experience of what it would cost for statutory appeal or judicial review at the Ontario Divisional Court?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  Did you ask counsel for an estimate of the cost of the Pic River appeal before it was undertaken?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am not aware of that.  But we can find out in an undertaking, if you wish.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  I think that would be helpful to advise that in an undertaking.  To the extent it was, I would ask that you provide the amount of the estimate in terms of also any rationale for the amount.

And to the extent it wasn't, if you can advise as to why one was not sought as part of that same undertaking.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We can do that, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That would be JD 1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JD1.4:  TO ADVISE WHETHER COUNSEL WAS ASKED FOR AN ESTIMATE OF THE COST OF THE PIC RIVER APPEAL, BEFORE IT WAS UNDERTAKEN; TO THE EXTENT THAT IT WAS, TO PROVIDE THE AMOUNT OF THE ESTIMATE IN TERMS OF ALSO ANY RATIONALE FOR THE AMOUNT.


MR. MURRAY:  If I were to advise you that the typical cost for appeal to the Divisional Court would be in the range of 50,000 dollars, can you provide the Board an explanation as to why NextBridge's cost would be more than four times that amount?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Murray, the panel doesn't have any experience as we mentioned, so I'm not sure 50,000 dollars versus what we spent on the Pic River appeal, I can't opine as to why there would be a difference.

When we do the estimate, there may in fact be some additional circumstances that we're not aware of and we can mention it then.

MR. MURRAY:  I realize my time is almost up, but I just have one brief area I'd like to cover briefly, and that's Indigenous participation.

As part of this application, NextBridge is seeking to recover 3.4 million dollars in this category, which I understand was unbudgeted at the time of designation.  How did NextBridge satisfy itself that the costs expended in this category were prudent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there's actually -- there's an undertaking, JT1.16, if we can have that turned up.

MR. MURRAY:  I believe that's at compendium tab 14.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in the OEB compendium tab 14, JT1.16, so in here -- I believe this was part of one of the undertakings from the technical conference -- we were asked how we would be used to compare the costs of indigenous participation and if there was a prudent spend.

And so you can see in this response the extent of experience that both NextEra and Enbridge have in negotiating Aboriginal participation deals and working with First Nations and Métis communities to strike participation deals, and so the collective experience of our organizations went into determining if those costs were prudent.

Also as part of these costs as well there were capacity funding that went to Indigenous communities with whom we negotiated.  And so these capacity funding budgets were provided to these communities, and NextBridge went and itemized these budgets and spent to these budgets and paid the communities based on the budgets and actual invoices of spend.  And so we continued to use cost control measures for these negotiations as well.  And so in negotiating commercial deals and the experience we have with indigenous communities we deemed these as prudent costs.

MR. MURRAY:  First I would like to talk a bit about Undertaking 1.14.  I understand that certain examples were given here, but if I could ask you to turn to the first page of that response and the second paragraph.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, 1.14 or 1 --


MR. MURRAY:  1.16.

MS. TIDMARSH:  1.16.

MR. MURRAY:  The second paragraph of the response reads:

"NextBridge has been asked to provide examples of experience with indigenous communities used to compare the costs for indigenous participation.  However, the cost of these initiatives remains confidential and -- commercially sensitive and confidential."

And then you go on to talk in broad terms about what those four projects are, but you don't provide any specifics about what the costs of participation were.

I guess the question I have is, based upon the evidence that's in the record to date, how is the Board supposed to conclude that the participation costs are prudent -- the quantum of them are prudent given these other four examples?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in our specific example in working on the NextBridge Aboriginal participation deals, as I mentioned before, we used our experience with capacity funding that's given to communities for these types of negotiations, as well as our own time and legal fees, we manage those budgets as well.  And so I think -- I know what we did was a prudent spend to reach those deals with the group of six First Nations and also with the Métis Nation of Ontario.

MR. MURRAY:  And in terms of participation, at some point early on in the process did NextBridge develop an internal budget of what would be considered appropriate development costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  For unbudgeted amounts?

MR. MURRAY:  Participation generally in terms of what the costs should be, did you -- was there an internal budget developed upon which you were then going to measure actual spend and actual costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So as we continued doing our negotiations and working with communities, it was more than just the negotiations with communities.  It was also our training and consultation plans, and as I mentioned, that budget was based on the continuous feedback that we had from the 18 communities that we engaged for our duty to consult.  And so as we worked through communities and things changed in our negotiations we also included those costs as well, but we prudently spent them as we used external law firms and, as I mentioned, capacity funding agreements that were given to communities were given in small amounts and we worked through those and got expenses for those.

MS. LONG:  Sorry, I'm not sure I understood the answer to that.  So the question was was there a budget, and is your answer, yes, there was and it was modified as you continued through the process?  Or there was no budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It was modified as we continued through the process.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Can you provide an undertaking to provide what the original budget for this participation amount was?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And how was it modified throughout the period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I could do that, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JD1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JD1.5:  TO PROVIDE WHAT THE ORIGINAL BUDGET FOR THIS PARTICIPATION AMOUNT WAS AND HOW IT WAS MODIFIED THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD.

MS. LONG:  I think, Mr. Murray, that that is the end of your time.  You've gone over.  So in fairness to everyone else I'm going to move on to Mr. Esquega.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Esquega:

MR. ESQUEGA:  Good afternoon.  Thank you.  That's a perfect segue for me, because I'm only going to ask you about Indigenous consultation and participation, and I'm going to be quick today, and just for the record, I'll just confirm that my name is Etienne Esquega, and I represent Biinijitiwabik Zaaging Anishinaabek, who I will refer to as BZA today.

And I've asked you questions about BZA before in another proceeding that's also ongoing right now.  And I guess you've had time to familiarize yourself now with the location of BZA.  Is that fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I have.  In fact, I visited a couple of times.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Since the last time we talked?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I think since the beginning of our -- 2013 I've been to the community a couple of times before.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And it's fair to say that the community is about 50 kilometres north of the line; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you're aware that BZA has asserted that it has -- that this line is in traditional territory?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I'm aware of that.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And that this line has potential to impact its rights, lands, claims, and practices?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I'm aware of the potential.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And there are still negotiations ongoing, right, with BZA?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There are.  We're doing -- we're continuing to consult with BZA on the projects, and so we're also continuing to have conversations about economic participation opportunities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you've been having those discussions, I understand, recently directly with the Chief; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Chief Hardy, yes, that's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And it's fair to say that the negotiations are positive right now?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they are.

MR. ESQUEGA:  The tone is positive?  And you're having these discussions because Chief reached out to you and said he wasn't satisfied with what was done up-to-date when you resumed those discussions.  Is that fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I had a conversation with the Chief and we discussed our consultation since 2013 and our engagement with BZA, and we talked not only about turnover in the communities but also about the Chief's interest in exploring economic participation going forward.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I want to get to the issue of the importance of consultation and the participation expenses and the prudency of those costs that you're incurring.  And you've been delegated by the Ministry of Energy, I believe it is, to consult with 18 First Nation communities.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Or indigenous communities, sorry.

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And that's 16 First Nation communities; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, it's actually 14 First Nations and four Métis communities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  And these communities are spread over a large geographic area; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they are.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And one of the milestones in your development phase has always been to try to seek as much support as possible from the First Nations; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's fair, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you feel that you've made some significant headways towards that milestone?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And from your perspective it's in the ratepayers' interest to ensure that Indigenous communities are consulted and accommodated on these projects?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, definitely.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Especially when you have a mandated in-service date that's quickly approaching.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So Indigenous consultation; that's correct, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I'm just referring to the date that's been proposed to get this project done.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so in 2020 is when we need to be in-service, so, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So that's a lot of work to take on before you get to 2020.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We've been doing it since 2013, yes, correct.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And you don't want to end up in another situation where there is another appeal like the Pic River appeal, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't believe that's in the ratepayers' interest.

MR. ESQUEGA:  No, because that could be more expenses (sic), right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It could be more expensive and it could potentially delay the project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Absolutely.  And I understand that you've had some success in negotiating some participation arrangement so far?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I have, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And there's six First Nations for sure that are on board, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, the group of Bamkushwada.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And that's BLP First Nations as they're otherwise referred to in --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And I also understand from reading in the transcript from the teleconference that happened recently that the Métis Nation is also very close to getting a deal done with you?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The communities that are part of the Métis Nation of Ontario are.  We have an economic participation agreement with them.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Is it completed?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's completed, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  When was that completed?  Do you know?

MS. TIDMARSH:  About a week ago.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And the goal for consultation has always been to build that trusting relationship with the communities, is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Because each of them have their own unique protocols in terms of how they want to be consulted?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They do.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Do you want to talk about that a little bit?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As part of our consultation efforts with the 18 communities that we were delegated the duty to consult with, we've always made sure we talked to each community individually for consultation.  We've provided capacity funding, I believe, to BZA as well.  We've had meetings individual -- some communities prefer us to hold the meetings, some communities prefer to hold the meetings themselves.

So we cater and individualize each consultation effort with each community.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And many communities or some of the communities would prefer you come directly to the community and speak not only to the chief and council, but also to the membership.  Is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:   Sometimes, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I believe Chief Hardy is one of the chiefs who's been pushing that type of approach with his community.  Is that fair to say?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  I haven't been made aware from Chief Hardy that that's his preference, for us to come to chief and council.  Over the course of the development phase, we have been to BZA twice and held large community open houses.  But if Chief Hardy would like us to come to speak to chief and council, we're happy to arrange that discussion.

MR. ESQUEGA:  In terms of the economic participation regions that you've been able to offer and negotiate so far, I understand that those opportunities include contracting opportunities to the First Nations?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, through the economic development arm of Bamkushwada.  There is an organization called Supercom, and Supercom offers economic participation to all of the 18 communities, not just the six.

MR. ESQUEGA:  That's the same for job skills and training?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, they have been offering opportunities.

MR. ESQUEGA:  And there's also going to be some employment opportunities available?

MS. TIDMARSH:  During the construction phase of the project from the employment and training.  I believe there are some BZA members trained as part of the project.

MR. ESQUEGA:  From your perspective, does it seem to you that the chiefs are excited about this opportunity to build this line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The Bamkushwada chiefs and in general most chiefs, yes, they're excited for the prospect of the line.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I understand they have a lot of members who are waiting to get to work on it as well, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They do.  We've trained -- almost 300 individuals were trained as part of the employment in training plan from the Indigenous communities to get jobs on the line.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So even though the dollar number seems high to date, there's results that can be shown to justify or to verify that the money has been spent towards training people?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, in the participation funding, there's a lot of the leg work that went into getting community members trained through Supercom and Confederation College.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Back to the issue of keeping track of the expenses as you go along, I assume that since you've been delegated the duty to consult by the ministry, you've been keeping a pretty detailed record of those activities?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have, yes.  We found in the environmental assessment.

MR. ESQUEGA:  That includes financial expenditures as well?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It has, yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Now, I have one general question.  This follows up on a previous undertaking about -- you were asked to parse out some specific numbers.

Maybe I can bring you to the Staff compendium, and there's a couple of productions in that compendium that you've prepared with some different line items.  If I can refer you to page 67 of the PDF?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Do you know what tab that's under?

MR. ESQUEGA:  No, I don't.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  It's your expenditures up to March 14, 2018, dealing with First Nations and Métis consultation.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry as we shuffle papers.  So that would be under?

MR. ESQUEGA:  I'm not going to go into great detail about any of these numbers, but we see that there's a number of different activities that are noted there.  And I'm wondering if you can parse out even further for us and be able to tell us, or undertake to tell us what has been allocated specifically to BZA with respect to these activities for consultation?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So these activities in this are things that have already happened.  So they are activities that happened from 2013 all the way into July of 2017, when we filed our leave to construct.

And so specifically what would relate to BZA is there is some capacity funding to communities under that line item two.  There's some amounts in there for capacity funding that went to BZA.

There would be some internal labour and employee costs for us to go and visit BZA a couple times.  Our external legal counsel to negotiate our capacity funding agreement would also be in there.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Sorry to interrupt, is there a capacity funding agreement with BZA?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  I haven't seen that yet, so thank you for telling me that.  As you mentioned, there has been some changeover in the community which has made the consultation process a little bit of a challenge recently.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we had a capacity funding agreement.  We had a couple community meetings and then the capacity funding agreement -- I can't remember the amount off the top of my head, but it concluded last year.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Back to the undertaking, can you specifically identify what was afforded to BZA with respect to these line items?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Not specifically under the capacity funding agreement to the communities.  Off the top of my head, I couldn't tell you how much the capacity funding agreement is.  I think we've been talking this morning about parsing out specifics.  And so consultation is a continuum, so we've been working all those internal labour costs.  I couldn't specifically allocate to you how many hours were spent with BZA, or how much was spent in trips to BZA.

And I also don't know off the top of my head the capacity funding that BZA has received, or how much was spent on legal counsel to negotiate those capacity funding agreements.

MR. ESQUEGA:  So basically, all the expenditures related to BZA are lumped together with all the other Indigenous communities and put into this spreadsheet?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Page 72 of this PDF, please -- and again I guess with respect to the First Nations and Métis participation numbers on each of those activities, you wouldn't be able to separate the BZA amounts from those?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I wouldn't be able to.  So the amounts that is are in here would be for, like I said, organizing some of the training and some of the job fairs and working with all 18 communities including BZA would be included in here, so I could not parse them out.

MR. ESQUEGA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.

MR. CASS:  Sorry to interrupt.  Mr. Rubenstein has just given us a compendium and I haven't even had a chance to give it to the witnesses.  I didn't want to interrupt the previous cross-examination, so perhaps I might pass it to them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, my apologies for not passing that around during the lunch break.

MS. DUFF:  Copies of existing evidence?  Anything new?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is some information that is not in there, but I did provide to my friends 24 hours in advance.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps we can mark the compendium of School Energy Coalition as an exhibit; it will be KD1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KD1.2: SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My cross may be a bit disjointed as my friend Mr. Murray has covered a number of the areas that I wanted to cover.  But I think it's important to go back to the Board's designation decision, the Phase 2 proceeding, and maybe we can start at page 7 of the compendium.

And as I read this, what the Board is saying here is that it ranked the applicants with respect to -- this is with respect to the cost category, and the Board says:
"In evaluating the applications in the areas of cost, the Board ranked applicants considering the following factors..."

Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then under development costs, we see rank order of the class estimate, clarity and completeness of the cost estimate, thoroughness of the risk assessment and mitigation strategy, and any proposal for allocation of the development costs which could benefit ratepayers.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the Board says at the bottom of that list, the first paragraph here:

"The Board ranking was based on how thorough the proponents demonstrated the above characteristics."

Correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And ultimately the Board gave you as well as another proponent the highest score, so I assume you would agree with me that they obviously thought that you demonstrated those characteristics.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the ranking of the development costs, yes, it was ourselves, but also the other runner-up was AltaLink, and AltaLink's development costs were actually lower than ours.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, but with respect to how they ranked the costs, obviously, they gave you the same score.

MS. TIDMARSH:  They did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And development costs were one part of the costs bucket, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Development costs are one part of the evaluation, agreed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go -- we flip back over to page 6 of the compendium, this the Board talking about it, is the last paragraph, the Board says:

"By designating one of the applicants, the Board will be approving the development costs, up to the budgeted amount, for recovery.  School Energy Coalition submitted that this is insufficient information for the Board to determine that development costs are just and reasonable.  The Board does not agree.  The Board has had the benefit of six competitive proposals to undertake the development work.  In the Board's opinion, the competitive process drives the applicants to be efficient and diligent in the preparation of their proposals.  With the exception of Iccon/TPT, the development proposals range from 18.2 million to 24 million, which was relatively narrow given the overall size of the project.  Therefore, the Board finds that the development costs for the designated transmitter are reasonable and will be recoverable to certain conditions."

Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately the Board disagreed with my client's argument, I guess, in that proceeding and determined that your development costs, which were at the time, I believe, budgeted at about 22.2 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  22.4.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  22.4 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So our original cost estimate was back in 2012 dollars, but currently for this in -- escalated is 22.4.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So unescalated or escalated about 22 million dollars they said that that was reasonable, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And one of the reasons they got to that was because it was a competitive process.  They had six different applicants providing their budgets, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe so, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I would like to take you to page number 25 of the compendium, and you've had a lot of discussion of this exhibit earlier today.  And I recognize this is -- the costs here are a budgeted amount, and there's an undertaking to get the actuals.  But I'm more interested in the activities and the explanations for them.  And I want to understand first off, you list about, I think about 42 activities here.  Was there an activity that you ended up not doing at all?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think, subject to check, if there are things in here about Pukaskwa Park, depending on when this -- if this was the May 15 filing or the June 15 filing, because we ended up pulling that back out, but of the list of 42, I would have to do subject to check that we would have done -- we would have done all of these, but again, I would have to check that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, I guess if we get a zero at the undertaking we know that you didn't do the activity, correct?  Would that be a fair assumption?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And so the first category is project extension costs, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I take it, those are costs that you incurred due to the moving of the in-service date from 2015 -- sorry, 2018 to 2022, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So would I take it that every single one of these activities, if the in-service date had remained 2018 you would have not had to do any of these activities?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think in some cases -- I understand the blanket statement, but in some cases you would see that these activities were things that we were already doing but were also continuing to do over the 30 -- extra 30 months.  So we talked a little bit about the fourth category, Aboriginal consultation costs, so we were consulting with communities, we were providing capacity funding agreements, we were doing that, but we continued to do that over the 30 months, so we would not have incurred this extra amount if we had been able to start our construction period originally.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  I recognize a lot of these are incremental -- or essentially incremental amounts of -- for an activity that you're doing anyway.  But would I take it that whatever the actual amounts for all these project extension costs that you ended up doing, if the original in-service date had not moved, had not changed, you would not have incurred any of those incremental costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Just, sorry, one moment while I look through it.

Yes, if the date had not changed, so those 19 -- 19 activities that are here, as I mentioned, yeah, they would -- we would not have incurred -- incurred those costs.  No, we would not have incurred those costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we go to item number 14 and 15, there was some discussion earlier on today, and this is "preparation of revised EWT project schedule and budget" and then "May 15, 2015 submission review costs", which at the time you budgeted about 1.2 million dollars, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think what you told Mr. Murray was if you go and you look at the information that is provided in response to the Exhibit B, tab 16 schedules, which are included in my compendium beginning at number -- at page number 35, those are equivalent to the project delay category?  Did I understand that correctly this morning?  If you add up the project delays --

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so if you add the -- so if you add the project delay categories that are under engineering design, the other disciplines, including permitting and licensing, et cetera, you add those up, and they would be in response to items number 14 and 15 on this list.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And item 14 is:

"To revisit and revise the project's execution strategy, scope, schedule, and budget to address extending the EWT project in-service date to 2020."

And the description for activity 15 is:

"To present revised schedule for approval and budget of cost recovery before the OEB."

Correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when I add up the project delays, would you take it subject to check it's about 950,000 dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in the actual costs I can --

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- say that subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can you help me understand how it is prudent that for the purposes of just revising the budget and the schedule, ratepayers are expect -- you're expecting -- you're asking ratepayers to provide 950,000 dollars for that activity?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So in order to reach a 2020 in-service date in order to develop the project NextBridge has some further -- for Ontario, NextBridge has incurred costs in order to move along the project and develop it.  And as part of those development costs a complete reforecast of the budget and a complete schedule is needed for project management purposes.  And so budget and scheduling is needed -- was needed to be done for the project, and so it was prudent for NextBridge to go ahead and expend those costs and reforecast after 2015 for a 2020 in-service date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't disagree with you that you have to do that work.  Time line gets extended.  But can you help me understand how 950,000 dollars is an appropriate cost to do that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the cost -- so the way that the costs were calculated were internal time, and we went to each of the team leads to redo the schedule and the budget.  And so it was a cost that was incurred and was needed to be done to develop the project for designation -- sorry, for development to get to our leave to construct.  So it's part of a cost to ensure that our leave to construct had a proper budget and schedule as part of it.  And so we needed to do those items so that we could get to our leave to construct and to our in-service date.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there somewhere you can point to, show me that those costs are reasonable?  It seems on the surface at least from my vantage point a lot of money to simply just revise the budget and the cost and the activity that you have to do, not -- it doesn't even account for actually then the cost to do all those different things.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So to redo the schedule and to redo the budgeting it was a large exercise because of the extra 30 months that were needed.  And so the construction -- the development schedule that included things like the environmental assessment, tower designs, tower, the detailed engineering work, all had to be done to a specific schedule.  So all team leads needed to ensure that they had the right information to come up with a new budget and schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that cost 950,000 -- almost a million dollars to just forecast that revised budget and the revised schedule?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's what's in here, the itemized project delay for each one of them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we take a look back and we look at items 9, 10 and 11 -- and I'm reading 9 as accounting back office internal reporting and procurement support, 10 being support functions for the EW project development work for all work streams, and 11 EWT project office salaries and overhead.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would I be correct that would generally map to the project management category?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, it generally maps.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go and we look at EWT project office salaries and overhead, I know that 1.7 was just a budget here, but looking at the explanation to maintain office lease, utilities, salaries for project director, program manager and one administrative position.

So I'm taking it that you -- did you maintain three positions?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The project director, project manager, and the administrative are not full-time on the project at all.  So NextBridge uses only partial -- uses its pool of employees for both Enbridge and NextEra.  And they're not three full-time positions.  It would be certain hours from certain people to support the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you -- could you give me a rough sense during what I would call the down -- the period of time when you're doing less work, so the period after the OPA decided to push the project off until the ramp up before the leave to construct, what -- can you give me an order of magnitude of what percentage of time those positions were work working on this project versus doing some other work for one of the affiliates?

MS. TIDMARSH:  If we can look at -- our labour was itemized in JT1.8.  So in JT1.8, perhaps we can turn to that and talk about some of the positions in there.  I think you're looking for a percentage of time of who was used and who wasn't used.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're the project director, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I am, correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So roughly -- I'm not asking for an exact number.  Your position during that time period, what were you spending on this project, just so I have some sense of the order of magnitude?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Actually, if we could -- if we can go to -- everyone is handing me stuff, hold on.

This is in our additional evidence and we talk about additional evidence that was filed in March of 2018, so Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, at page 5, the paragraph -- the line that begins on 15 with respect to internal labour.  So over the 48 month period, 777 -- sorry, 7,700 potential working hours, 40 hours a week.

You can see we actually slowed down our employees.  We have like .4 of an employee for the land team, et cetera.   So if you're asking during the slow down period, the percentage of labour that was used during the slow down period and I think over the entire development phase, we've always deployed labour not on a full-time basis, but on a task oriented basis.  So they're not full-time employees at all.

So we make sure that -- we have the amount of internal labour charged is 1.1, which represents .75 of full-time employee in our regulatory team.  Like I said, when we weren't doing activities, so we weren't doing field studies or we had stopped preparing the leave to construct as part of the regulatory budget, we ramped down those hours as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If I can ask you to turn back to page 27 of the compendium -- sorry, 28 of my compendium, KD1.2, and just go to the next page.  So I understand this is -- beginning at item number 20 is the second category of cost activities and that's budget variance and scope change, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand what we're talking about when we talk about scope change.  Let's talk about the scope change sort of in a broad sense.

When you use the term scope change, are you referring to simply that the amount or the type of work was different than that was forecasted?  Or are you talking about the underlying project, so the route of the project changed and there were costs associated?  Or is there some other definition of that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So scope change would be an underlying -- we discuss what scope change means in the evidence in our -- in our 2015 filing.  But we call -- scope change would be that there was something incremental above the scope we were originally designated to do, so something above that we intended that we had to do something additional.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to understand what that is.  Is that referring to an activity you had not anticipated to do with respect to the project, or is it that the project itself is different?

I'll give you an example of what I mean.  Is it that because you couldn't go through the park and you had to go around, so the underlying project now has changed so you have to do different work?  Or is it just a cost category you had not anticipated?

I'm trying to understand the difference between those two things.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.  And it would be something that we had not anticipated.  So for example, I'll go through scope change here number 24, incremental socio economic assessment.  So on 24, it was additional work we had to do on socio economic.  So it was the scope of the economic data collection that had been increased, so it's beyond what we had originally scoped in the budget.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How is that different from a budget variance?  You had a budget to do socio economic assessment work and it cost more.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'm a visual person, so I would like to turn to the actual definitions in here, so that could be helpful as well.  If you'll bear with me while I try to find the page number, please.

It would be on page 10 of the May 15, 2015 filing.  The top of that page discusses budget variance and scope change.  Stephanie is pulling it up.  There we go, budget variance and scope change.

For example, as we began development on the project, we took a thorough review of all the base -- when we did this exercise, this re-budgeting, we took a review of all the base line assumptions, so all the things we put into our designation amount, so on project development costs in the period.

As part of this assessment -- and you can see this line here:  "NextBridge identified activities which costs have increased materially since 2013."  So this would something that would be a budget variance, so things that were -- the costs have increased materially.  So then the example of a scope change would be something that -- for example, I think going through here in the project development process, something that we were doing above and beyond what we thought we were going to have to do.

So the example that we use in here is the alternates assessment.  So that's a scope change.  So that is something that was not included in the original designation budget and was something that MNRF and MOECC had asked us to do an alternates assessment, so it's beyond the scope of what we had originally put in our designation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look at the items that are with respect to the scope change, so item 20 through 24, can you help me understand which activities did you have to undertake solely, so the costs that would be incurred are solely because of a route change?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So solely because we had to go around Pukaskwa Park or around Dorion?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So in these -- in this section here not all of the things in here would be because we had to solely go around Pukaskwa Park.  It may be included in the fact that we had to reroute, but some of these scope changes were associated with other items besides Pukaskwa Park.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So none are solely based on route changes?

MS. TIDMARSH:  None are solely based on the route around Pukaskwa Park.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Which ones are partly based, so you would have to have done some of the work within this category based on the route change?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for example, you would have incremental field studies and access route assessment.  Those would be for going around Pukaskwa Park.  Incremental environmental permits, that would be outside of what we had originally budgeted.  Incremental -- so the required activities to working with the MNRF.  Number 23 as well, incremental study area as well, going around Pukaskwa Park.  Those are the scope changes.  Incremental socioeconomic assessment, so again to go around Pukaskwa Park we would have to do an incremental -- an incremental -- more socioeconomic assessments as well.  So that's the scope change part.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You're providing an undertaking to provide us the actuals for these activities, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We're attempting to do so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to break out those amounts with respect to scope change between those that are related to the route changes versus other scope changes?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the way that we characterize costs and tracked costs were against what our original designation were.  So I mentioned it a few times before, attachment 11 is by discipline.  And so we did not track costs by activity.  And so when -- for example, some of these are multi-disciplinary, right, so there would be consultation on extra socioeconomic assessments.  We can't parse out which routes or what part of this is Pukaskwa Park.  We couldn't parse out which part of this is for all route changes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if the Board says we only think it's appropriate to provide approval for development costs that relate to the route change, you are not able to parse that out from the other broader scope changes?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So route changes, we are not able to parse that out, because we recorded our costs based on a discipline and not on an activity basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if we look at some of these things for incremental field studies and access route assessments, and if I look through a number of them, what I take away from a number of these things -- I think you had this discussion earlier -- was that the MOECC, the Ministry of Natural Resources, they required more field -- there was more work you needed to do within the broader environmental assessment process due to, you know, stakeholder engagement that you did, due to requests that they had made.  Is that generally correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, the scope was expanded.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can you help me understand how that is unexpected?  It would seem to me those things are the normal course in the context of environmental assessment.  You do some work, stakeholders require you to do a little bit more, you find some sort of issue that you need to do, a further field study that you didn't know.  How is that different?  How is it a different type of work than you would normally expect to do in an environmental assessment process for a 400-kilometre line?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So when we did our original scope for our environmental assessment a lot of the experience that we had from NextEra and Enbridge from doing projects in Ontario and elsewhere in North America we budgeted based on the amount of field studies that would need to go into the environmental assessment, the number of permits that would have been needed, the amount of work, the consultation with communities, so we budgeted based on our experience.  However, Ontario -- this piece of linear infrastructure, 450 kilometres, is pretty new for -- it has not been done in a very long time here in Ontario.  And so the incremental requests that MOECC and MNRF had asked for are well beyond what we would have thought from minor increases in information which we had already budgeted for.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And was there -- has there, between the designation proceeding and when you had to do the individual environmental assessment work, was there a change in the law or regulation that would have required new types of environmental assessment work?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Not that would have affected this project.  There has been a change in the federal environmental assessment, but, no, that did not affect this.  This is just the provincial ministries asking for more information consistently throughout the life of the project above and beyond what we had budget for and what our experience would have dictated would be appropriate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so ultimately your total environmental and regulatory activities budget was higher than you had budgeted.  I think your original budgeted amount was about 3.6 million dollars?  Do I have that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Something close to that, so, yes, it was higher than that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But others in the designation process, they budgeted a higher amount, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Only small incrementally, not all of them.  Some of them actually budgeted less than us.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so, or example, if I turn you to page 61 of the compendium, this is from that designation proceeding.  This is -- we talked about -- this is the EWT LP interrogatory number 26 in the designation proceeding.  And they forecasted 5.15 million.  Do you see that there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's more than what you had forecast.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, and so just to be clear as well, though, these budgets were done before the extra 50 kilometres of incremental around Pukaskwa Park as well, right?  So there's a route change.  So these dollars, it's hard to compare, because they did not know that we all were given the same base line of the reference route and we put our budget together on the reference route.  And so when the reference route changed and for us to go around Pukaskwa Park, they too would have had to alter their budgets as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand that.  But you had previously said that when we looked through the list of activities none of them were solely due to the route adjustment, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  None of them were solely due to the adjustment, but some of them were -- they would have also been consulting with the MOECC and the MNRF, but...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But -- so at the time that at least EWT LP, just using it as an example, when they provided their budget, they expected it was going to be more than you did -- than you had for even the reference route.

MS. TIDMARSH:  According to this, yes, but I don't know what they had put into this amount, if it was consultations with MOECC and MNRF, if they had included that, or -- I assume they did not include a reroute of an extra 50 kilometres as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would assume not as well for that last part, but that's not -- I'm just trying to understand, comparing to your -- as I understood your evidence, you had to do incremental things that had nothing to do with the route change, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  Requested by the regulators, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And if we can turn back to page 28 of the compendium.  If you can go to page 29.  I want to ask you about some of the budget variance activities.

And I see number 28 is engineering review.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it is:

"To complete a review of the EWT project for the LTC application for the purposes of design validation, cost estimate validation, and project readiness."

Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So help me understand.  That seems like a new activity, not just an incremental cost for an existing category.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I'll pass that over to my engineering and construction team.

MR. BROTT:  This is actually a regulatory line item.  This is actually a regulatory line item.  This is our independent engineer that informed our leave-to-construct application and did a review on some of our designs, Mr. Bob Nickerson.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I've seen his work in the context of the motion.  Did he do any work with respect to the leave-to-construct application?

MR. BROTT:  Yes, he reviewed the design for the leave-to-construct application, the tower design.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The construction part, which I have all forgot.

MR. BROTT:  Sorry, was there a question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that was a comment.  Can I ask with respect to some of these other issues, when I look at line 27, timber valuation, that's cost to assess timber values on Crown and private land to further land appraisals and land rights optioning.

So this was, I take it, an activity that you forecast, but not to the extent that you ultimately needed to do the work?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can pass that to Erin, but that's the understanding.

MS. WHILLANS:  Yes, that would be my understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When I look at archeology stage two study, that's additional stage two archeological assessment, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's again work that you had forecast that you would need to do included in the budget, but the work cost more ultimately, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, and we use the arc 2 example in our filing of our reforecast of budget variance and scope section.  We talk about archeological work and we received better information after doing our stage one that fed into our archeological work expecting to be more expensive, so yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip over the page, we see item 30, legal support for land activity; do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then 34, land access and optioning activities.  That's a big -- at least at the time, you forecast that to be a large amount of money.  And then I see number 35, market valuation, describing additional costs for evaluation of land market values, correct?  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And those are again -- and I would characterize these as land-related activities, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And these again are activities that you forecasted that you would need to do, you didn't get the budget right, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So this budget is what we assumed that we would be -- and we actually ended up in aggregate coming in under what we thought we would come in under for our development phase, right.  But yes, these are land activities what we're budgeting and there was an incremental amount on top, so yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, it's incremental to what was approved.  It may be less than you budgeted, but it was incremental to what you forecast in the designation proceeding?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so those activities would be part of the designation budget, but the extent of them had increased and so the budget, according to this budget had increased, although in actuality we still managed to come in for a designation amount under the amount we thought we would.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If we go -- as I understand it, what you originally budgeted in the designation for these land activities was about 2 million dollars, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You'd agree with me other proponents during the designation phase, they proposed and forecasted higher amounts for land activities?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Subject to check.  I don't know.  It's in your compendium.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  I'll take you to an example.  If we can go to EWT again page, 61.  3.3 million, do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Page 74, just another example.  This is the RES group, and you had about 2.8 million dollars; do you see that there?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I can see.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So ultimately, others were closer to what the real costs would be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know what is in others' budget.  I don't know if others had timber valuation activities.  I don't know the specific line items that would have fed into their assumptions that they put together for their budgets.  So it's hard for me to compare if they had -- they may have over budgeted some things and under budgeted others for a lump sum amount.  It's hard for me to determine what would have gone in there and what their scope was.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the aggregate amount was closer to what your actuals were than your designated budget was, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  However, though, these budget don't have an extended development period of 30 months.  So for us to have come in close to these budgets and still manage to make an extra 30 months of designation phase and a re-route around Pukaskwa Park, it's hard to compare.  Even though we did come close to these budgets, we still had two large extenuating circumstances.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, I want to go back then.  Maybe I misunderstood.  Where you're talking about budget variances in the -- on the items in page 28, 29, 30 of the compendium, in that table, are those budget variances driven by different work, or is it driven by the extension of the time?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So it's driven by different work and then also -- again, over a period of time, right.  So different work, for example, going around the park, different work for longer discussions and optioning.  We talked about project delay and we talked about how we continued for land to have those conversations with communities or with landowners over the 30 months.  So those types of costs are all included in the land budget as well.

I think one of the things here is the way we do our budgets, not on activity but by discipline.  So our land budget would have included all the activities that would have had increased scope.  They would have included the activities that went to going around Pukaskwa Park, to continuing having conversations over the 30 months.

So those budgets in aggregate are close to these budgets here.  However, these budgets here didn't know then what we know now about projects extension and going around the park.  So they perhaps would have been different and could potentially have been more.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The amounts that you have for the activities that say budget variances and you have a forecast, and you're going to hopefully provide us with the actuals.  I just want to understand what that's going to represent.

Included in that amount of dollars that you actually spent for each of these activities in that undertaking, will it represent additional budgeted amounts that were due to the extended development time?  Or will it include additional amounts because of the rerouting?  Or will it only provide just -- without those two things have occurred, we would have been over budget by that amount?

I'm just trying to isolate out the different drivers of costs.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I understand.  So one of the things that we have -- I apologize for saying it again, but because the disciplines, the budget to a discipline as opposed to budgeting to activity, a lot of pulling out internal labour over a long period of time to put them into these activities, into these scope changes -- and again, these lists don't include all the activities we ever did during the development phase.  In some cases, we continued to do activities that weren't listed in here.  These are just the ones that we identified where we would need specific incremental funding.

And so I don't think we're going to be able to have a list that pulled out -- that will map directly from our disciplines, because that's how we've tracked everything, to these specific categories because there are other pieces in here that we did that are outlined in our May 2018 filing, all those activities we did are in there, but not all of them map to what's in here.

So I understand trying to compare the two of them to figure out what is because of the 30 additional months, what is because of the route change around Pukaskwa Park, et cetera.  But that's where we're going to have difficulty in trying to map those two together.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  At the bottom of the page 31, the budget variance and scope change subtotal at the time was about 8.6 million dollars, and hopefully that will have actual amount.  Are we able to say then, looking at that actual amount that if the in-service date of the project -- just make sure I get this right -- that if the in-service date of the project had not changed, you would have still had to spend -- you would have still spent that exact amount of money?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So this is -- so, yes, so this is a budget, and we're looking for -- you're looking for us to provide the actuals.  And so when we got the actuals you're hoping that number would say:  This is the number that incremental above the 22.4 that was because of the project delay.  And I am saying that because we track to discipline and we don't track to activity, you're not going -- it's not going to sum up to precisely the amount you're looking for, because...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So help me understand this.  If ultimately the Board says there are certain group categories, costs we don't think are appropriate for ratepayers to bear, we only think they should be responsible for costs that you incurred related to the delay, how is the Board going to be able to determine what percentage of the costs that you have spent over the approved amount is attributable to that?  I take it from our discussion that is very hard.

MS. TIDMARSH:  It's very difficult, yes, because since the beginning, since 2013, we were asked to track our costs by discipline, right, and so that's what we've done throughout the entire development period, because that's what we were asked to do.  We weren't asked to put up a separate type of budgeting ledger that would track by activity.  So to be able to parse out the two is difficult.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so when you provided this information to the Board in 2015 that breaks it down by extension, scope change, budget, variance, your view was we can do it -- we're going to create this on a forecast basis, but then it's going to be impossible afterwards to reconcile?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We thought it was fair to provide the Board with information on what potentially could increase our costs, and so that's why we've itemized it here.  But going forward again we tracked our costs by discipline.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand -- there was some discussion about this earlier with respect to the contingency amount that you built into the designation budget -- it was only with respect to, I believe, the engineering and design component?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, it was only originally for the engineering and design component until 2015 when we reforecasted it and added an extra amount to include all of the disciplines.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But at the designation stage you only utilize contingency for that one line item, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is it your understanding that the other proponents had different -- they looked at contingency differently?  They may have included for other areas?  Do you know?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't know.  I don't know without -- I don't know what they anticipated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if I took you to page 54 -- this is just an example.  This is AltaLink, response to interrogatory 28 -- they calculated 10 percent of the total cost, correct?  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go to page 59, this is CNPI's, 10 percent was added for the development cost.  Do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I won't walk through all of them, but can you help me understand why it's appropriate for there to be all these scope changes that are not drawn by the route change?  Budget variances for items that you knew were going to happen and amounts that you just didn't build into the contingency amount, that led to the forecast cost that was part of the reason that you ended up being the proponent, why it's appropriate now for ratepayers to have to pay the difference?  Shouldn't you have put it in the original budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the original budget was based on what we knew at the time, the information that we had at the time.  And so the budget was based on the reference route.  It wasn't based on going around Pukaskwa Park, wasn't based on the extra 30 months of extension.  So we stand by the budget we put forward, and as we continued in the development phase, had conversations with regulators, had an extended development period, that's why our budget changed and modified.  And we reported our budget on a monthly and then quarterly basis to the OEB.  We also reported our budget in 2015 going forward, and so -- and I mentioned before about our cost management activities, and so we prudently -- NextBridge believes it prudently spent the additional 13.3 million dollars on top of the 22.4 million dollars that was originally given -- originally allowed a designation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand the extended designation period because of the decision to move the in-service date and I understand the route change.  Help me understand all the other costs, all the other budget variances and things you didn't include in that original budget that others may have done.  Why is it fair now after you won partly based on cost that you're seeking to recover the difference from ratepayers?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't think we know if what others may or may not have included in their budgets and what others may or may not be seeking recovery for or what others may or may not have had to do with their budgets as they move through the development phase.

So NextBridge spent the 22.4 million up until the fall of 2016 and then continued to spend in order to get its project to -- leave to construct and environmental assessment to meet the 2020 in-service date.

MR. BROTT:  Mr. Rubenstein, can I give you an example to maybe help clarify this.  I know we're going through a bunch of numbers here.  But just an example, the MNRF, when we first started consulting on the project to turn in our EA, we had planned -- you know, and EA is typically to envelope your environmental impacts.  And so we started to consult, and they were asking for permitting level detail to be put into our EA.

So as a good example of the additional work that we had to do to be put into the EA would be 700 water-body crossings, and they asked us to tabulate and to give an example of every single water body crossing on the line in the environmental assessment.  And that's not something we would typically do in environmental assessment, it's something we would do further down the line in the permitting phase.  And so we had to do that, and we had to do fish studies on any in-water work for those.  So that's just one example of how the scope had changed.  I hope that helps.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm just trying to understand, that's with respect to the environmental...

MR. BROTT:  It is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And was that a new regulation, some new requirement that --


MR. BROTT:  It's not something you would expect to do in an environmental assessment, but something that we were required to do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when you determined the budget at the development for the designation application, did you assume that you would have to do any other sort of work that wasn't -- that you didn't expect?  You didn't build in any contingency, correct, for that work?

MR. BROTT:  I can't speak to the development budget.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding, there's no -- the only line item you built in contingency for was engineering and design, correct?

MR. BROTT:  That's right.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if you had built in contingency amount for every other aspect, including environmental, it would have pushed your budget up, correct?
 MS. TIDMARSH:  Potentially, yeah, and we did re-budget in 2015 to add more contingency.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just talking about the designation stage.  If you had included contingency for other amounts, your costs would have increased.  Just mathematically that has to be the case, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  If we had included other amounts or -- yes.  So the contingency for the other disciplines we believe was actually built into what we had estimated.  And so the contingency for engineering and construction would have been for any of those incremental amounts to support engineering and construction.

MS. WALDING:  What Ms. Tidmarsh is saying is we did not end up needing a contingency for engineering, and so we did essentially use it for other things, such as the environmental, and also, I think you selected just -- I think you've selected just random items off of these interrogatories from other people, and so we can take some of the interrogatories, such on page 61, and point to their engineering and design of 4.68 million, that maybe they would have come over budget on that item, because it was not sufficiently budgeted, so there's other -- you can pick certain line items and say that about certain line items, but you can do the opposite argument on other line items as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm just looking at the line items that you were driving the budget variances.  Anyways, thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  I think we'll take our afternoon break and be back at quarter to 4:00.  Thank you.
--- Recess at 3:33 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:49 p.m.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, we seem to be missing a witness.  I might take that as an opportunity to see if it's possible to do a time check.  The witnesses have had a long day.  I know there were re-estimates or I believe there were of the times for remaining cross-examination.

I'm sure we would all like to finish today, but I am also trying to bear in mind fairness to the witnesses and whether there is any reasonable prospect that we will finish today.

MS. LONG:  I think we will finish today.  I think CCC, you have 10 minutes.  VECC has 30 minutes; Mr. Garner, is that still accurate?

MR. GARNER:  I'm going to try and reduce that to a little bit less, maybe 15 or 20 minutes.

MS. LONG:  That takes us to about 4:15 and, Mr. Warren, I guess you're the wild card.  I have you down for 60 minutes; do you think you're going to be that long?  No?  Okay, so shorter than that and then the panel has a few questions.

MR. CASS:  That's helpful, thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. BUONUGURO:  Mine was going to go down to zero if Ms. Tidmarsh hadn't made it back.

MS. LONG:  And with that, Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:   Good afternoon, panel.  As we just talked about, I have much less than I might have otherwise had given the cross-examination we've had already.

I will like to take you to attachment 11, so Exhibit B 1, tab 6, schedule 1, attachment 11, which is the overview of the development costs that you've been referred to earlier today.

I just want to note a couple numbers here before I switch to another document.  First of all, looking at the subtotals budgeted, we have the 20.37 million dollar figure; do you see that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I do, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we've been taking about that.  That's the total amount that back in January -- this was January-June of 2015, that was the total extra cost that was the subject of Board proceeding, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It is, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then if we look at the next column, column B, and we look at the subtotal budgeted, that's the 13.33 million we've been discussing today or you've been discussing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I look at that and consider that being the actual relative to the 20.37?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  If we can leave this and go to the revised schedule C that's at tab 2 of Board Staff's compendium -- you've been going through it in some detail today, and I don't intend to go through in major detail.  But I do have a few follow-up questions based on what I've heard today, and I'm going to start at page 8 of 8 of the schedule.

So looking at page 8 of 8, I see a total of 20.37 million dollars.  I assume that's comparable to the number we just looked at in the attachment number 11?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so why I raise it is I wanted to ask you -- because my understanding is that in undertaking JD 1.1, I believe it's being referred to as, you're providing actuals for all these forecast costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We're attempting to, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My intuition tells me that means the actuals should reconcile to the 13.33 million dollar number we saw in attachment 11.  Is that what should happen?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, the 13.3 million dollars of our actuals is part of the undertaking we were going to attempt to try and put them into these activity categories, although we've always tracked them under discipline.  So, for example, land environment, et cetera.  We haven't tracked them as part of activities, but we were attempting to take those and in 1.1 to try to put them into this activity-based budget.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  My assumption is if you do it perfectly, the number that spits out the total will go from 20.37 million in the forecast version to 13.33 million?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It would, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that includes some of the categories relative to the forecast will actually be negatives, and some of the categories you came in under the original forecast?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.  Some of these activities we didn't complete spend on.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I just wanted to make sure that's what was happening in the undertaking, to the extent you're able to do it.  So thank you.

Now sticking with this exhibit, Mr. Rubenstein took you through some of the overall categories, and I think what I'm saying -- I'm talking about project extension, scope change, budget variance, and I don't think he talked about phase shift, but I might talk about it briefly.

My understanding from your discussion with him, though, is that with respect to project extension costs, so that's the first couple of -- I guess first 20 or so cost categories in this exhibit, you confirmed that those are costs that you hadn't originally intended to incur, but because the project timeline was extended as a result of the OPA's findings and the Board's change in its order, those are costs that now were caused by that and you're going to incur them now -- or you were at the time, subject to the actuals coming out?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.  For example, I believe the first 19 or so extended development period and so yes, we had talked about numbers 14 and 15 extensively, about our reschedule and re-budget.  So those costs were incurred from -- these costs all include exercises that began in October of 2014, and we had the slow down, the letter from the OPA, and went all the way through until June of 2015 when we finished filing these.  So we put all these in these categories here and this exercise here is part of that cost.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, when Mr. Rubenstein asked you about scope change and budget variance, I'm going to ask you a similar question because I didn't quite understand the answer.  He asked you for these costs -- or at least this is what I understood him to ask you.

With respect to these costs, scope change and budget variances, these are costs that you're going to -- at the time, you were saying we're going to incur these costs, these incremental costs to our original budget, and it has nothing to do with the extension of the development period and it has nothing to do with the OPA's letter.

These are increases in costs that you're bearing whether or not you were derailed in your timeline or not. And I don't think you answered affirmatively, which is why I'm asking again.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the costs -- that's better, the costs are part of scope change and budget variance.  So those were costs for things that we did outside of the scope of what we had put into our designation, and those were also things -- the variance ones were things that were part of our original budget, but because the magnitude of we were going to do them, the magnitude of the budget increased.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the way he pointed was if you proceeded with your original leave to construct and the original timeline, his assumption, which he was hoping for you to confirm, would be that you were still going to incur these costs.  It had nothing to do with -- sorry.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Would have nothing to do with the extra 35 months of delay, right.  And so these costs and this exercise that we did, it's hard to pin down precisely what you would attribute to the 30 months of delay and what you would attribute to things that we were going to do anyway over the continuum of activities that we did for the entire development phase.

So you're looking for an answer on would we have incurred these costs anyway, yes, we would have -- you know, for example, the scope increase of MNRF asking for the alternates assessment, yes, we would have incurred those costs anyway in some cases.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess if there was a problem in terms of conceptualizing it, it may be that if you proceeded with the original leave to construct as intended, my intuition tells me that yes, you were saying you would have incurred these costs.  They might not have fallen in the development phase, but you might have incurred them  after technically you filed the leave to construct.  But these are all increases relative to you what thought you were going to do, regardless of an extension of time with respect to the development period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You're correct about the development phase ends at our leave to construct.  And so from a project management point of view, those costs would still have been incurred because it was something we were asked to do.  But if we had filed in January of 2015 as we intended, then they would have probably fallen into a different cost category.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's because of the -- I shouldn't use the word, but I'll say the word arbitrarily designation between development and construction when it comes to cost?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, and you're correct in a project management time frame.  When we manage to project management we usually manage from the beginning of the project to when construction begins.  And so we don't really have these kind of development phases versus construction phases versus -- and so we have this kind of shoulder period before we put shovels in the ground when we filed our leave to construct and before we put shovels in the ground that are kind of that grey area.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, even when answering my questions I still get the feeling that you're reserving the idea that for some of these scope change/budget variance costs some of them might be or might have been avoided had the leave to construct proceeded as planned.  Is that -- am I reading you fairly, your answer fairly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, what I'm trying to convey is that I know these costs also include -- because we track by discipline, by activity, they include labour costs, they include -- they're not just consultant costs.  It's very hard to parse out precisely what is -- for the extra 35 months what would have been incurred if we had filed on January 15th just because how you just mentioned before, in project management it's from beginning to construction and this development phase piece that's -- that we have cut those off.  So it's hard for me to be extremely definitive by answering your questions.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If we get rid of the artificial construct of the difference between development phase and construction phase, is it easier then to say these costs are budget variances and have nothing to do with having to wait several years before we actually file leave to construct?   These are costs that we're going to escalate as we forecast.

And there's an actual -- I understand there's an actual number that may be different, but at the time these are costs that are forecast to escalate because they are -- because we didn't -- our original forecasts were off for whatever reason?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if these were activities whether incremental or new that we would be incurring over -- before construction.  So the activities, yes, and to put a cost next to them we have a budget, but to actually be able to map the activity to the cost.  The activities, yes, would have to be incurred prior to construction.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, for all of the scope of work/budget variance amounts, I assume -- I'll feel stupid if I'm wrong, but I assume there was an original budget amount that these are variances from?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there a particular document that sets out what those original budgets are on the record?  Or if not, can you provide those original budgets to show how the additional amounts relate to the original budget?  I can take an example.  Presumably there was an original timber valuation number that the 210,000 dollar increment is -- this is item 27.  Is there something on the record that shows all of these numbers, original forecast numbers?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So there's original, there's -- what we've always done and reported to in the monthly reports, the quarterly reports to the OEB, were our disciplines.  And so internally each discipline had -- so for example, if we talked about the field studies and having to do incremental field studies, and we would have had -- we have a consultant that we use, and so we have a purchase order that we have with that consultant that we have had to do add-on, but again, it's a continuum from 2013 all the way until filing of 2017.

So I think what you're asking for is are there line items internally on the record, and the answer is, no, there is no internal -- and a lot of that is actually quite proprietary on how much we would be using, for example, RFP submittals.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I'm a little confused by that, because at some point NextBridge sat down and prepared this document and --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- and said -- and I'll use the timber valuation line item as an example -- we have X budgeted for timber valuation.  We don't think it's enough.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We need 210,000 dollars more, we think.  Where is the X?  That's all I'm asking for.  And you're saying we don't really keep track of X, we never had X, we can't show you X because it's proprietary?  Is that what you're saying?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we have X.  We know --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- we knew the activities that we would have to do, and we had estimates for those activities on how much they would cost, and as scope changes and as we had extra, like I said, extra things that we needed to do based on external factors, that amount changed.  So, yes, we do have internally how much we thought things would cost in the first place.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So could you provide the Xs for all the scope of work/budget variation numbers relative to what's in this document?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I think that would be difficult to do, because what is included in here in scope changes and in budget variances, what we've done is we've amalgamated a lot of our internal labour, external consultants.  Like I said, it's hard -- different disciplines go into certain activities that we've done.  So for example, incremental environmental permits, that is work that not only our engineering construction group has to do but our environmental group had to do.  Also, our external consultants as well would have to be part of it.  And so I think what we have internally doesn't really map to what you're saying here, timber valuation, et cetera, et cetera.   And when we go through and attempt do our exercise of mapping these two together, I think that would be helpful at that point.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't understand how that's possible.  How do you not know how much incremental funding you need in a category if you don't know what the base number of that category is?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we do know what the base number is, and we've calculated, actually, especially for it, so in 2015 when we were asked to do this exercise this was a very big undertaking for NextBridge because, like I mentioned, we track by discipline and not by activity, and so we had information on the extra things that we had to do and we estimated how many hours we would do for these activities, what the valuations were from external consultants, et cetera.  And so going forward, as we did those, we continued to do our work by discipline, but we didn't track it by what we put in here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not asking you to track it going forward.  I'm asking at this point in time when you came to the Board -- and again, I'll use timber valuation -- when you said what we budget for timber valuation isn't enough.  We need 250,000 dollars more -- I made the assumption that you have an X value and that X is what you had budgeted for timber valuation, and I think you said, yeah, we have X.  And then I asked you for X, and you're saying I can't give -- I can't get X.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can give you -- so I can give you what we thought we would spend in our RFP for the company that was going to do timber valuation.  But for example, internal labour for running that RFP would fall under project management, and then the timber valuation work, internal labour would fall under things that Erin would do, and then there would be an additional consultation with stakeholders, and that would be under another discipline as well.  So we generally know -- and like I said, this was a budget based on what our internal hours were.  But we don't have from here how -- we don't have line items in our budget that says, for example, incremental field studies, access to route, we don't have an incremental field study.  We have a field study budget, and so we managed the field study budget knowing how much we would spend, but that we don't have an incremental field study budget.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're saying you never constructed what I've been calling X in the way that it would fit into this as a variation from budget?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, so we don't have anything that would map.  Like, as I mentioned, we were going to try the undertaking of mapping our disciplines to this.  So these were budgeted numbers based on our team leads saying how many hours they would spend on a certain discipline, what their RFP external consultants would cost.  And so we came up with this number this way.  But internally we don't track our costs like that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I'll move on to just one little area of follow-up --


MS. DUFF:  Can I [voice cuts out] question on that?  Don't you have a burden rate that you apply when you do budgeting?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do.

MS. DUFF:  So what's that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So each discipline has its own -- and you can see in the variance the monthly board decks, right, and so it shows what we said we were going to spend and how we spend on a monthly basis, we have a cash flow and how we spend on those monthly basis, each one of those is for discipline, and under each one of those disciplines are a series of activities, so for example timbers -- and a land item would have timber valuation, would also have support for the environmental assessment, that type of thing.  And so we have those budgets, those internal budgets, and those are -- those are in our -- our board decks.  We have that information on a monthly basis.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps you can pull up undertaking JT 1.16.  This is tab 14 of Board Staff's compendium.

My understanding is the subject of this undertaking is the cost of the Indigenous participation, and that would be relative to what has been characterized as the unbudgeted First Nations and Métis participation number of 3.4 million dollars from attachment 11?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding from what's gone on in the evidence is that you knew there was going to be a cost associated with that.  It was left unbudgeted in the original designation proceeding.  It's been brought forward in this proceeding as a figure of 3.4 million.

This undertaking response is in response to a question asking for examples of your experience with respect to this type of participation, to try to figure out how reasonable this 3.4 million dollars is, and then you provided a response, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was looking at the different examples and except for the last one, which was undated as far as I can tell, they were all examples of Enbridge and NextEra, I believe -- well, I guess mostly Enbridge, Enbridge's experience in participation agreements, they all predated the designation proceeding, which made me wonder if these are examples of your experience with respect to participation agreements and the cost of participation agreements, why was it that the participation amount was not forecast in the designation proceeding?  Why has it never been budgeted?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So every community is different.  Every community has different needs.  Every community may or may not want economic participation in the line.  And so we wanted to ensure -- it's never been in there, but in these examples here, we had direct contact with communities to understand their needs through consultation, and then again through participation.

So we wanted to have direct contact with those 18 communities to find out the extent to which they were looking for economic participation as well.  So over a period of time, we built those relationships and negotiated those types of agreements as well.

So we wanted actual field data, because every project is different.  In a lot of these projects, we used our experience in how participation would go.  So for example, training employment strategist, talking about equity, talking about other types of arrangements economically, these examples have that in there, but it's different from project to project from community to community and how each community works and interacts with the proponent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Mr. Garner?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do have a compendium which I circulated by email and I didn't print, because I think we don't need to rely it that heavily and it's from evidence inside the case.

What I would like to do first is if I can ask...


MS. LONG:  Do the witnesses have a copy of that compendium?

MR. GARNER:  No, I'll just ask Ms. Allman, if you don't mind, to bring up the document.  It's just from the evidence and they can take a look at it there.  We can just refer to the evidence, if that's preferable.  I don't know it needs to be marked as an exhibit.

MS. LONG:  I think, for reference sake, we should.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be marked as Exhibit KD1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KD1.3:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. GARNER:  These are relatively simple, and I can go through them relatively quickly.  I think one of the reasons I didn't circulate one in hard copy is I've changed it much over this morning since listening to the other people and this panel.

If you go to tab 1 -- if Ms. Allman can go to page 5 of the PDF of that document, which is from the original evidence.  I want to talk a little bit about the grey area, Ms. Tidmarsh, you talked about just earlier.

So on this page, what we see is the 40.2 million dollars we're talking about today, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, correct.

MR. GARNER:  Then construction cost of 736.9, and I can't remember if those are still the most recent ones.

MS. TIDMARSH:  They are.

MR. GARNER:  What I want to look at next is on the next page, which is 6.  This is an undertaking we asked during the technical conference because in addition to the 40.2 million -- which on this page becomes 40.25 million, but it's a minor change and I'm not sure why it's not important right now, unless you tell me it is.

What I want to talk about is the other number, the 15.0 and the 8.5, and I think these are what we called the other sunk costs.  And you earlier talked about the grey area.  These are costs I call in the grey area.  They're ongoing costs right now you're incurring in order to begin construction, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we're incurring those costs post designation development phase, prior to -- but we call this our construction phase.

MR. GARNER:  Right.  And that continues and I have another document right behind that.  There's continuation of those type of costs even today, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we're still incurring costs today.

MR. GARNER:  The only reason I ask is in addition, as we all know, there is another forum here where the issue of ultimate construction and leave to construct is yet to be resolved by the Board, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Would I be correct in saying, though, that if that is resolved not to your favour, your intention would be to attempt to recover those costs that you're incurring today in construction.  
Would that be correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I haven't had that conversation with our board or our senior management yet.

MR. GARNER:  So you have no idea of your -- you believe those costs are recoverable?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I can't opine here without having a senior discussion about that.

MR. GARNER:  I wonder if you'd undertake to find out whether in fact the company intends to recover those costs, irrespective of the outcome of the leave to construct?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I think we are in the Board's hands on this.  I'm not sure if this is going to help the Board with its determination with respect to the development costs.  I'm not quite sure where Mr. Garner is going with this in relation to the development costs themselves.

MR. GARNER:  The point, Mr. Cass, I'm just trying to follow-up on is are there other costs, other than development costs, that would be outstanding if NextBridge were not to succeed in building this line, just to understand what costs might be still to be paid by ratepayers -- not necessarily will be, but might be.

MR. CASS:  Yes, I think it's clear there are other costs, Madam Chair.  If Mr. Garner had gone a little further with a question about, well, what do you intend to do in respect of those costs, the witness has said that decision hasn't even been made.

So to ask for an undertaking about what do you intend to do with these costs just strikes me as somewhat premature and again, I am not sure what it has to do with the development costs.

`There is no doubt that there are other costs and this piece of evidence makes that clear.

MR. GARNER:  Madam Chair, I'm satisfied with that.  I'll move on, unless you find a need for it.

MS. LONG:  No, I'm just I'm thinking about the decision that we need to make in this hearing, and I think it is with respect to the development costs.  So these other costs will have to be dealt with, but I don't think this is the forum.  I think Mr. Cass has just confirmed that those are not considered to be development costs that will be -- that are the subject of what's being asked for here.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The next place I would like to go is to -- it's the PDF page 16 and it's a document we've all looked at quite a bit.  It's Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 11, and we've looked at this a lot.  And I'm sorry if I may be the only one after a long day, but I've been getting a little bit confused about your cost that you're seeking and to recover as development cost.

And I was especially confused -- and we've talked about them quite a bit here -- about the 3.4 million dollars in participation rates, and all of those costs.  Most are minor and I understand the carrying costs; you explained them this morning a bit.

But those costs -- are you saying that those costs were not anticipated in the original designation development costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.  So the original 22.4 million dollars as part of our designation, our development phase, did not include these unbudgeted costs.

MR. GARNER:  Right, they're unbudgeted.  And you used the term, and it's been used today much about scope changes.  So are these part of the scope changes of the development cost?

MS. WALDING:  Can I clarify the question before.  You asked if they were anticipated.  We actually did anticipate them and we did say they were not included in our designation phase, because we didn't know the amounts on some of them, say the participation.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for -- if we're using the vernacular of scope change, that came from our May 2015 filing, these are not part of scope change, because we knew that we would always be incurring them.  We just did not know how much that we would have.  So they're not part of the -- that scope-change bucket in the May 15 filing.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So help me with that, is when you did the designation were they made known to the Board at the time of the designation and then said, but we don't know what these costs are going to be?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the First Nations-Métis land acquisition, the First Nations-Métis participation in the carrying costs were made known to the Board that we weren't going to be budgeting for them in the 22.4.  The Pic River appeal costs came at a later date.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, earlier Mr. Rubenstein brought you to the designation decision and the issue about the Board's reliance on the competitive process and the designation costs, and I'm wondering, do you take issue with the concept that the Board capped the development costs for the project at the 22-point whatever it is, 4 million dollars, and the prudence of that was given on the basis of the competitive process?  Is...

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we don't take issue with the cap of the 22.4 from the Board and their order that it would be -- that it would be assumed to be prudently incurred.  We've never taken issue.  We just know that when we did our filing in 2015 we added incremental amounts based on the extended time frame, and the Board came back to us and said that it was part of a prudency review, and so here we are.

MR. GARNER:  That was on the extended time frame, and what I'm trying to understand is that if you don't disagree with that decision, basically capping the projects' development costs at the amount of the designation, it would seem to me that only two things would then be at issue later, and that would be what happened, the delay, which is beyond your control by the IESO, so there was a delay in the project, and the second would be, is that the designation of the project, the routing of the designation of the project, also changed for some reason.  Those would be two things.  Would you disagree with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those were two major things that changed the cost of the 22.4 on the project.  And so when we had re-budgeted, we were asked to re-budget, we were also asked to redo our milestones and our schedule, and the Board approved our milestones in our schedule, and then the budget itself is why we're here having this discussion.

MR. GARNER:  Well, perhaps.  Why I'm having the discussion with you is I'm trying to understand your use of the term "scope" and what I would say is the common use of the word "scope".  So scope generally in my mind is against a base line of something.  So the scope of the project in this case was to build the line along the designated route and within the framework -- time framework as designated by the IESO.

You wouldn't disagree that that was the scope of the project, at least those two things were within the scope of the project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The original scope of the project.

MR. GARNER:  And so to me that's quite different than what I've heard earlier that you consider changes to scope, which is that an environmental assessment was more complicated, more costly.  That seems to me to be a variance, not the scope.  The environmental assessment still was expected to be done.  It was that the amount that the cost -- the detail that it had was changed.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So those are part of the budget variance category, so we talked earlier about scope change and budget variance.  And so scope change, what we articulated in our May 2015 filing were things like again the alternates assessment that was asked for by MNRF and MOECC.  It was a scope outside of what we had originally intended do as part of our designation.  So that's a change.

The budget variance, so for example asking for more funding for the environmental assessment, that's a budget variance on something we were going to do anyway.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Well, I don't think we're going to get far on this one unless maybe I ask the question this way.  In my mind there are only two scope changes in this project:  One was the routing and one is the timing.  In your mind there appears to be many other things that are scope changes to this project.  I'm wondering, is there a place in this evidence where you can list all -- by category all the scope changes?  Is that what that table -- the activity table is showing me, all the scope changes?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we have in our -- I believe it's in our interrogatories or in our undertakings, if you can give me a minute, we go through a list of some of the things that were scope changes as well, if you --


MR. GARNER:  No, I think I've seen the scope changes that we've talked about earlier today.  I'm just trying to find out if that's the universe of the scope changes you call scope changes in it.

MS. TIDMARSH:  In the development phase?

MR. GARNER:  In the development phase.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, so there's a list of all those scope changes.

MR. GARNER:  And I heard earlier that you said it would be difficult to estimate the cost of simply the route change; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the going around --


MR. GARNER:  Going around the park and the second -- the route change, the going around the --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Dorion?

MR. GARNER:  Dorion, yes.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So those route changes, as I mentioned, because we didn't assign them directly to -- in the continuum of project development we were continuing to work with -- land agents were still going out there, consultation was still happening.  They just happened to include changes to the route.  And so the actual incremental around any of those changes would be hard to parse out.

MR. GARNER:  Well, you say hard.  Can it be done?  Can you undertake to do that?  To give an estimate of what the route change costs were for this project?  What your best estimate of that is?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't believe that we can actually do that.  I go through this in my head, sorry, as I pause, because we track by discipline and not by activity, and the entire continuum of the project, we talked a little bit about route change requests and how we always -- we are continuing doing route change requests and all disciplines are working towards getting a route, and whether it changes or doesn't, we still have land agents in the field, we are still consulting.  We can't parse out incrementally or pieces on what it would cost for each of those.

MR. GARNER:  Well, I understand there were a lot of small changes.  But are you telling us that the change to go around the park wasn't deemed by NextBridge to be a large scope change in the project, that the Board might want to understand the cost consequence of that change, and therefore you didn't take any effort to track those costs for the Board to see them?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we tracked our costs not by activity, not by incremental route changes.  We tracked our cost by discipline, and so we did not track the change around Pukaskwa Park in a manner that we could show.

MS. LONG:  I hate to interject here, but it is becoming clear that, I mean, we are going to need -- I mean, this is NextBridge's case to make with respect to these costs.  I'm not quite sure that we have on the evidence something that delineates what the costs are of, A, the delay, and what the costs are of the change of route around the park.  I'm feeling less comfortable that we have that information on the record that the three of us are going to understand when we go and do an analysis.  I don't know, Mr. Cass, if you're -- if you have any direction for us on that.  Is it...

MS. DUFF:  The one comment I was thinking of as Mr. Garner was talking was -- sorry.

MS. LONG:  No, go ahead.

MS. DUFF:  Was really -- I think he is identifying external factors that happened kind of to NextBridge because you were out doing the development phase versus costs that you had just underestimated or didn't anticipate when you were in the competitive designated process.  Is that a lens that perhaps you could address?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  And as the witnesses have been explaining, the difficulty is these things are happening at the same time as NextBridge is following a direction to record and track its costs in a certain fashion, which is by discipline.  Things happen, and NextBridge is carrying on with the work and the tracking of its costs as it has done from the start.  So to now --

MS. LONG:  I understand that, and I understand that's the way they've been tracking and I understand there's a problem.  But at the end of the day --


MR. CASS:  The evidence to give is many different ways of looking at it to the Board as we can without actually having that activity-based costing.  Whether there is anything more that can be done -- if you'll give me a moment, I'll speak with Mr. Murphy.

But yes, we have given how the project developed, that these things came up and had to be addressed through the course of the work on the project where costs were being recorded and tracked in a certain fashion.  Now to try and redo that in a different fashion is -- you've heard the difficulty.

MS. LONG:  I've heard the difficulty.  But I also want to give you the opportunity when we go back and actually -- if we decide that we're going through and doing our own assessment, we will be working with what we have, if it's not set out in a way that's easy for us to review in those two discrete categories.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, we do understand the concern of course.  We're not certain sitting here what we can do.  If it's acceptable to the Board, I would suggest that we take it away and sit down with the accountants and the others and see what we can come up with to address what the Board is raising and what the parties have asked about.

I don't know what can be done, but we can certainly go back and take another stab at it and see if there is a way, even in some of the particular categories if not in every single category, if there is some that we can find a way to help out with.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Garner, does that address your concern somewhat?

MR. GARNER:  Yes.  I mean, like the Board, I'm trying to figure out what those two numbers are, and if the company could help, that would be very useful.

MS. LONG:  I'm very reticent to ask for an undertaking, but if that's the best way we can get this information, then that's the way we're going to do it.  And based on what we get back, we may have to contemplate the ability for people to ask some written questions on it, which will put off the submission schedule.  But I do want to be fair to the people asking the questions, so I don't just want an undertaking filed with people not being able to examine the material that's filed.

So I would ask you to make best efforts to provide a calculation -- I'll let you do the undertaking, but it's in those two discrete areas:  one, the major route change around Pukaskwa Park, and two, the delay of the in-service date.

MR. GARNER:  Correct.  The only thing I would add is there are two, I understand, major route changes.

MS. LONG:  So the second route change...


MR. GARNER:  The second route change may be of value.

MR. MURRAY:  We'll mark that as an exhibit, JD1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JD1.6:  TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE A CALCULATION OF COSTS FOR (1) A MAJOR ROUTE CHANGE AROUND PUKASKWA PARK AND (2) THE DELAY OF THE IN-SERVICE DATE; TO REPORT ON PROGRESS WITHIN THE WEEK


MS. LONG:  If you can let us know, Mr. Cass, your progress on that within the week, I would appreciate that.

MR. CASS:  Yes indeed, Madam Chair.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  The other way I was going to try to tackle the same issue and I'll just ask the question so that depending on what we see, we can maybe be helpful.

I was taking a look at the -- and there beginning at tab 4, but you don't need to bring them up.  But if Ms. Allman would like to, one of the reports at PDF page 21.  These are the quarterly reports you provided to the Board, and I was trying to understand these quarterly reports vis-à-vis the time frame of some of the major adjustments.

Before I ask the first question on the reports, could you tell me for this project, does NextBridge project a forecast going forward on the project as it moves forward?  Do you do quarterly projections saying we're going to be someplace in the next six months, or two months, or three months?  Do you do that kind of budget analysis?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, we do.

MR. GARNER:  And what is your forecast reports on budget?  What's the period you do to forecast ahead normally?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we usually -- we have a cash flow that we do on a quarterly basis, I believe, and so going forward we've done -- so we tracked our budget that way.

MR. GARNER:  Do you on the quarter forecast for the next quarter where you're going to be at the same time as you report the quarter and then forecast into the next quarter?  Is that what you're doing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Are you talking about adjustments as we go?

MR. GARNER:  As a project manager, perhaps you can explain the process.  But what I would think is you're having two things happen.  One is you have your results come in, and then you make a projection for the next period or periods in order to understand where you expect to be in the next period.  Is that how it works?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have our budget on a monthly basis.  Our team leads provide the project management office those financials on a monthly basis.  We do have -- we have a forecast that goes out, so we compare -- there is a variance analysis between what's happened that month and then we will ask why is there a variance analysis, do you see this continuing month over month, et cetera.

MR. GARNER:  How often does the forecast go out generally?  What's the normal forecast out that you're doing?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I was going to say I think we currently have our forecast all the way out until our in-service date of 2020.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  When I look at these quarterly reports of the board and as I recall you saying the timelines are, it is late September when the IESO indicates that there will be a delay in the project.  That's the correct time period?

MS. TIDMARSH:  In 2014, yes.

MR. GARNER:   Right, 2014.  So looking at the 2014 monthly report on September 22nd to the board, which is at page 21 of that PDF, am I looking at the report that you would have just before you understand there is going to be a delay in the project?

MS. TIDMARSH:  If we can scroll up so I can see the title on the top.  Budget cost monthly report, September 22nd.

So yes, this would have been our report, so we would have put in project actuals that would have been on the prior month, for example.  So it would have been the August actuals that are in here.

MR. GARNER:  I heard you this morning, correct me if I'm wrong, saying that prior to that deadline, you were prepared -- NextBridge was prepared to file its application in February 2015 and you were on track to do so, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  For leave to construct and our environmental assessment, yes.

MR. GARNER:  I also heard you say when asked that you couldn't project whether your development costs were going to be on budget for that filing.  But it sounds to me if you have this number of 11,165, you would have had a projection at that time for exactly where you would be coming in six months later, which would roughly be February 2015; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We would have had a budget going forward.  However, as soon as we got the information, that budget made no sense any more.

MR. GARNER:  Fair enough.  I'm sure it didn't.  But I wonder if you could undertake to give us what that forecast was on September 14, or September 22nd when this report was given to the board?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You can actually see the total project estimate, the forecast --


MR. GARNER:  That is your projected?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That forecast there is the number that would go to our leave to construct filing, so it's when we would deem the development period was over.  So you can see our forecast there is on the right.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And I thought, so except I thought earlier you were saying is you weren't sure you were going to be on budget.  That would show you at that point in time, leaving aside the delay, you expected to be in filing your application on budget on the development costs, is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Just a little aside, when you filed these quarterly from the board, did you get any direction response from the board on any of these filings?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.

MR. GARNER:  Any direction to do anything on?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we did not.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I think those are all my questions.  In the interests of time, I think I can move on.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Mr. Warren?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I apologize in advance for the evident incoherence of my cross-examination.  I'm trying to pick up the bits and shards that are left after my colleagues.

At a high level of generality, panel, can we agree that the exercise that we're collectively going through today is to identify the development costs that are in excess of the Board-approved 22.3 or 22.4 million?  That's the first exercise; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, yes, so we're --


MR. WARREN:  And the second part of the exercise, can we agree, is to provide an evidentiary basis upon which the Board can conclude that some or all of those costs were prudently incurred?  Can we agree on that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we agree that, yes, this hearing is to provide evidence that our development costs were prudently incurred.

MR. WARREN:  Now, as I understand your evidence, Ms. Tidmarsh, is that the increase in the development costs in the amount of approximately 13.3 million was driven by two -- was caused -- I want to be precise in the use of language -- it was caused by two principal factors.  One was the route change, of which there were two major components, Pukaskwa Park and the other one; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  There were two major route changes, Dorion and Pukaskwa Park.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So that's one of the causes of the increase in the development cost.  Have I got that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You do.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And if I understand the second principal cause of the increase, it is the extension in the time for the in-service date.  Have I got that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, another cause of the -- another component of the 13.3 is the project delay of 30 months.

MR. WARREN:  With apologies for being vexatious about the precise use of language, I'm trying to understand how it is that the extension caused the increase in cost.  Let me use as an example -- I'm going to turn up your evidence, which is Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, attachment 11, page 1 of 1.  It's included in my friend Mr. Murray's compendium at tab 5.  Can you turn up that?

If I take, for example, the environmental and regulatory approvals, there is an increase, incremental cost there -- have I got this -- of 4.2 million dollars?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's the actual increase of 4.2 million dollars over the development phase.

MR. WARREN:  In what sense did the extension in time cause that increase?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So if I may, to step back, we talk about the increase of the 35 months -- sorry, the 30 months of the project development and the rerouting around Pukaskwa Park and around Dorion.  And so those were two of the causes of the increase in our budget.  And so we've mentioned multiple times -- I'm going to take an undertaking to find a way to start to put by discipline to activity instead.  So for example, the two things that the Board is looking for would be the costs associated with the route changes.

And so we were -- we will go ahead and attempt to try and put those costs -- so for example, this environmental discipline that you discuss, there's pieces in there that go towards the extension, as well as pieces that go in there towards rerouting around the park and Dorion.

MR. WARREN:  I can understand, Ms. Tidmarsh, how it is a route change might cause the need for increased costs with respect to environmental and regulatory approvals, but I'm puzzled as to how an extension of time would drive increases in costs in that category.  Can you help me out with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So I did mention that the route changes as well as the extension of time were two components of the increases in costs.  And so there were other circumstances how we mentioned before with the extra permitting that was needed.  But we spent the 22.4 up until the fall of 2016, and as we managed to that budget.  And so I think where we're getting the confusion here is trying to parse out by activity.

And so there would be other things, other factors, in this increase in budget that are beyond the, as we've itemized in our May 2015, our scope change and our budget variance that are beyond just going around Pukaskwa Park, just going around Dorion and the extra 35 months.

MR. WARREN:  I'm going to try for a third and final time, Ms. Tidmarsh.  Can you help me out how the extension in time would have caused an increase in costs in the category of an environmental and regulatory approvals?  I don't know the answer.  Just tell me.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So over the 30 months of the extension of the period there would be internal costs that were being incurred by employees over those 30 extra months.  There would be costs for those employees to continue to work on consultation and open houses.  They would also be part of that.  Over those 30 months individuals would also be working on -- working with our engineering and construction group on refinements as well over those 30 months.  So there are components in that increased budget of time and effort over the 30 months that environment would have incurred.

MR. WARREN:  Let me make this distinction, Ms. Tidmarsh, and see if you can agree with it, that the extension in time provided an opportunity for you to incur extra development costs, but didn't cause those development costs.  Would you agree with that distinction?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I don't.

MR. WARREN:  Well, let me use as an example, for example, the consultation costs with First Nations and Métis.  Those consultation costs, you took -- am I fair in saying that you took the opportunity provided to you by the additional time to engage in additional consultation with First Nations and Métis?  You did take that opportunity, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We felt it was necessary to continue to consult with the 18 communities over the extended development phase.

MR. WARREN:  But the logic of that, I suggest, is that those additional costs were caused by the extension.  You simply took advantage of the extended time to continue the consultations; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, I don't think that's a fair characterization.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can I deal with the question in this context of the land rights?  Do I understand it that the increase in the land-rights category is 3.8 million dollars?  Have I got that number correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  You do, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And in that category you took advantage of the extended time to have further discussions with landowners and, where possible, enter into agreements with them; is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we did take that extra time from the project delay of the 30 months to have conversations with landowners that would have continued prior to our submitting of our leave to construct if we had done so in January of 2015.  We just continued those efforts over the extended development period.

MR. WARREN:  So the extension of time didn't cause that additional one, you just took advantage of the additional time to have those discussions; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  It just happened to fall in the development period --


MR. WARREN:  Right.

MS. TIDMARSH:  -- before filing of the leave to construct.

MR. WARREN:  If -- and this is -- I know that my friend Mr. Rubenstein has asked this question.  Let me put it again so that I understand it.  The time line was that you were preparing a leave-to-construct application in the fall of 2014 for filing in the early part of 2015, and if you had done that you would have been stuck with development costs that the Board had approved at 22.4 million dollars.  You wouldn't have had an opportunity to make a claim for additional development costs after that date had that transpired.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I don't know why Mr. Warren has come to that conclusion.  I'm not aware of any Board decision that indicated at any time that NextBridge was stuck with a particular amount.

The Board had approved an amount that would not be subject of any further prudence review.  I'm not aware of a Board decision that says if you spend any more than that amount, you're absolutely not going to get it.  I don't know what that's based on.

MR. WARREN:  It's based, Madam Chair, on the assumption that with the leave-to-construct application, they would have entered the construction phase.  But I take Mr. Cass's point.

I want to move to the question of the difference in some of these categories, and I'm going to deal with First Nations and Métis consultation where the increase is 3.7 million dollars, according to this exhibit.

And as I understood your answers, Ms. Tidmarsh, you said you were not in a position based on your experience to, correct me if I'm wrong, precisely or more precisely forecast or budget the First Nations and Métis consultation amount, is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So for clarity, I believe you said there is an incremental amount over 3.75 million, that's incorrect.  The actual incremental amount was 1.5 million.

MR. WARREN:  You're right, I apologize.  I'm reading the wrong column.

So getting back to my question, the difference is that you -- for the increase in the budget is that you had budgeted too little for consultation in the designation proceeding.  Is that correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No.  The reason why those incremental costs for the First Nations and Métis consultation is that we continued to consult and have discussions with the First Nations and Métis communities over the 30 extra months of development period, and so we did not budget to them.

MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you to turn up page 38 of the designation decision?  I think it's included in tab 12 of Mr. Murray's -- sorry, tab 15 of Mr. Murray's compendium and it's page 38 I'm looking for, Ms. Tidmarsh.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Thank you, Stephanie.

MR. WARREN:  I believe it was -- it may have been Mr. Rubenstein who took you to the Board's ranking criteria of clarity and comprehensiveness of the proposed consultation plan, including methodology and schedule, identification of potential significant issues and proposed mitigating measures, and relevant successful past experience.

Under the heading UCT, the Board recited your position as follows.
"UCT provided a comprehensive consultation plan for all project phases pre-designation to operation, a record of actual communication, letters, phone calls, with the 18 affected communities was provided, as well as a list of potential key issues and proposed mitigation.  UCT referenced NextEra's First Nations and Métis relationship policy and Enbridge's Aboriginal and native American policy as the basis for its plan.  UCT described existing relationships with a number of First Nations and Métis communities who would be engaged as part of this project.  UCT also described its relevant past experience with a number of projects involving the engagement, consultation and economic participation of First Nations and Métis communities."


Have I read that correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Seems to be, yes.

MR. WARREN:  The panel was sufficiently impressed that they gave you the top mark of 6 on that, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:   So it would appear you had a detailed plan for the consultation and perhaps participation phase.  And in light of that, I'm wondering why it is this Panel wouldn't say you made a precise and detailed estimate and you're stuck with it.  Why should they give you the additional 1.5 million dollars if you just budgeted badly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we did not budget badly on the project.  As I mentioned, the extra 1.5 million dollars using all the experience that we have with First Nations and Métis communities, we knew it is a critical, critical piece of project development to continue to consult with communities over the extended development period of 30 months, and that ceasing consultation with those communities over the extended development period wasn't appropriate or in the interest of the project itself.

So that is why we continued to have that discussions with communities and incurred the extra 1.5 million dollars.

MR. WARREN:  Let me turn to the subject of the environmental assessment cost, and please correct me if I'm wrong.  The increment over the Board-approved designation cost is 4.8 million dollars; have I got that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Let me turn to my pages.  So at attachment 11 of our evidence that was filed in 2018, you're looking at the environment cost.

MR. WARREN:  I am.

MS. TIDMARSH:  And you’re looking at the column, the actual extended development period of 4.2 million dollars incremental over our budget?

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, again I'm misreading this.  The increment over the Board-approved one is 4.2 or 4.8?

MS. TIDMARSH:  4.2.  So the 4.8 in the column to the left of that is what we had budgeted in 2015 would be incremental to the project, and we actually came in under that amount at 4.2.

MR. WARREN:  As I understand your testimony, please correct me if I'm wrong.  I understand your testimony is that you went to the -- your initial approach to the then MOECC was for a class EA.  You were surprised to learn it was an individual EA was required and that the costs of doing that increase substantially.  Have I understood your testimony correctly on that point?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Our original assumption for transmission lines in Ontario were that class EA would be used and we understood that from previous experience with Hydro One's transmission lines.  They use class environmental assessments, so NextBridge used the same assumption.

MR. WARREN:  I'm advised that the cost and the degree of difficulty for a class EA and an individual EA in these circumstances would be roughly the same.  Do you disagree with that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  I don't have the expertise to determine either one of those.  I actually, from what I understand although I am no environment expert, is that a class EA seems to be a much truncated environmental assessment.  It doesn't include things like indigenous consultation as extensively as an individual environmental assessment.

MR. WARREN:  In that context, I want to return to a theme explored by my friend, Mr. Murray, which is the evidence which the Board has before it or upon which it can decide independently and objectively that the increased costs for the environmental assessment have been prudently incurred.  You've said -- as I understand your evidence, what you've said is that you made a budgeted amount based on your experience elsewhere in North America and based on that, the Board should conclude that these costs have been prudently incurred.  Have I understood your position correctly?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We put together our budget based not only on our experience in North America, but also our experience in Ontario and what we have previously seen happen with transmission projects in the province.

MR. WARREN:  Now, you did indicate that the ministry the -- the then Ministry of the Environment And Climate Change and MNRF had come to you at various points, asking for additional studies and additional work; is that fair?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's fair, yes.

MR. WARREN:  I take it that nowhere in the record do we have those requests from the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change and MNRF, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have actually recorded those requests.  So those requests...


MR. WARREN:  My question was are they on the record?

MS. TIDMARSH:  They are in the OEB reports, the monthly and quarterly OEB reports is where we recorded those.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I take it that you could have, if you wished, for example led evidence from an independent expert that the demands that were made on you by the MNRF 18 the then Ministry of Environment and Climate Change were very unusual in the circumstances and could not have been anticipated.  You could have led that evidence, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Sorry, could you repeat that a different way?

MR. WARREN:  In the context of looking for independent assessment of the prudence of these costs, I'm suggesting to you that you could have led evidence, for example, from an independent expert that the range and nature of the demands that were made on you by the MNRF and the then MOECC were unusual in their scope and character, and on the basis of that evidence the Board could have said, yes, these additional costs are prudent.  You could have led that evidence, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We could have talked to our environmental consulting firm that we've been using and had them discuss -- itemize and say that the things that they've seen that the MNRF and the MOECC had asked from us were above and beyond what they normally had seen.  We could have -- we could have them do that.

MR. WARREN:  But you haven't done that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  We have not as part of this evidence.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

Now, on the issue of the First Nations and Métis consultation, does that category of expenditure include the costs of the Métis and First Nations environmental assessment work, their own environmental assessment work?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so as part of those consultation, the First Nation and Métis consultation would include capacity funding agreements that were provided to the First Nations and Métis communities for them to undertake consult -- take their own analysis of the environmental assessment.

MR. WARREN:  And two questions follow from that.  One is that -- and I apologize if it's there in the mountain of evidence in this case -- do we have -- does the Board have any of those consultation agreements in the record?  Unredacted ones in particular?  Are there any in the record?
 MS. TIDMARSH:  So there's a consultation capacity support, capacity funding agreement I think is what you're looking for, from the Missinabie Cree that we had provided in another hearing.  Is that what you're looking for?

MR. WARREN:  Is that on the record?  I'm just asking you.  I don't recall seeing that in the record, but it could be there in this mountain of material.

MS. TIDMARSH:  I believe we provided it as part of our technical conference, so, yes, it would be part of our record.

MR. WARREN:  And do I take it the costs of the NextBridge environmental assessment work and of the Métis and First Nations environmental assessment work you are claiming recovery of that, you want the ratepayers to pay for that; is that right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So under the course of an environmental assessment, consultation with First Nation and Métis communities is part of that, and so, yes, we would seek recovery for the efforts for not only consulting the environmental assessment but as part of our grander duty to consult that was delegated to us by the Crown.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I have a question if you could turn up your prefiled evidence at Exhibit B, tab 9, schedule 1, page 10.  And I freely confess I may have misunderstood this evidence, but it appears, looking at page 10 of 11, that during the development phase you made a project refinement, including a change in your guyed-Y tangent towers.  Have I got that correctly or have I misunderstood that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's what we're looking at, correct.

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And was there a cost, Mr. Mayers, for that change which is included in what you're seeking to recover in the development costs?

MR. MAYERS:  Costs related to what?

MR. WARREN:  This change in the guyed-Y tangent towers?
 MR. MAYERS:  It is --


MR. WARREN:  Work -- sorry?

MR. MAYERS:  It is a part of our overall transmission construction cost, yes.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that ultimately a tower is part of the construction cost.  The heading of this evidence is development phase project refinements, and I'm wondering if the work related to this guyed-Y tangent tower refinement is included in the development cost for which you're seeking recovery today?

MR. MAYERS:  Yes, it was.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Can you put a number on that?  Or is that impossible?

MR. MAYERS:  Well, I don't think it's necessary, because we had a family of structures that we had planned on designing, and those ten structures, we had self-supporting structures and we had guyed-Y structures.  At the end of the day we studied all ten of those because we knew that throughout the project there were going to be opportunities for each of those structures to be put at various locations.  So there was really no change in the design aspect or the tower testing requirement.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, then I'm puzzled.  What does it mean that there was a development phase project refinement related to these towers?  Was there a refinement in your original plan or not?

MR. MAYERS:  No.

MR. BROTT:  So I think this is referring to, is that we identified more design constraints in the development phase, but those costs wouldn't be reflected until the construction phase.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Thank you.

Panel, before I leave you -- and I apologize to this panel in advance, because this is way off the topic, but just a matter of curiosity to me.  Will there be an impact on your construction costs as a result of Mr. Trump's tariffs or the retaliatory tariffs imposed by the Canadian government?  Because I did read in your evidence that a substantial amount of your aluminum and/or steel is going to come sourced to the United States.  Are those tariffs going to have an impact on costs?

MR. MAYERS:  They potentially could.  I mean, potentially.  We are working on our tower -- with our tower vendors right now.  And it's very possible that the tower vendor that's chosen will come from overseas.  So if that's the case then the tariff impact would not be shown in this particular case.

As far as the conductor, we have not bid on the conductor yet.  We're about to do that, and a determination will be made at that time whether or not we purchase from inside the States or abroad.

MR. WARREN:  Is the steel that's necessary for the towers available from an external source -- sorry, external to the United States?

MR. MAYERS:  It is.

MR. WARREN:  Do you have any idea when those costs or when the potential for those increased costs might be known?
 MR. MAYERS:  As far as what the bids, I mean, we're currently working through a bid evaluation at this time.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.
Questions by the Board:


MR. JANIGAN:  Just getting back to the classification of costs, as I understand it, the most important initial qualification whether something is a development cost or construction cost is chronology.  Am I correct on that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So, yes, it's the -- when something is a development cost it's pre the filing of our leave to construct in this case, which -- July 2017, and construction costs are any costs that are incurred post that.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that dividing line, that chronological dividing line perfectly captures in terms of discipline, as you refer to the characterization of where costs go, perfectly captures the correct discipline for development costs and construction costs following that date?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The way we've tracked the costs is those disciplines, while doing development up to leave to construct, that it ends there, and we've captured those costs.  Some of those activities, as we were -- discussed before continue as we go on, and whether we call those development phase or construction phase in a project management continuum, there is still work that needs to be done, but I understand what you're saying.  It's not activity-wise, it's just -- so that development work -- excuse the air quotes -- continues on prior to construction.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Just feeding off that last question
there -- and also, you had discussion with Mr. Buonaguro regarding this development phase.  You don't usually have a development phase, usually it's until you put the shovels in the ground, right?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DUFF:  But you do in this case.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We do in this case, right.

MS. DUFF:  And the date July 31st is critical for defining development cost.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, that's what we call it.

MS. DUFF:  And it's NextBridge decided when to file that leave to construct, correct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Let's say you filed three months before.  Would your development costs be less?

MS. TIDMARSH:  The way we were tracking our budgets, yes, our development costs...


MS. DUFF:  If you filed it six months before, would it be even a smaller amount?

MS. TIDMARSH:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  And if you filed later, your development costs would have been more and your construction costs would have been less --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- potentially, assuming.

MS. TIDMARSH:  Potentially.

MS. DUFF:  There's a few times when you talked about not only the prudence of the expenditure like should it have been spent, but you also got -- you were able to choose when you could spend money.  Do you spend it before you file your leave to construct or after you file your leave to construct; do you not agree?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So yes, we decided to file our leave to construct in July 2017 so that we could have a full year of these types of hearings in front of the OEB so we would hopefully be able to get our approval for our leave to construct in July 2018, so that we could continue with project development to make the 2020 in-service date.

MS. DUFF:  That's anticipating my question.  What were the factors that led to you filing in July 2017 given how critical it is to defining what we're deciding here in this hearing right now?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Our deciding factors to file in July 2017, we had finished our RFP for our general contractor.  So he had a construction cost number at that point in time.  We were ready to -- very shortly on the heels of that, we filed our leave to construct.  And we also filed our leave to construct to allow this OEB process to continue over the course of a year, in hopes we would get our leave to construct in July 2018 so we could move forward to the construction phase.

MS. DUFF:  There's actually two categories of costs I want to talk to you about based on your evidence.  And this all goes back to everything in tab 16, right.  It's the new stuff that you filed in March.

And one of them is land acquisition.  And you can pull it up if you want, it's Exhibit B, tab 16, but I'll read it to you, and it was schedule 1, page 9.

And you're saying:
"In further example in relation to land activities, NextBridge saw the opportunity to gain some benefits from the extension of the development period by prudently taking advantage of additional time available to deal with land acquisition."


And is it -- when I read that, I think, well, if you'd filed earlier, your land acquisition costs or land related costs would have been much smaller and you chose to front-load some of those activities.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So we chose to continue at the pace that we felt was important over the extended 30 months to continue with our land optioning, just exactly as you read, so to decrease the amount of potential expropriations.

MS. DUFF:  There's land optioning.  There's other things involved with lands, I think early access.  I don't know.  I have a binder of like 165 pages of land-related -- you know, landscape, a few trees, unfortunately, but it's just full of land matters and by parcel of land.

Given you haven't filed your leave to construct, are there costs associated with that work that are now considered part of the development phase?  Please answer that.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the materials that you've got are part of the leave to construct, and so those costs to put that work together is part of the development phase.  And so...


MS. DUFF:  Part of your leave-to-construct application?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Part of our leave-to-construct application and part of the development phase.  Yes, it's our leave to construct.

MS. DUFF:  The second category that I was interested in was going back to economic participation, and I'll be blunt.  You had zero in your budget for economic participation, zero when you went to the designation proceeding.

MS. TIDMARSH:  We did.

MS. DUFF:  Did you not consider that a risk?  Did you expect the dollars to be zero?

MS. TIDMARSH:  No, we knew the costs would increase on Aboriginal participation and the costs that we would be incurring.  But we didn't know the scope of what we would be looking at.

MS. DUFF:  So you chose to put zero, with a zero contingency?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Zero on the unbudgeted piece, knowing we would come back to the OEB seeking those costs.

MS. DUFF:  Which is now?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Which is now.

MS. DUFF:  And in proceeding with economic participation, I understand you've entered into -- is it six First Nations agreements and a Métis agreement with Ontario?  How many agreements have you entered into economic participation?

MS. TIDMARSH:  One agreement with the Bamkushwada group that has six First Nations as part of it, and another agreement with the Métis Nation of Ontario that that has three communities as part of that.

MS. DUFF:  So that six plus three.  Is that nine of the eighteen, about half now --


MS. TIDMARSH:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- with signed economic participation agreements?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Those are the communities that as part of our consultations, were interested in signing economic participation agreements with us as we move forward through the development phase.

MS. DUFF:  Why is it appropriate to enter into economic particles during development, rather than a leave-to-construct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  As part of the long-term energy plan that the Ministry of Energy put out in 2013 asking for -- calling on any new transmission lines to have Aboriginal participation.  So it's important for communities -- it's a very long runway, as I mentioned, since we've been having these discussions with both Bamkushwada and the MNO since 2013, and we've recently just signed our agreement with the MNO.

I a project management spectrum, instead of parsing out pre-development and post-development phase, we think it's important to have them before the construction -- before the construction of the project begins.

MS. DUFF:  What does consulting the economic -- I mean the consulting that you did versus participation, what does each provide you in terms of an outcome that this Board could look towards?  So when you were the designated transmitter and you were designated to proceed with a development phase, I see the consultation as part of that.

I'm asking -- I'm having a problem identifying how the economic participation also belongs in the development phase, because it then defines you as one of the parties.

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the parts of economic participation for Aboriginal, not only is it part of equity for example on the project, but also part of defining contracting opportunities, employment and training, there's a lot more other portions that go into Aboriginal participation, and all those need to be figured out before we begin the construction phase so that we can ensure that we include Indigenous communities as part of our construction of the line.

MS. DUFF:  And the lead time is such that it was prudent for you to undertake that work prior to filing your leave to construct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, definitely.  We've had to train about 300 people, so we've had to set up programs with Confederation College.  We had to do -- in talking to the communities, we do assessments to find out what type of contracting opportunities they have.

In some cases, they actually go into joint venture arrangements with some contracting -- with some other vendors.  So the lead time that they would need to do all that work prior to construction is important.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  If ultimately you are not chosen to be the successful candidate for construction, and you've entered into these agreements and you've entered into training, is it your view that those are still prudently incurred costs if they're not transferable?  Maybe the training would be transferable, but the participation agreements would not be.  You're asking this Board to make a finding those are still prudent costs?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Of the work we did in participation and entering -- doing the negotiations for those agreements, yes, they were prudently spent as part of the project and as part of -- and to ensure that Indigenous communities were part of new transmissions, part of a long-term energy plan.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Cass, any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  First, just following up on some of the questions from the Board Panel, there were questions about how spending would potentially land before your leave-to-construct application and become part of development costs or land after your leave-to-construct application.  Can you discuss how you brought consideration of prudence into looking at where you would spend costs in relation to your leave-to-construct application?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So the costs that we incurred prior to our leave-to-construct application were costs that were needed, one, for the environmental assessment, that we needed to ensure that we could get our environmental assessment approved in time to meet a 2020 in-service date from our Order-in-Council.  And so when we do our scheduling, we backed up our date of when we needed to start construction in order to meet 2020, we backed up the date from when we needed our environmental assessment and our leave-to-construct application.  And so we spent those costs prior to that to ensure that we would meet schedule.

MR. CASS:  And is that -- did you take a similar approach to other cost categories in deciding post leave to construct as opposed to prior to leave to construct?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so all those other costs, all cost categories drive towards meeting the 2020 in-service date, and all cost categories go to support the environmental -- in the development phase go to support the leave to construct and the environmental assessment.

MR. CASS:  And just in relation to the question about budgeting for First Nations and Métis participation costs at the time of the designation proceeding, why did NextBridge not budget for that?

MS. TIDMARSH:  So NextBridge didn't budget for our First Nations and Métis participation.  We outlined that as part of our designation.  It was in our designation application that we would not be budgeting for First Nations and Métis participation until we had actually had conversations and consulted with those 18 communities to determine the extent of participation costs and what communities were looking for.

MR. CASS:  Just a couple of other things.  Mr. Rubenstein during his questions, you may recall, asked you specifically about a dollar amount, something over 900,000 dollars, in relation to your work to redo the schedule, the budget, your project execution strategy, and so on, and he asked, how do we know that amount is prudent, and similarly I think Mr. Murray had a lot of questions, he'd take an individual category of costs, and he'd say, how do we know that amount is prudent?

What can you tell the Board about controls and management, whatever things you would have done to ensure that the costs you were spending were prudent?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yeah, I mean, we've -- in our evidence you can see as part of JT1.10 we start talking about some of our cost management -- our cost-management techniques and the things that we use in not only NextEra but in Enbridge, so our partner organizations.  So for example, we have an extensive procurement process which requires RFPs, bidding, cost management to those RFPs, to those purchase orders, we go through that, and those go to the project director office from the team leads who manage those individually.

We also report all of our budget on a monthly basis not only to our board of directors, but also it goes into our OEB reports as well.  And so those numbers are pulled from our system, and we have conversations and consultations with our team leads in order to ensure that those numbers are accurate, and then those -- any variances, we have those discussions and try to mitigate those on a month-by-month basis, and they're approved and then submitted.

MR. CASS:  When Mr. Murray was asking you these questions about prudence of specific cost areas he was asking you to take him to the evidence.  Is there evidence about the things that you've just been talking about now, the cost controls, the variance analysis, and so on?

MS. TIDMARSH:  Yes, so that would be part of JT10.  There are also other -- if you excuse my papers -- it's been a long day -- my paper shuffling here for a moment.

So any of our cost-control measures, cross (sic) management control measures, are -- would be found in JT10.  We have additional details in interrogatory Staff 23.  We also have information in our additional evidence, March 14th, our evidence, Exhibit B, tab 16, schedule 1, pages 7 to 11.  So we have all of our cost-management information in there as well.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions in re-examination, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Cass, and thank you, witnesses, for your testimony today.
Procedural Matters:


The only other issue I think we have to deal with is scheduling, and I think what we should do is wait to hear back from you with respect to that undertaking and determine whether any next steps -- we need any further process once we see that and then we will arrange a schedule for written submissions thereafter and we'll be looking at a somewhat tighter time frame, I would think ten days, ten days, ten days.  Hopefully parties can accommodate that in the schedule.

So we will look forward to hearing from you, Mr. Cass, within the next week.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  We're adjourned.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:25 p.m.
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